

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

Collaboration and Collective Inquiry Goals in an Elementary School Professional Learning Community

Susan Lazor Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Education Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Susan Lazor

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Mary Howe, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Deborah Focarile, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Karen Hunt, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2019

Abstract

Collaboration and Collective Inquiry Goals in an Elementary School Professional

Learning Community

by

Susan Lazor

EDS, Walden University, 2013 MA, Walden University, 2004

BAS, Regis University, 1997

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2019

Abstract

K-12 schools in the United States face challenges to close the achievement gap, improve student learning and teacher instruction, and increase students' and educators' accountability. A professional learning community (PLC) was implemented to improve instruction and student learning at a K-5 elementary school located in the Western region of the United States. A bounded qualitative case study was used to conduct a modified formative objectives-oriented program evaluation to determine whether the collaboration and collective inquiry goals were met. This study was guided by DuFour's PLC framework. Research questions focused on how PLC team members developed and maintained the PLC goals to improve student achievement. Data were collected using document review and semistructured interviews from 10 teachers, 1 learning coach, and 2 administrators who participated in the PLC implementation for the 2015/16 school year. Thematic analysis using a priori, open, and axial codes were used to analyze the data and were related to the conceptual framework. Findings indicated that PLC teams used collaborative conversations/reflective dialogue to research and share strategies and used data-driven decisions to improve instruction and improve student achievement. PLC teams need to establish and monitor team goals and use vertical and horizontal planning. The project deliverable was a program evaluation report that provided recommendations to improve the PLC goals. Positive social change could occur if PLC teams partner with all teams, reflect on teaching practices, and use student data to improve teacher and student learning to close the achievement gap among students.

Collaboration and Collective Inquiry Goals in an Elementary School Professional

Learning Community

by

Susan Lazor

EDS, Walden University, 2013 MA, Walden University, 2004 BAS, Regis University, 1997

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2019

Dedication

I dedicate this work to my parents, children, grandchildren, and friends who have offered their unconditioal love and support throughtout this journey. I also dedicate this to my friend Jeff who encouraged me to reach for the stars and chase my dreams. I will always be forever grateful to each and everyone of you. This could not have been possible without your support.

Acknowledgments

Throughout the years on this amazing, incredibly hard and challenging adventure, I could have never done this without all of your support and love. My father, Ray, has always inspired me to be the best that I can be, never give up, and has inspired me through his motivation, determination, and love of life. Thank you for being there for me, through this journey and all of the obstacles life has presented. My mother, Karon who is an amazing mother. Thank you for always understanding the words, "I have to work on my paper."

I am so thankful for the support from my children and grandchilden. Thank you for keeping me motivated and understanding the work that was required to complete this degree. I am grateful and blessed to have such an amazing family.

I want to thank a special person in my life, Jeff, who has supported and encouraged me unconditionally throughout this journey. Thank you for understanding and supporting me. You are my inspiration.

I want to thank all of my professors and dissertation committee members at Walden University. Dr. Howe has been an incredible support to me throughout this journey. I could have never gotten this far without her support. Thank you for teaching me to pay attention to details, and supporting me through all of my revisions.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	V
Section 1: The Problem	1
Introduction	1
Background of Problem	3
Definition of the Problem	7
Rationale	8
Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level	9
Evidence of the Problem from the Professional Literature	
Definitions	14
Significance	15
Guiding Questions	16
Review of the Literature	16
Conceptual Framework	17
DuFour and Eaker Professional Learning Community Model.	
Formative Objectives-Oriented Program Evaluation Model	
Critical Review of the Literature	
Academic Achievement	
Effect on Student Learning	27
Federal Policies	
Professional Development That Affects Teacher Performance	

Professional Development Types	39
Use of PLCs for Professional Development	
Ensuring that Students Learn	
Collaboration	
PLC Implementation Outcomes	54
Section 2: The Methodology	57
Introduction	57
Research Questions	58
Rationale for Research Design	58
Program Evaluation Model	59
Methods of Establishing a Researcher-Participant Relationship	
Protection of Human Subjects	
Interview Procedures	
Document Analysis	
Interview Data Analysis	
Discrepant or Nonconforming Cases	75
Documents	
Interviews	
Identifying Gaps in Student Learning and Achievement	96
Adjust Instructional Practices	
Summary of Findings	107

Section 3: The Project	115
Introduction	115
Description and Goals	
Rationale	116
Review of the Literature	117
Project Description	
Implications Including Social Change	
Local Community	
Far-Reaching	
Conclusion	
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	
Introduction	
Project Strengths	
Scholarship	
Leadership and Change	130
Analysis of Self as Scholar	131
Analysis of Self as Practitioner	
Analysis of Self as Project Developer	
The Project's Potential Impact on Social Change	
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	134
Conclusion	

References	136
Appendix A: Executive Summary	153
A Program Evaluation	153
Appendix B: Interview Protocol Teachers	175
Appendix C: Interview Protocol Learning Coach	180
Appendix D: Interview Protocol Administration	184
Appendix E: Document Review	188
Appendix F: Collaboration Axial Codes	195
Appendix G: Collective Inquiry Codes	196
Appendix H: Collective Inquiry Axial Codes	197

List of Tables

Table 1. State Assessment Growth Results Based on PARCC Scores	5
Table 2. State Assessment Results	11
Table 3. A Priori Coding Example for collaboration and Collective Inquiry	79
Table 4. Open Coding Example for Collaboration and Collective Inquiry	80
Table 5. Axial Coding Example for Collaboration and Collective Inquiry	81
Table 6. A Priori Coding Example for Collaboration and Collective Inquiry	83
Table 7. Open Coding Example for Collective Inquiry and Collaboration	84
Table 8. Axial Coding Example for Collective Inquiry and Collaboration	86
Table 9. Themes	88

Section 1: The Problem

Introduction

K-12 educators in the United States face many challenges to close the student achievement gap, increase student achievement, and improve teacher and school accountability. Stakeholders, including government officials, administrators, and school board members, expect educators to develop more effective pedagogical strategies and focus on student learning to reach these goals. To add to these challenges, educators are charged with helping all students close the achievement gap regardless of their students' socioeconomic status, diversity, or demographics. These challenges can become complicated if teachers experience problems analyzing the curriculum and student data to identify gaps in student learning (Stewart, 2014). Consequently, teachers may struggle with identifying acceleration and remediation strategies to help students increase academic achievement. Another issue that teachers face is the opportunity to engage in effective collaboration among educators needed for reflective dialogues based on trust (Ho, Lee, & Teng, 2016). These collaborative, reflective dialogues are focused on educators' instruction and assessment of student knowledge and student learning. Teachers rarely engage in meaningful or learning conversations (reflective dialogues) necessary to improve academic instruction and increase achievement (Makopoulou & Armour, 2014). The researchers found that critical conversations were uncommon, and teachers need additional training to challenge teachers to engage and learn from reflective dialogue.

A focus on school and teacher accountability represents yet another dimension of challenges teachers face and the changes now occurring in many schools across the United States. The state standardized tests administered in the spring of every school year measure school and teacher accountability at the research site. Intensified teacher accountability has resulted in improved educator evaluation procedures that ensure that teachers who remain in the classroom provide evidence of their continued effectiveness (Woodland & Mazur, 2015). If students perform well on these measurements, teachers are considered effective in the classroom. In contrast, if students perform poorly, teachers' performance is brought into question. If student achievement does not improve based on test scores, then schools are at risk of being put on remediation or improvement plans, and eventually taken over by the state. One recommendation is for educators to transform their teaching practices that focus on assessment, learning, and student needs that may result in improving student academic achievement and teacher accountability. This goal may be achieved through adopting and implementing a professional learning community (PLC).

PLCs like many educational reforms are designed to change the classroom environment. The infrastructure to create supportive cultures and conditions necessary to improve teaching and learning requires intention, collegiality, commitment, and a focus on learning (Nelson et al., 2013). Additionally, the PLC is a staff development strategy used to improve student achievement by strengthening the quality of teaching (Watson, 2014) through research based effective instructional practices (Lipka & Siegel, 2012). Central to PLCs, teachers engage in collaborative, reflective, inclusive learning to improve teacher effectiveness as professionals. As mentioned earlier PLCs are designed for teacher and student success by creating (Kalkan, 2016) and sustaining a collaborative culture focused on improving student learning (Jones & Thessin, 2015). This goal is achieved by ongoing professional development, and high-quality teaching that are linked to increasing student achievement (Owen, 2014). In a PLC, priority is focused on teacher practice, collaborative decision making, and teacher learning (Kalkan, 2016). School leaders focus their efforts on assessment, both teacher and student learning, and teacher and student success by creating and sustaining a culture of learning (Thornton & Cherrington, 2014).

Despite the implementation of PLCs and many other school improvement initiatives, their effectiveness in meeting their goals is often left unevaluated (Wells & Feun, 2013). PLCs are implemented to create opportunities for effective professional development and teaching (Woodland & Mazur, 2015) by the intentional work of teachers to improve instruction and student achievement (Wennergren, 2016). If PLCs are not evaluated, then schools may not close the achievement gap among students, increase student achievement, or improve teacher and school accountability.

Background of Problem

Implementation of a PLC at a K-5 elementary school located in the Western region of the United States was designed to address poor student performance, and close the achievement gap based among the low socioeconomic status students. The PLC model was implemented at the target school beginning in September 2015 for the academic year 2015/2016. Teachers were responsible for collaborating in grade level teams to address evidence of learning using collective inquiry. They used collective inquiry in weekly meetings to examine data and create common assessments to determine how students were meeting state and classroom objectives. These assessments were designed to measure outcomes of learning, and teachers brought the class performance data to the team meetings for collaborative discussions. Teachers discussed what students knew, how they knew students had learned the content, how to collaboratively plan if students did not know the information, and what to do if they already mastered the information.

The school in question is characterized by a high student mobility rate and low socioeconomic status, with 94% of students qualifying for the free and reduced rate lunch program (Colorado Springs School, 2016). The students with low socioeconomic status (SES) continue to fall behind their peers, which indicates that the achievement gap is increasing (Colorado State Department of Education, 2017). This poor academic performance of low SES students is evident from 2015- 2017 data. Growth scores provide a view of performance. School growth rates are calculated yearly by comparing their Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for College and Careers (PARCC) scores in reading and mathematics. PARCC scores measure how students are performing and meeting grade level expectations. Students receive a numerical score ranging from 650-850 and a performance level of 1-5 used to indicate student achievement, areas of improvement, and how well they are achieving state standards. Additionally, these levels are used to identify what students should demonstrate at each level. The five levels are: Level 1: Did not meet expectations, Level 2: Partially met expectations, Level 3:

Approached expectations, Level 4: Met expectations, Level 5: Exceeded expectations (Colorado Department of Education, 2018). The growth model identifies the percentage of students who are meeting the achievement levels, and those who are not making adequeate gains. Table 1 represents the growth scores for students classified as free and reduced lunch. The Grade 4 and 5 growth rate for the 2015/2016 academic year in English Language Arts was 42% and the state average was 47%. The Grade 4 and 5 growth rate in mathematics was 58% and exceeded the state average of 54%. The English language arts growth rates for the academic year 2016/2017 was 33% and the state average was 47%. The mathematics growth rate for the academic year 2016/2017 was 46% and the state average was 46%.

Table 1

State Assessment Growth Results Based on PARCC Scores

	Free and	2016	Free and	2017
	Reduced	PARCC	Reduced	PARCC
	Lunch	Results	Lunch	Results
2016 English Language Arts	42%	47%	33%	47%
2016 Mathematics	58%	54%	46%	46%

The goals of the PLC at the research site is to focus on collaboration and collective inquiy. The indicators in meeting these goals include clarifying essential learning outcomes, common formative assessments, establishing and monitoring progress

on team goals, innovative responsibility, and results orientation. In an examination of agenda and board meeting minutes over the 2015 and 2016 school year, there is no evidence that this PLC has been evaluated to determine whether these goals have been met (CSSD11.org). Based on the evidence to date, the PLC goals regarding collaboration and collective inquiry have not been evaluated (CSSD11.org, 2016) and will be the focus of this study. The remaining goals, although important and critical to the research site, will not be a part of this program evaluation, because collaboration and collective inquiry are foundational to the rest of the school's goals.

The local site adopted the goals for the PLC based on DuFour's PLC model. Professional learning communities are "the ongoing process in which educators work collaboratively in recurring cycles of collective inquiry and action research to achieve better results for the students they serve" (DuFour, DuFour, Eaker & Many, 2006, p.111). Administrators focused their attention on ensuring that students are not only taught but learn. The expectation is that the collaborative effort will produce ongoing student achievement and teacher learning and are evidenced in the following district goals:

District Goal 1: Meet in meaningful teams (collaboration) to improve professional practice.

District Goal 2: Analyze and respond to data (collective inquiry)

The purpose of this evaluation is to determine how K-5 teachers use collaboration and collective inquiry to close the achievement gap among subgroups of children and improve student achievment. Evaluating the PLC goals (collaboration and collective inquiry) may provide pertinent data for stakeholders to determine the success of this inititative. Additionally, the program evaluation data may identify strengths and weaknesses of these two goals. This program evaluation is formative in nature due to the recent adoption and implementation of this educational initiative.

The remainder of Section 1 of this study includes a statement of the problem, the purpose, significance of the study, a review of the major background literature, research questions, and an outline of the conceptual framework. Section 2 presents a discussion of research methodology and ethical considerations.

Definition of the Problem

In an effort to address low student achievement, K-5 local school leaders adopted and implemented a PLC to improve instruction. Many such interventions are never evaluated for their effectiveness on meeting the program's goals (Wells & Feun, 2013), which represents a gap in practice. Evaluating programs is critical to ensure that teaching practices support high-level educational outcomes for students (Owen, 2014). Improving instruction and ensuring teaching practices and educational outcomes are effective strategies when increasing teacher quality and improving academic achievement (Battersby & Verdi, 2015). When teachers demonstrate high levels of effective collaboration and collegial responsibility, teaching practices improve and student achievement increases (Hilliard & Newsome, 2013). Responding to this need, when PLCs are evaluated, progress toward closing the achievement gap, improving student achievement, and improving accountability may be achieved.

Students in Grades 3-5 still perform below state expectations despite implementation of the PLC since September 2015. Using a PLC to increase student

achievement and close the achievement gap has not produced the outcomes desired by school leaders. There is a need for formative evaluation of collaboration and collective inquiry because students continue to fail to meet grade-level state expectations.

Rationale

Educators and school leaders are challenged with increasing achievement and closing the achievement gap for all students (Woodland & Mazur, 2015). Many schools have implemented the PLC to meet these challenges by improving teaching pedagogies and increasing student achievement (Poskitt, 2014). In the 2015/1016 school year, a PLC was adopted and implemented at the target site to achieve these outcomes. The school was placed on a unified improvement plan (UIP) to address the problems of students performing below the 50th percentile and decreasing scores in reading, writing, and mathematics at the elementary level. These scores indicate mounting growth gaps in these subject areas. In addition, there are increasing numbers of students with severe reading deficiencies (SRD) identified by the teachers, the learning coach, and administration at the local school (CSSD11.org). Two goals of the PLC, teacher collaboration and collective inquiry, were selected to assist teachers in choosing strategies to improve instruction for all students, including high-mobility students and/or low SES. To date the goals of this PLC have not been evaluated to determine whether they are effective.

Merriam (2009) stated that the goal of program evaluation is to increase understanding and gain insight into the worth or efficacy of a program. Despite the implementation of PLCs and other school improvement initiatives, many are never evaluated for effectiveness. Formative program evaluation may provide insights into implementing and interpreting the outcomes of collaboration and collective inquiry, and the sustainability of a given PLC implemented in a local school district. This standard contains evidence that a problem exists with the implementation of a PLC at the local level and in the wider education profession.

Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level

In an effort to improve teacher and student learning a professional development program based on the PLC model was implemented at the target school in September 2015 for the academic year 2015/2016. However, its effectiveness has not yet been evaluated, a lack which represents a gap in practice (Colorado Springs School District, 2016). The selected site for this doctoral study is performing below state-level expectations in reading, writing, mathematics, and social studies (Colorado State Department of Education, 2016). In the spring, the PARCC test is administered to students in mathematics and language arts for Grades 3 through 5 (Parce, 2014). Additionally, students in Grade 4 are administered the social studies assessment, and Grade 5 students are administered the science assessment every three years. For two years, students at the research site scored below the state average in social studies, language arts, mathematics, and science as presented in Table 2. The trends for Grade 3 students' language arts scores for the 2015/2016 academic years were 15.1% and 15.7% respectively; however, a decrease was noted for 2017 (8%). The trend for Grade 3 students' mathematics scores showed an increase in 2016 (19.6%) from 13.2% in 2015 but a decrease in 2017 to 10.4%. The trends for Grade 4 students' language arts scores

for the 2015/2016 academic years were 11.3%, 14.5%, and showed an increase in 2017 to 18.2%. The mathematics scores for 2015/2016 were 5.8% and 7.3%. The scores increased to 18.2% in the 2017 school year. Grade 4 students continue to score below the state results in all three years. The trends for Grade 5 students' English/language arts scores for the 2015 academic year was 17.4% and decreased to 10.0% in 2016. In the 2017 academic year the score increased to 17.7%. The fifth grade students still score below the state avearage of 46.3%. The fifth grade mathematics scores for the 2015 academic year was 6.7%, increased to 16.3% in 2017, and decreased to 12.9% in 2017. The fifth grade students scored below the state average in all three years. The fifth grade students were not tested in 2016. In 2017, the scores decreased to 8.2%. The fifth grade students still performed below the state average in all three academic years.

Table 2

State Assessment Results

	2015	State	2016	State	2017	State
	PARCC	PARCC	PARCC	PARCC	PARCC	PARCC
	Results	Results	Results	Results	Results	Results
3 rd English Language	15.1%	38.2%	15.7%	37.4%	8%	40.1%
Arts						
3 rd Mathematics	13.2%	36.7%	19.6%	38.9%	10.4%	40.0 %
4 th English Language	11.3%	41.7%	14.5%	43.9%	18.2 %	44.1%
Arts						
4 th Mathematics	5.8%	30.2%	7.3%	33.3%	19.7%	34.0%
5 th English Language	17.4%	40.5%	10.0%	41.2%	17.7%	46.3%
Arts						
5 th Mathematics	6.7%	30.1%	16.3%	34.3%	12.9 %	33.6%
5 th Grade Science	10.4%	34.8%	n/a	n/a	8.2%	34.9%

Evidence of the Problem from the Professional Literature

An effective form of professional development is the PLC as along as this form of professionment development is implemented with fidelity and includes the following characteristics: supportive and shared leadership, shared values and vision, collective learning and application, shared personal practice, and supportive conditions (Jones, Stall, & Yarbrough, 2013). PLCs can make a difference in professional learning, collaboration, decision making, and practices that may lead to higher rates of student achievement (Liou & Daly, 2014). Professional learning in schools occurs when colleagues interact to share and review assessment data, participate and apply professional learning, and plan curriculum to improve their teaching and learning (Hoaglund, Birkenfeld, & Box, 2014). Educators develop, analyze, and improve instruction through collaborative discussions that focus on identifying the strenghts, weaknesses, and gaps in student achievement gaps. A PLC can be deemed successful if teachers select their professional learning objectives and participate in collaborative discussions (Stewart, 2014). When teachers are given autonomy to select their professional learning goals, they are more inclined to make choices that produce the educational outcomes that align with the school's learner outcomes.

School teams may encounter problems when trying to implement the PLC with fidelity. First, teachers need time to regularly collaborate. Collaboration is used to provide teachers with opportunities to work together to expand their expertise, discuss challenges, and actively learn about their practices with their colleagues (Kelly & Cherkowski, 2015). Additionally, teachers use collaboration to review timely and relevant data, plan appropriate curriculum, and learn strategies and teaching techniques to improve student learning (Farley-Ripple & Buttram, 2014). Second, teachers review student achievement data from district, state, and classroom assessments to determine their effectiveness on teaching (Christiansen & Robey, 2015). Once teachers review student data, they are expected to select and plan instruction to assist student learning. Teachers struggle with identifying research based practices, analyzing student data, and collaborative conversations centered on students and improving instruction (Owen, 2014). Teachers who are involved in collaborative conversations about instructional strategies and data increase the likelihood that their efforts will improve student achievement (Woodland & Mazur, 2015). As a result of collaborative conversations, teachers design instruction that focused on the individual needs of all students, discover which students needed extra support, and discuss instructional strategies.

The key to implementing a successful PLC is the commitment of school leaders to integrate collaboration, deprivatization of practice, and classroom based assessments into professional development at their schools (Woodland & Mazur, 2015). Deprivatization of practice is another term for "teacher talk" through engaging in solving problems of practice, accessing knowledgeable resources, and observing other teachers to improve academic achievement (Woodland & Mazur, 2015). It is critical for all stakeholders involved in a PLC initiative to understand that commitment is not the sole responsibilility of school leaders. Only when the above happens, does a PLC have the potential to improve collaboration, instruction, and improve student achievement (Farley-Ripple & Buttram, 2014).

The purpose of this formative program evaluation was to evaluate the PLC goals of collaboration and collective inquiry in a K-5 low performing Title I school. Merriam (2009) stated that the goal of program evaluation is to increase understanding and gain insight on the worth or process of the program. To reiterate since the implementation of the PLC at the research site, student achievement has not improved.

Definitions

Collective inquiry: The process by which teachers build shared knowledge, learn together, and offer feedback to improve their respective teaching practice (Liou & Daly, 2014).

Common formative assessment: A collaboratively designed testing process used to identify students who need additional support (Caskey & Carpenter, 2012).

Teacher collaboration: A systemic process whereby teachers frequently meet to share ideas, defend a position, achieve consensus, apply knowledge to common goals, give and accept feedback, and learn to improve student learning (Morel, 2014).

Planning time: A regularly scheduled time when teachers meet to discuss planning and goals, monitor progress, and give each other feedback (Caskey & Carpenter, 2012).

Professional learning Committee meeting: Grade level teams meet weekly to collaborate, monitor student learning, and develop common formative assessments (Prytula, 2012).

Professional learning committee team: Collaborative grade level teams that meet regulary to develop common formative assessments, analyze achievement, and share strategies and create lessons to improve student achievement (Hilliard & Newsome, 2013).

Professional learning community (PLC): A group of teachers working together to solve problems, achieve goals, and collaborate for a common purpose (Prytula, 2012).

Vertical and horizontal teams: Teachers work collaboratively with teachers above and below their grade levels to improve student achievement (DuFour & Marzano, 2011).

Significance

For this formative program evaluation, I provided information about the program's implementation and potential success for the program designers and school stakeholders adopting the PLC model. Principals, learning coaches, and teachers where PLCs feature collaboration, and collective responsibilities and the potential influence on teacher and student learning will benefit from this study. The PLC contains information on the changing roles of educators, school culture, classroom environment, vision, organizational learning, and focuses on student achievement. Researchers use formative program evaluations to make decisions about the program, examine barriers, and provide feedback for implementation (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011). This formative evaluation determined how this school's PLC achieved its student achievement goals to date and what improvements need to be implemented. Students will benefit from the study by understanding how they are performing and what they can do to improve their learning. Additionally, students will benefit from instruction that is designed to meet their individual needs.

If a PLC is successful, the implications for positive social change include recommendations for further teacher collaboration, a sense of community, and instructional improvement resulting in student learning gains. In contrast, recommendations may be warranted if weaknesses are identified regarding how collaboration and/or collective inquiry are executed. Long-term benefits of the evaluation may include a transformation in the way teachers collaborate and increase collective inquiry. The results will help administrators prioritize goals and resources to support teacher and student learning.

Guiding Questions

The following questions were created to evaluate teacher collaboration and collective inquiry in the PLC at the local urban elementary school. The responses to these questions were designed to provide decision-makers and key stakeholders information that is both essential and useful for program improvement (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011).

RQ1: How do PLC team members develop and maintain collaboration to close the achievement gap and improve student achievment?

RQ2: How do PLC team members use collective inquiry to improve student performance?

Review of the Literature

The purpose of this section was to present a review of the literature on implementing PLCs, evaluating PLCs, the study's theoretical framework, collaboration, collective inquiry, professional development, and transformation effects of the PLC model on teaching practice and student learning. The literature review for this project study also includes information on using the conceptual framework to guide the study and PLC's use of collaboration and collective inquiry to address the achievement gap among student groups. An iterative process was conducted retrieving articles and studies from ERIC, ProQuest Central, Google Scholar, and Sage. Also, for the search for literature related to PLCs, a search was completed for student achievement, federal policies, and professional learning. Keywords included *student achievement, policies, professional learning, collective inquiry, assessment, school culture, and professional development.*

Conceptual Framework

I used DuFour's model (1998) to inform this program evaluation for the PLC that the school district has adopted. School leaders use this framework to change their school cultures and build capacity for implementing and sustaining the PLC (Makopoulou & Armour, 2014). If this PLC model is adopted as the foundation for a PLC, teachers are expected to share expertise, collaborate, and learn together to improve their teaching skills as well as the academic performance of students (DuFour & Marzano, 2011). Through the PLC, educators can improve teaching and participation in professional development and improve student achievement through collaborative practices that provide instructional support (Riveros, Newton, & Burgess, 2012). Additionally, PLCs can be used by school leaders to create the opportunity for teachers to come together to identify student needs, improve teacher and leader knowledge, and create and understand common practices that can influence and improve instruction in the classroom (Thessin, 2015). Teachers identify instructional challenges they face and the changes needed to improve their teaching and expand their pedagogical knowledge through focusing on their learning instead of teaching. In a PLC, teachers address their assumptions and individual beliefs, and continue alternative teaching practices focused on student

achievement to facilitate change (Attard, 2012). Teachers target areas of improvement and monitor the results on a continual basis by examining, reflecting, and adapting on their teaching practices to deliver top education for all students.

Although the PLC is a professional development model, many school districts that have adopted it have not evaluated the program. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the PLC goals of collaboration and collective inquiry in a K-5 low-performing Title I school to improve the quality of teaching and student learning. Evaluating the PLC's goals (collaboration and collective inquiry) provided pertinent data for stakeholders to ascertain the success of this inititative. The interview questions and team meeting documents for participants were used to gain information on whether the goals and objectives of collective inquiry and collaboration were met.

DuFour and Eaker Professional Learning Community Model.

DuFour and Eaker (2006) identified the PLC as a model with which schools can build high-performing collaborative teams that focus on transforming instruction and improving student learning. The foundation of the PLC supports the mission, vision, values, and goals of a given organization (DuFour, DuFour, Loertscher, & Many, 2010). Educators collaboratively identify the school's mission, consider relevant questions, and reach a consensus on why the organization exists and what it hopes to become (Richmond & Manokore, 2014). Teachers, administrators, and leaders make collective commitments to support the vision, articulate, and clarify the purpose of the organization to move the school forward (Kohler-Evans, Webster-Smith, & Albritton, 2013). Goals of an organization are used by school leaders to determine targets and timelines that provide a measure of the attainability of the improvement initiative and allow individuals to assess whether they are making a difference and meeting their desired outcomes on time (Jones, Stoll, & Yarbrough, 2013). According to DuFour et al. (2010), school administrators must engage staff members in communication and create congruency between what they say and do.

The research site's mission, vision, values, and goals align with the PLC model. Individual grade level teams receive encouragement from principals and learning coaches to develop grade level missions to support the school's mission (Van Lare & Brazer, 2013). The teams develop goals for potential strategies, current programs, and procedures contained in and aligned with the vision of the school and what the school wants to become (DuFour et al., 2010). The research site's vision is to "provide excellent, distinctive educational experiences that equip students for success today and in the future" (Colorado Springs School District 11, n.d.). Goals at the research site are for teachers to engage in frequent conversations about teaching practice, plan effective teaching strategies and programs, and providing collective ownership of learning goals to improve student achievement. These goals follow the PLC model. For my evaluation, I am focusing on collaboration and collective inquiry.

Collaboration is an element in DuFour's model (DuFour et al., 2010). Teachers work collaboratively to examine their instructional practices and to make changes to improve teaching, learning, and student achievement (DuFour et al., 2010). Educators collaboratively identify what students need to know and how educators will address challenges in student learning by engaging in questions that encourage self reflection and analysis. The most significant questions that PLC addresses are to identify what students need to learn and how they will know when students have demonstrated mastery (DuFour et al., 2010).

Collective inquiry is also a key element of the PLC model. Grade level teams engage in collective inquiry and conversations regarding the best teaching and learning practices (DuFour & Mattos, 2013). Individual team members identify how their students are performing and the students' levels of achievement and share this knowledge with other faculty and staff. Grade level teams use collective inquiry to learn new skills and knowledge that can influence their experiences and awareness (Brodie, 2014). Grade level teams use critical inquiry to identify what essential standards are necessary for students to achieve the desired outcomes. At the research site, the grade level team meets weekly to discuss what students need to know and how students demonstrate mastery of learning based on students' academic performance.

A related component of DuFour's PLC model is action orientation. Educators understand the importance and urgency of turning goals into reality. Teachers engage in action orientation because they realize powerful learning takes place in the context of taking action, and value engagement and experience are the most helpful teachers (DuFour et al., 2010). PLC members also know not to anticipate different results until they change instruction (DuFour et al., 2010).

One of the most prevailing strategies for improving student learning is the construction of high quality common formative assessments by teachers working collaboratively to identify the knowledge and skills for specific state standards that students need to meet to be successful (DuFour et al., 2010). Common formative assessments are used to promote accountability by providing information about the progress students are making. Teachers use these assessments to provide and ensure common pacing, ensure students have access to the same curriculum, and evaluate the quality of their students' work. Additionally, common assessments should include teacher-made tests, unit tests, and district assessments are regularly administered to determine evidence of student learning. Teachers collaboratively review the assessment results to identify strengths and weaknesses in student learning and teacher instruction. Teachers compare results to determine how their students are performing against other students who took the assessment. This comparison allows teachers to share instructional strategies and ideas on how their students excelled.

Teachers also use the common formative assessments to discover students who are experiencing difficulties, need additional time, and support and to improve teachers' individual and collective professional practices. These assessments provide information to administrators on the strengths and weaknesses of the curricula and programs in a district and, in this way, promote institutional accountability. These assessments help discovery of strengths and weaknesses in PLC members' instructional delivery and to motivate them to learn more effective techniques from their peers (DuFour et al., 2010; Stewart, 2014).

Grade level teams identify the next steps for instruction for students who have mastered the skills to advance their learning. In individual classrooms, teachers continually monitor how students are performing on daily assignments, teacher made assessments, and state assessments. Teachers apply this knowledge to create a cycle of continuous improvement. Grade level teams review the data to determine instructional strategies to decide how to provide support for students who have not mastered specific skills. Team members decide which instructional strategies would benefit their students to increase student achievement. Teachers implement the strategies and then analyze the effect of changes should they occur. In sum, the continuous improvement cycle begins with assessing student knowledge, identifying and implementing strategic teaching, monitoring student engagement throughout the school year in a variety of tasks, and then making changes to instruction. Educators in a PLC team commit to continuous improvements to achieve the purpose of the PLC organization. One of the main goals of continuous improvement is for teachers to learn new strategies while creating an environment that encourages lifelong learning, innovation, and experimentation (DuFour et al., 2010).

Another component of DuFour's PLC model is a commitment to continuous improvement (DuFour et al., 2010). DuFour (2010) identified a systematic process to engage all members of the PLC in improvement. First, it is important for educators to identify current levels of student learning and identify strategies to address any needs. To assure that every student has the opportunity to master the same essential learning, school and district leaders must collaboratively engage teachers in clarifying, studying teaching, and committing to teaching the curriculum in an effective way for all. Collaborative teams study a common teaching attribute over a school year. Collaboratively studying critical learning promotes clarity, consistent priorities, and the establishment of a workable curriculum for all students.

The framework and related literature guided the development of the two research questions. The interview protocol and document analysis are based on the two constructs, collaboration and collective inquiry, within the framework and related literature. The PLC has served as framework for other studies.

Herrelko (2016) used the Du Four's theoretical framework to examine how often DuFour's big ideas were used in PLCs in 12 urban elementary schools. The descriptive case study focused on improving the mathematical skills of these schools' students. Herrelko's findings concluded that the PLCs were more productive in all schools when they focused on DuFour's big ideas.

Farley-Ripple and Buttram (2014) used a mixed methods study in four urban elementary schools to examine the implementation of the PLC for improving teaching and learning in these schools. Qualitative data consisted of interviews, observations, and document analysis collected during the 2010-2011 school year. Expectations for the PLC and school improvement planning were gathered through district interview. Research findings identified the importance of district leadership focusing on communicating a clear and consistent vision and expectations of how data influences teacher instruction.

Kalkan's (2015) quantitative study revealed the connection between teachers' perceptions and organizational trust in the PLC. The sample included 805 primary education teachers using stratified sampling. The research model consisted of two

independent variables and two dependent variables. The researchers found that teachers' perceptions of the PLC increased through trust in principals and colleagues.

Formative Objectives-Oriented Program Evaluation Model

A formative objectives oriented program evaluation is used to render judgments about the value of a program that is being evaluated and may use predetermined objectives to determine whether the goals and objectives of the program have been met (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011). Fitzpatrick, Sanders, and Worthen (2004) defined an objectives-oriented program evaluation as the "identification, clarification, and application of defensible criteria to determine an evaluation worth or merit in relation to those criteria" (Fitzpatrick, Sanders, & Worthen, 2004, p. 5). Fitzpatrick, Sanders, and Worthen (2011) referenced seven steps for program evaluation using the Tylerian Evaluation Approach. The seven steps are to (1) establish goals or objectives, (2) classify goals, (3) define objectives, (4) locate achievement in goals, (5) select measurement techniques, (6) collect performance data, (7) compare performance data and objectives.

Step 1 – Establish goals or objectives: The PLC teams identified the goals and objectives for the PLC during the initial implementation of the PLC model.

Step 2 – Classify goals: The goals were organized in ways that they are measurable for collective inquiry and collaboration.

Step 3 – Define objectives: The program objectives were defined by the PLC teams to clarify their meaning, and what they are intended to accomplish.

Step 4 – Find situations in which achievement of objectives can be measured: I used interview and document protocols to monitor the achievement of goals.
Step 5 – Select measurement techniques: I used qualitative measurement techniques to determine whether collaboration and collective inquiry goals are met.

Step 6 – Collect performance data: Team meeting notes and interviews were used to collect data.

Step 7 - Compare performance data with objectives: I compared the qualitative data with the objectives to determine whether the goals and objectives were met. I made two modifications to this program evaluation model. First, this program evaluation was not used to evaluate the entire PLC program, but only on whether the goals of collective inquiry and collaboration were met. Second, in a typical program evaluation may include both quantitative and qualitative measures. Due to the nature of the problem and research questions to address the problem, only a qualitative research method was used. Data were collected through interviews with and team meeting notes from PLC teams that participated in the implementation of the PLC in 2015 and 2016.

One of the key elements of an objectives-oriented program evaluation is to identify the objectives of the program, which is the primary role of an evaluator, and to collect data. An objectives oriented evaluation uses explicitly stated objectives, and the evaluation assesses whether the goals and objectives have been met. Fitzpatrick, Sanders and Worthen (2004) identified one appeal to using a program evaluation is that it is simple to use, easily understood, and produces information for stakeholders.

Critical Review of the Literature

Academic Achievement

One education quality concern is that high school graduates are not fully prepared to enter college or the workforce. The United States continues to fall behind other countries in pre-college educational outcomes (Nation's Report Card, 2017). The 2015 National Assessment of Education Progress (NAEP) results show that only 40% of fourth grade and 33% of eighth grade students perform at or above proficiency levels in mathematics. Additionally, only one-third of fourth and eighth grade students perform at or above proficiency in reading (Nation's Report Card, 2017). Nearly 60% of college students, moreover, enroll in college remedial classes, which is a significant issue in low college graduation rates (Board, 2018). The American College Testing (ACT) 2016 results showed that only 23% of Hispanic students and 11% of African American students were ready for college (ACT, 2015). In the public education system, one in five students is not graduating on time with peers, and more than 4,000 students drop out of high school (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017).

Too many elementary schools are not meeting their goals for improving student achievement. Thirty-six percent of fourth grade students perform at or above the proficient level in reading, and 40% of fourth graders perform at 33% proficient on the NAEP assessment (Nation's Report Card, 2017). Schools are expected to be effective in educating students and increasing academic achievement on a yearly basis. Individual schools are responsible for implementing plans and goals to improve student achievement (Leavitt et al., 2013). Schools also continue to face the task of improving academic standards for all students whether they are elementary, middle school, or high school students. Researchers Brown, Horn, and King (2018) identified that student achievement improves as a result of teachers and schools embracing and participating in the PLC.

Effect on Student Learning

PLCs are an approach used by schools that contributes to positive student outcomes for student learning (Muñoz & Branham, 2016). To improve student achievement, teachers have to implement strategies and programs to address low student achievement and implement mandated reforms (Jones et al., 2013). The reform efforts require schools to address low student achievement and learning gaps among students. Schools have to ensure that all students encounter rigorous standards and challenging cognitive demands while serving an increasing number of students who have struggled to find success with traditional instructional practices (DuFour & Marzano, 2011). Schools face increased pressure from state and local governments to collect student achievement data, show student performance growth, and determine instructional quality as benchmarks for raising the caliber of classroom teaching (Woodland & Mazur, 2015). Schools show academic progress by teachers examining successful teaching and learning practices and collaborating to increase achievement of students in all K-12 settings and at all socioeconomic levels (Jones & Thessin, 2015).

Improvement of student achievement involves more than evaluations of student performance. An essential element of student academic success is teacher quality (Battersby & Verdi, 2015). Due to federal mandates, requirements for school and teacher accountability have resulted in evaluations designed to remove ineffective teachers from classrooms and ensure that teachers who remain in classrooms are effective (Woodland & Mazur, 2015). Improving students' academic achievement requires professional development for teachers that continually upgrades instructional practices (Owen, 2014). Having ineffective teachers in the classroom continue to lower students' academic achievement (Woodland & Mazur, 2015). Inflated performance measures, ineffective evaluation methods, and professional development programs that have little or no effect on teaching quality remain reasons for ineffective teachers staying in the classroom (DuFour & Mattos, 2013).

Standardized Testing. Schools remain under pressure for increased accountability, student learning, and data collection. Fortunately, these requirements are used to force educators to adopt instruction improvement strategies (Farley-Ripple & Buttram, 2014). Standardized test scores are used to measure school and teacher accountability. State and local educational agencies throughout the United States have put in place accountability measures to promote higher student achievement and help schools and students struggling to meet state standards (Farley-Ripple & Buttram, 2014). Educators remain accountable to their peers, districts, state accountability measures, policymakers, and district and school administrators. Teachers' participation in PLCs has lead to students' improved performance on standardized testing (Ning, Lee, & Lee, 2015) thus, addressing teacher accountability. Ning, Lee, and Lee (2015) focused on effective collaborative practices in enhancing instructional effectiveness, student learning, and accountability. The sample consisted of 952 teachers from 95 schools in Singapore, with most participants being female. The researchers identified team collegiality as a

significant factor in shared personal practice and collective learning. Collective staff attention to student learning needs can influence both student learning and teacher quality, which improves students and teachers' performance. Such collective inquiry tends to occur through strong relationships among teachers (Kelly & Cherkowski, 2015).

Teaching to diverse populations. As schools become more diverse, teachers must understand the academic needs and behaviors of all students and develop strategies for improving their academic achievement. Teachers struggle with the skills and knowledge needed to teach an increasingly diverse learner population. Educators use PLCs to engage in conversations and understand diversity in the classroom to identify and address obstacles to learning, and to accommodate diverse learning needs (Walton, Nel, Muller, & Lebeloane, 2014). For a diverse student population, teachers have to review course content to ensure that it meets these students' needs in preparing for further education or employment. In this study, diversity factors of students at the local site include socioeconomic status, language, ethnicity, and physical and mental limitations. It is imperative that teachers recognize that all students can learn regardless of these diversity factors (Walton et al., 2014).

Federal Policies

Many Americans question why school reform efforts have not improved student achievement or preparation for college and the workforce (U.S. Department of Education, 2018). Federal and state legislators, school boards, parents, and educators want an education system that prepares students for the 21st century workforce and citizenship in a democracy and to be self-actualized human beings. Teachers and administrators have struggled to find success in the traditional school model in which teachers focused on teaching instead of student learning when challenged to increase academic achievement (DuFour & Marzano, 2011). Based on the concerns expressed by these stakeholders, an increased focus on student achievement has caused schools to challenge their fundamental philosophies regarding teaching and learning.

In the early 1980s, educational leaders rushed to identify solutions to low student performance since the "Nation at Risk" report identified struggles that U.S. schools faced when preparing students to compete in the global economy (U.S. Department of Education, 2018). Because of this report, federal policies were written to increase student achievement by requiring more assessments and increasing the consequences for inadequate results including rejecting diplomas, dismissing teachers, and closing schools (Darling-hammond, Hyler, & Gardner, 2017). Increased emphasis on accountability for student performance, meeting state standards, and teacher qualifications have created new expectations for teachers and schools (Dever & Lash, 2013).

No Child Left Behind (2001), Race to the Top (2012), Common Core State Standards Initiative 2010), and the Every Student Succeeds Act (2015) are federal policies designed to improve student performance and to prepare students for college or the workforce. No Child Left Behind (NCLB) was written to increase academic rigor, accountability, and quality personnel through state testing (Aquila, 2014). Educators were required to prepare students for the workforce and higher education by adopting student learning objectives, retaining qualified teachers, and tracking student progress (RTTT, 2012). Additionally, Common Core Standards were implemented to prepare students for college and the workforce (Common Core State Standards Initiative, 2010). The Every Student Succeeds Act was written so state leaders could select their accountability plans, goals, and improvement programs to ensure that all students improve academically (ESSA, 2015).

No Child Left Behind. The No Child Left Behind (NCLB) law was written to address issues of student achievement by requiring schools receiving federal funding to provide programs to support comprehensive school reform (Aquila, 2014). Additionally, educators were mandated to use research based strategies to improve student achievement. Student achievement was measured by annual state testing of students identified by race, gender, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, and disabilities (U.S. Department of Education, 2018). One of the goals of NCLB (2001) was to reduce or close the achievement gap among students by increasing academic rigor, teacher quality, use of measurable objectives, and accountability through state assessments. Schools were required to demonstrate adequate yearly progress or be at risk of losing state or federal funding. Schools that did not meet these requirements were mandated to implement school improvement plans including the restructuring of administrations, offering of supplemental educational services, and creation of corrective action plans. Additionally, teachers were required to be "highly qualified" in subject areas they taught. Highly qualified were denoted by teacher licensure, a bachelor's degree, and subject matter competency in the subject area that they teach. The implementation of NCLB at K-12 schools influenced how students received instruction, professional development inservice for teachers, how teachers created assessments, introduced national standards, and measured success. As a result of NCLB, school personnel (a) aligned standards to classroom teaching to improve instruction, (b) made better use of test results to improve academic achievement, scores on state tests are higher, and (c) aggregate test scores of their students and subgroups of children for purposes of accountability (Ladd, 2017). In response to NCLB's school reform, educators use the PLC as a school improvement method (Dever & Lash, 2013). The PLC is a tool to help schools address NCLB mandates by ensuring teachers are highly qualified, and have the content knowledge in curriculum, teaching, and assessment that they need to improve student achievement.

Race to the Top. Another federal initiative, Race to the Top, was implemented to improve student achievement and encourage educational reform. K-12 administrators were required to use research based improvement models and teacher merit pay and endorse a commitment to close the achievement gap among all students (Race to the Top, 2012). Educators adopted student learning objectives, used data to guide instruction, participated in professional development, and effective teachers were recruited and retained to prepare students for college and the workforce (Race to the Top, 2012). The key to successfully achieving these goals was incumbent on hiring and retaining effective leadership (i.e., the principal). The school principal's role in this initiative included greater responsibility for organizational change (Kellar & Slayton, 2016). Organizational change was achieved by transferring a principal from a high forming school to a low performing school to increase academic achievement (Kellar & Slayton, 2016).

performance, adopting standards that prepared students to succeed in college and the workforce, and increasing teacher and principal effectiveness.

Common Core Standards. Common Core Standards were implemented in 2009 to provide educators with a clear, consistent framework aligned to college and career expectations, and embracing higher order thinking skills (Common Core State Standards Initiative, 2010). State personnel adopted Common Core Standards to improve students' academic performance and track student achievement to ensure that they have the necessary skills for college or the workforce. Elementary teachers used the Common Core standards to develop goals and objectives that students had to master at every grade level. By nature of the PLC adopted at the research site and based on district and state requirements, teachers collaborate and integrate the common core standards in lessons to enhance their instructional practices and improve student learning. Additionally, teachers create lessons based on the specific standards for each grade level, offering students the same curriculum as the curriculum at specific grade levels across the country. Common Core standards require students to learn content knowledge and then process the knowledge using conscious reasoning that continues to increase in complexity. Currently, 42 states have adopted the Common Core State Standards and implemented these based on their timelines (Common Core State Standard Initiative, 2018).

Every Student Succeeds Act. The Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) in 2015 reauthorized the No Child Left Behind Act. The authors designed ESSA to narrow the achievement gap by providing all students with fair and equal access to education and achieving academic excellence (Congress, 2015). Part of this federal legislation featured

multiple state and district assessments to determine the academic performance of students, the progress of English language learners, and school quality as the individual state specifies (Congress, 2015). Ninety five percent of all students are tested annually. Schools that do not meet the established standards are identified as needing improvement if they score in the bottom 5% of the state or fail to graduate more than one third of senior class students, especially those from underperforming socioeconomic groups (Colorado Department of Education, 2018).

Educational stakeholders in reaction to the federal mandates adopted PLCs to increase student achievement, address school reform, and create a collaborative teacher culture focused on learning (Liou & Daly, 2014). PLCs are tools to influence teacher learning, improve classroom instruction, and gain higher student achievement (Vablaere & Devos, 2016).

Teacher Professional Development

One of the issues that school administrators face is providing effective professional development for teachers to affect positively the academic performance of all students. Teachers learn to meet the diverse needs of their students in quality professional development training (Jones & Dexter, 2014). Both veteran and new teachers benefit from professional development programs that familiarize participants with district implemented improvement programs (Richmond & Manokre, 2014). Teachers need to learn to teach in different ways from how they were taught, shifting their focus from teacher centered instruction to student centered instruction (Jones & Dexter, 2014). Traditionally, in the teacher centered classroom, teachers stood in front of the classroom lecturing and requiring students to learn the content. In contrast, teachers in student centered instruction facilitate student learning in individual or small groups using individualized learning and scaffolding instructional strategies to improve academic achievement (Andersen & Andersen, 2017).

Professional development is a requirement for all teachers as part of all state teacher licensing programs and individual school district guidelines. Schools use many professional development opportunities according to their cost, content, and capacity for meeting academic standards (Battersby & Verdi, 2015). The current professional development model implemented at the K-5 elementary school in this study is the PLC with a focus on sustaining academic performance.

Effective PD that affects student performance. To make a difference in student learning outcomes, professional development should be linked to learner needs, work to provide extended time for student learning, be collaborative, and include an ongoing assessment of effective professional development initiatives focused on improving student achievement (Cherkowski, 2016). When teachers have autonomy in selecting their professional development content, they design and implement their professional development content to lead to positive teacher and student outcomes (Linder, 2012). DuFour's (2014) practitioner focused article investigated PLCs that identified improvements in student and teacher learning. DuFour (2014) identified these descriptors of successful professional development: ongoing, collective, job embedded, and results oriented. Teachers who participate in continuous learning embedded in their jobs are more likely to improve student learning (Hoaglund, Birkenfeld, & Box, 2014).

Professional development can create positive teacher and student outcomes when done successfully, however, it is typically inadequate in meeting teacher learning needs (Jones & Dexter, 2014). Teacher learning in a PLC is more effective than traditional professional development because participants in PLCs commit to working together with the objective of improving student learning (Stewart, 2014). In a qualitative case study of three schools based on interviews with 58 teachers, Owen (2014) explored how high quality teaching and ongoing professional development in the PLC affect student achievement. Findings from the Owen (2014) study indicated that students benefited from the collaborative efforts of teachers examining data, learning from colleagues, and adopting innovative practices with ongoing support. Participating teachers in a PLC reported that professional development enhances instruction through engaging in interesting activities, learning from each other, focusing on improving their competencies, learning to work with difficulties in student learning, and being reflective about the most effective techniques to improve instruction (Cheng & Ko, 2012).

Teachers and administrators use the PLC to provide complex skills that students need to improve academic achievement, student behavior, higher level thinking skills, and student engagement. These opportunities help students to solve problems individually and collectively.

Professional Development That Affects Teacher Performance

Additionally, many schools seek ways to sustain academic improvement by ensuring teachers are engaged in ongoing professional development and are enhancing professional development opportunities for teachers (Cheng & Ko, 2012). High quality professional development programs create new learning opportunities for teachers by addressing the specific student achievement and teacher learning needs of each school (Dever & Lash, 2013). To improve and sustain academic improvement, students need effective teaching to acquire higher order thinking skills. Teachers need new opportunities to learn to teach more effectively, prepare their students for a diverse workforce, and focus on the teaching learning relationship (Jones & Dexter, 2014). To achieve these goals, effective professional development experiences should include collaborative approaches that are monitored for effectiveness to improve students' educational outcomes. Collaborative approaches engage teachers in conversations and debates within a PLC to support staff professional growth and educational practices and improve student learning (Poekert, 2012).

Administrators at the local site implemented various professional development opportunities for teachers to improve and sustain academic achievement and teacher learning. To improve academic achievement, district administration adopted various curriculum programs, coaching, mentoring, workshops on curriculum, and study groups to improve instruction To sustain student achievement, teachers need to be trained and use curriculum programs with fidelity. Often teachers would select portions of a program rather than implementing the program as intended. In general, conventional approaches are ineffective because they have produced limited measurable effects on teaching practice and student outcomes (Gore et al., 2017).

Additionally, teachers take ownership of their learning using the PLC model to improve teaching. Kelly and Cherkowski (2015) sought to understand how professional

development opportunities can be designed and facilitated to support professional learning. Fourteen classroom teachers and six literacy intervention teachers participated in a qualitative case study, featuring collaborative inquiry interviews about their experiences with their PLC. The researchers examined the reflections and discussions of a group of teachers in a rural school district to determine the importance of collaboration, peer relationships, and their changing mindsets about their work. The findings showed that establishing a climate that focuses on teaching, learning, and collaborative inquiry has a positive influence on teachers' professional learning.

In summary, teachers learn when they engage with team members to collaboratively learn, share ideas, and engage in conversations about their students. Teachers use evidence of learning to discover problematic areas and which classes are performing better, and then adopt strategies to improve student achievement. Teachers become receptive to change in their instructional practice when they see students achieve at higher levels on team developed assessments. When teachers determine that students instructed by a colleague perform at higher levels on team developed assessments, they become more responsive to adjustments in their instructional practice.

The workshop approach, online learning, seminars, teaching rounds, and professional learning communities are conventional professional development formats (Gore et al., 2017). Although they are considered traditional, not all of them meet the criteria to make a difference in student learning. They may omit one or more of the criteria for effective professional development.

Professional Development Types

As demands for student learning intensifies, policy makers, and school district personnel think systematically about how to improve teacher learning through professional development. Professional development types include the workshop approach, online learning, educational conferences or seminars, teaching rounds, and the PLC. Each type of professional development has different characteristics that will be described below. The shared characteristics of effective professional development focus on teaching strategies with specific district adopted curriculum. For example, at the research site, teachers are encouraged to use specific activities to increase student collaboration contained in the adopted language arts program. Effective professional development incorporates active learning, contains interactive activities, and supports collaboration that provides teachers with the opportunity to share ideas in job embedded contexts (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017).

One type of professional development type is the workshop approach. District personnel often use the workshop approach by bringing in a consultant during a scheduled staff development day for training in a specific subject or pedagogical approach (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017). The consultant knows the program and its content and has the ability to demonstrate and model the program and provide ongoing support to the staff. The workshop approach is effective in introducing new strategies, techniques, and support to the staff on the implementation. Other benefits of the workshop approach are that the cost to the district is minimal, convenience in scheduling, and the entire staff can be trained at one time. The workshop approach has shown little evidence of enhanced teacher effectiveness.

Online learning is an alternative type of professional development in which teachers have the autonomy of their learning and professional growth through course schedule and flexibility (Gunter & Reeves, 2016). Course content format includes digital information, photographs, videos, discussions, and interactive tools to construct knowledge (Beach & Willows, 2017). The advantage to this type of professional development is the flexibility in scheduling and ability to choose the course. The downside is that delivery is through photographs, and teachers do not have the opportunity to interact with people, engage in collaborative conversations, or ask questions (Beach & Willows, 2017). Another challenge of the online learning format is that teachers may struggle with completing the course and applying content knowledge that will positively influence teacher performance.

Teachers often take advantage of education conferences to improve their teaching practices and to keep current research on student and teacher learning. One of the advantages of attending an educational conference is that presenters excite educators about current educational topics (Why making time for professional development matters, 2019). This type of professional development uses a lecture approach to share information on a specific topic to a group. An advantage of this type of professional development is increasing teachers' knowledge of the subjects they teach and providing instructional strategies. One of the limitations of this type of professional development is that teachers may not have the opportunity to share their knowledge, experience, or not new strategies that may improve their teaching practice (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017). Cheng and Ko (2012) stated that teacher professional development should include engaging activities, collaborating with colleagues, reflecting on effective ways of teaching, and focusing on student learning, which are missing in an educational conference or seminar.

Another type of professional development is the use of teaching rounds. Administrators and teachers use teaching rounds to analyze specific problems, identify needs of the classroom, and establish direction for additional support. Teaching rounds are observations by the principal, vice principal, and/or colleague in the same or neighboring school (Gore et al., 2017). Administrators and teachers use protocols to keep observations non-judgmental and to keep the focus on teaching rather than teachers. Teachers may have the opportunity to visit other schools, participate in a cohort of teachers, mentoring and colleague observation, and coaching (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017). Teachers may use observations to gain insight, new skills, strategies, and resources, and reflect how the lesson has been beneficial in improving student learning (Gore et al., 2017). However, classroom observations have several disadvantages for the observer. The observer may possess inadequate expertise in observational skills. Observation feedback does not always improve teaching performance. Lastly, teachers may misapply curriculum content.

Another professional development model is the PLC. The PLC is a tool that consists of a group of teachers, administrators, and learning coaches who focus on the constant improvement of teacher and student learning. The focus of this type of professional development is ongoing "job embedded learning." Teachers work in collaborative teams to critically examine and deliberate standards based learning and identify evidence based instructional strategies for achieving the standards. Teachers customize and personalize their professional development allowing them to level a sense of ownership through self-directed learning (Linder, 2012). Ning, Lee, and Lee (2014) showed that the PLC lead to teachers' increased involvement in professional development, collaborative practices, and growth in student learning. One of the disadvantages of this style of professional development is that it can take several years to implement successfully. A more in depth description of the PLC formal will follow.

Use of PLCs for Professional Development

PLC teams have the opportunity to create an environment focused on student and teacher learning when a PLC professional development format is adopted. Cheng and Ko (2012) suggested that creating a learning community consisting of teachers, administration, and learning coaches is a critical factor for the professional development of teachers to enhance student learning. Teachers have the opportunity to learn from multiple experts, improve teacher competencies, and reflect on effective ways of teaching. Additionally, teachers customize their professional development and enhance self directed teacher learning. Owen (2015) identified increased learning outcomes for student learning in achievement when professional development in PLCs is continuous and connected to practice and aligned with school goals. Additionally, focusing on student learning, reflective teaching, and application of new strategies may result in increased student engagement and understanding the concepts taught.

DuFour (2004) stated that the PLC model consists of teachers, who are part of the learning community, are committed to the shared vision of increasing student learning, work collaboratively to identify solutions to problems in their practice, and evaluate the success of their attempts to improve pedagogy. Among the strategies of the PLC, the model is used by teams to focus on specific issues that are related to the school and to change the mindset of teachers. The teachers work together to examine evidence of student learning and identify specific strategies and goals to improve student achievement (Dogan & Adams, 2016).

In a learning community, professional knowledge is part of that community. Teachers construct professional knowledge through social interactions and reflections with other teachers, content experts, and administration (Van Lare & Brazer, 2013). When teachers collaborate on student learning, they develop multiple ways to deal with issues of practice and solve problems of practice in their classrooms. Teachers use evidence of student learning to drive collaborative interactions and reflections on teaching practice to evaluate the success of their efforts, identify specific goals, and develop strategies to achieve the goals (Kelly & Cherkowski, 2015). A learning community results when educators work together to examine and reflect on their teaching, improve their learning, begin to learn continuously, and gain new knowledge. Teachers need multiple opportunities to learn continuously, enhance accountability, examine and question their teaching practice, and share their learning experiences with other team members. Teachers use their shared expertise to increase knowledge on what is working in the classroom and the need for change to improve student learning (Kelly & Cherkowski, 2015). PLC members become better decision makers by selecting their topics for inquiry, determining how they will be studied, implementing activities, setting up classroom materials and evaluations, and scheduling PLC meeting dates (Linder, 2012).

Ensuring that Students Learn

A collaborative culture. A collaborative culture in a PLC is a process in which educators work together to achieve increased teacher learning and student achievement (Battersby & Verdi, 2015). In a PLC collaborative culture, teachers meet to gather evidence of student learning, develop and implement strategies, discover effective strategies, and then apply those strategies in a cycle of continuous improvement (DuFour, 2015). Creating a collaborative culture in a PLC is necessary because teachers benefit from interacting and reflecting together as they plan and discuss student learning. Riveros et al. (2012) found that teachers' professional learning in schools is embedded in practices where they share information. When teachers increase their learning, they transfer their knowledge to the students in their classroom through the new knowledge gained.

As a part of the collaborative culture, educators use collective inquiry understand student knowledge acquired. Teachers examine student data to understand their teaching and student learning and identify evidence of learning to guide their instruction (Feldman & Fataar, 2014). Teachers determine which students are performing well, which students require extra support, and what to do with students who have mastered the content. Teachers adopt different pedagogies and explore new curricula and ways of teaching to improve student achievement. These focused conversations help teachers to set clear goals and improve student learning (Nelson et al., 2013).

Collegial interaction to ensure student learning. Collegial interaction occurs when educators interdependently work together to improve student learning. In a collegial culture, teachers learn from each other to adjust their teaching practices and improve student learning (Ho, Lee, & Teng, 2016). Teachers engage in reflective dialog about specific issues and engage in cooperative practices and have a collective focus on student learning (Tam, 2015). Teachers can challenge practices, hear multiple perspectives of teaching approaches, and acquire new understanding about the curriculum that may have an influence on student learning (Tam, 2015). Teachers interact to share ideas, take risks, and break down the walls of isolation (Williams, 2013). Through these teachers interactions, they affirm improvement in student learning. Collegial interactions include observing and videotaping each other in the classroom, evaluating lessons, investigating teaching obstacles, generating new ideas, examining best educational practices, learning, and then discussing which led to academic improvement for students (Wells & Feun, 2013). For example, in an ELA classroom, the teacher observes another teacher. At the end of the lesson the PLC team meets to review and reflect on instruction. Everyone's input is valued and it is up to teachers to individually reflect on the feedback to ensure student learning.

In PLCs educators develop close, continuing relationships with colleagues that strengthen communication and interactions (Brodie, 2014). (Jacobsen, Eaton, Brown, Simmons, & McDermott, 2018) identified the importance of members working with a team to enhance their professional learning through dialogue, idea sharing, and multiple perspectives to teaching ideas. Collaborative learning that arises from sharing professional experiences allows teachers to gain new insights, knowledge, and perspectives that enhance critical inquiry and reflective analysis (Attard, 2012). Ho et al. (2016) indicated that teacher instruction and student achievement improve as a result of the cohesive relationships among staff. Teachers develop a sense of efficacy and the ability to influence colleagues by holding each other accountable and committed to student learning (Tobia & Hord, 2012).

Student testing to ensure student learning. Teachers use test results to determine how students are performing and the foundational base for instruction. Additionally, teachers collect and organize data to address significant achievement gaps among students and subgroups of children (Jones, Stoll, & Yarborough, 2013; Williams, 2013). Teachers use test data to identify which students need extra support and which have mastered the content and provide instructional support using student grouping (Thessin, 2015). Teachers group children based on their academic strengths and weaknesses to provide interventions that may improve student learning. Teachers use progress monitoring (assessment at specific times of the year) to continually evaluate the effectiveness of their teaching and make informed instructional improvements. Students' current level of performance and academic goals and the rate of progress needed to achieve the goals can be identified using progress monitoring. The teachers use probes to measure student progress regulary and determine how they are responding to instruction, and evaluating the effectiveness of their instruction. When these measures are used

throughout the school year, the teaching performance improves and the gap in student achievment may close.

Leadership to ensure student learning. Leadership ensures that teachers focus on student achievement through the school's mission, objectives, and culture of the school to ensure student learning. DuFour et al. (2008) supported the development of a collaborative effort in which the members of the staff create a mission focused on improving learning for teachers and students. Leadership helps foster a culture of collaboration by establishing a safe, yet challenging environment for collective inquiry and assuring that teachers and students have the resources needed for learning (Christiansen & Robey, 2015). Principals serve as a vital resource to guide teachers into professional learning communities by modeling the expectations for the school environment and support and by providing resources and a supportive environment that ensures student learning.

Principals' may use their instructional leadership to support how teachers collaborate to improve instruction with detailed knowledge of classroom practice. Effective principals make it more likely that teachers will engage in collaborative interactions designed to improve instruction and achieve goals (Goddard, Goddard, Kim, & Miller, 2015). To achieve these goals, leadership should focus on communicating a consistent vision and expectations for student learning (Farley-Ripple & Buttram, 2014). Principals who regularly monitor instruction and provide instructional support to teachers experience high levels of collective work among teachers focused on improving their instruction (Goddard et al.). School leaders have a direct role in making decisions to create opportunities that reinforce data use for instructional improvement while communicating the importance of collaborative work in improving student learning (Farley-Ripple & Buttram).

Principals who operate as instructional leaders with comprehensive knowledge of classroom practice are more likely to influence teachers who will engage in collaborative interactions intended to improve instruction (Goddard et al., 2015). Principals who focus on social and professional exchanges foster open communication, guiding teachers to critically reflect on their own learning and teaching practices. School leaders have an indirect effect on student achievement through the support they provide to teachers. Based on conversations, student outcomes improve when teachers are collectively involved in the development of curriculum and instruction (Goddard et al.).

Collaboration.

Collaboration is key to a successful PLC. Through the PLC, teachers collaboratively improve their instruction by reflecting on student needs, their practices, and improving their teaching efforts (Cheng & Ko, 2012). Establishing a PLC is a complex process that requires cultural changes to improve collaboration and make the initiative effective and sustainable (Makopoulou & Armour, 2014). Cultural change involves educators and administration questioning their beliefs about teaching, learning, and engaging in an iterative, collaborative process to generate opportunities to share expertise and learn from each other. Effective collaboration fosters relationships among teachers and other experts to create clear goals and share purposes and a greater responsibility for student learning resulting in increased morale (Nelson et al., 2013). PLC teams meet to evaluate student work against standards (Sompong et al., 2015), using their insights to choose targets for instructional improvements. These team meetings work best with shared planning times for instructional decision making. Oral interactions build teacher community, support their feelings of competence, and generate a sense of individual autonomy. Teachers report that one benefit of the PLC model is (Nelson et al., 2013) collaborative planning that allows teachers to feel connected, supported, and assisted in planning and implementing mandated reforms to improve student learning (Caskey, & Carpenter, 2012).

PLCs are based on the idea that teachers who work collaboratively with peers are more effective in achieving school goals, have increased responsibility for their performance, and show a more significant commitment to their work (DuFour, 2015). Owen (2014) found that key factors in successful teacher learning are collaboration, goal setting, and use of data on results, continuous improvement, and making sure that students learn. Teachers participate in collaborative opportunities to strengthen their commitment to goals, the main one being student learning (Kalkan, 2016).

High quality professional learning can nurture a collaborative culture that empowers teachers to learn from each other to improve student learning and teaching practice and enhance student outcomes (Ho, Lee, & Teng, 2016). Teachers improve their learning by focusing on learning instead of teaching, working collaboratively, and holding themselves accountable for results (Hoaglund, Birkenfeld & Box, 2014). Collaboration seems to lead to diverse perspectives and skills that can promote teacher creativity, productivity, and the ability to defend positions, give feedback, achieve consensus, and apply knowledge with the common goal of improving student achievement (Morel, 2014).

DuFour and Mattos (2013) stated that to ensure that students learn at higher levels then teaching must be improved. To improve instruction teachers interdependently organize and meet in grade level teams to achieve common goals. During these grade level team meetings, team members identify areas where students need extra time and support for learning and ensure assistance immediately for students who are struggling or need enrichment.

Environment/climate for collaboration. Collaboration requires a positive learning environment. Caskey and Carpenter (2012) stated that teachers' strengths and weaknesses, collaboration, implementation new ideas, and continual learning characterize a successful PLC. A sense of community forms when members interact and discuss their common interests (Linder, 2012). Furthermore, Pyhalto, Pietarinen, and Soini (2015) affirmed that a positive collaborative climate with support from colleagues and school leaders influences teacher satisfaction and their motivation to learn (Pyhalto, Pietarinen, & Soini, 2015).

Trust for collaboration Trust among colleagues requires focusing on student learning, developing shared values, using de-privatized practice, and employing reflecting dialogues to establish collaboration (Farley-Ripple & Buttram, 2014). Trust is necessary among PLC team members to problem solve, reflect on teaching practice, and construct knowledge. For collaboration to work, team members must have the freedom to express ideas and concerns without judgment from their colleagues. When trust is

present, the PLC team focuses their dialogue on individual goals, strategies, questions, and concerns in collaborative conversations where trust is present (DuFour & Mattos, 2013). If trust is evident within the team, teachers are willing to take instructional risks, adopt innovative teaching practices, unreservedly discuss their feelings and aggravations about working conditions, and develop positive working relationships. Team members who trust and respect each other participate in supportive and productive interactions with each other focused on improving achievement and learning (Ning et al., 2015). In contrast, distrust causes conflict among team members, and impedes teaching and learning, and collaboration. If teachers do not trust their colleagues to improve teaching and learning, then they cannot be expected to cooperate.

Collaboration is important in PLCs to improve student learning by sharing decision making and supporting strong personal and professional relationships focused on trust. Additionally, collective actions in a trusting group have a positive effect on problem solving and decision making promoting sharing of information. Moreover, trust is a prerequisite for implementing new techniques and procedures for student learning. A participatory action research project conducted by Sompong et al (2015) encouraged collaboration and trust building as teachers engaged in discussions of teacher learning. The researchers contended that trust requires members to discuss alternative viewpoints and understand differences that may arise when individuals make decisions. A PLC team has the potential to create (Gray, Mitchell, & Tarter, 2014) cohesion, safety, and the willingness to change. For teachers to learn, a safe environment is essential because they must admit their weaknesses in their practice and knowledge (Brodie, 2014).

Collaborative conversations centered on trust, mutuality, and respect create a safe space where teachers can expose and engage with their implicitly held beliefs and practices (Liou & Daly, 2014). It is important to create a respectful atmosphere where reflection, engagement, vulnerabilities, and conceptual weaknesses are exposed (Liou & Daly, 2014). Trust is essential for enabling change to occur among members of the learning organization and improve student learning (Jones et al., 2013). Implementing new methods and procedures for student learning thus requires trust. In contrast, distrust causes people to view change as a threat and are reluctant to do so (Kalkan, 2016). The nature of the PLC prospers in environments that encourage trust, risk taking, and teacher support.

Buchanan (2012) proposed that professional development happens best for teachers in a collaborative community where teachers take the risk to engage in conversations about their craft. This qualitative study discussed the importance of teachers relating to each other and provided research-based strategies on how professional learning can affect teacher learning. Teachers believed that they learned more when they interacted with teachers they trust to share problems, seek advice, and develop closed and sustained bonds with other colleagues who shared the same insights (Buchanan, 2012). A successful PLC team encourages and facilitates a collaborative environment where individuals produce and search for new information that will have an influence on student achievement.

Improving relationships with students and teachers has positive implications for students. Positive student teacher relationships promote trust that results in students

showing more engagement in learning, behavior, and achieve higher levels academically (Rimm-Kaufman & Sandilos, 2018). These relationships promote students desire to learn and engages them in the learning process. Additionally, it creates opportunities for students to think, analyze, and extend students' prior knowledge.

School culture for collaboration. Establishing a school culture that makes sharing and collaboration ongoing and focused on student and teacher outcomes is a priority in a learning organization (Makopoulou & Armour, 2104). The culture of the environment consists of the attitudes, beliefs, assumptions, habits and ways of doing things shared within a community. Teachers' beliefs are intimately related to the ways teachers work with colleagues (Tam, 2015). Teachers who experience a positive work ethic feel empowered using active and reflective problem solving and self-regulation strategies to proactively hand stressful interaction and challenges (Pyhalto, Pietarinen, & Soini, 2015).

Teachers who focus on collaboration will likely have a high functioning PLC team (Owen, 2014). Educators in such a school will tend to reflect on the roles of student learning and teacher collaboration in their school (Vescio, Ross, & Adams, 2008). A collective culture consists of teachers willing to use inquiry in the quest for new knowledge (Wennergren, 2016). The school culture will improve through the increase in collaboration, empowerment, authority, and continuous learning and will lead to higher performing students (Jones et al., 2013). School culture positively affects instruction, reduces teacher isolation, and improves organizational capacity, all of which results in a culture of high quality instruction (Woodland & Mazur, 2015).

PLC Implementation Outcomes

PLC team members use the PLC to provide opportunities to improve teacher and student learning. Based on a review of the literature, Stewart (2014) identified the aspects of PLCs that improve teaching and learning. Collaborative teams identify the strengths, weaknesses, and achievement gaps in student learning. Stewart stated that successful PLCs are composed of teachers who participate in collaborative training while selecting their learning objectives.

Leclerc, Moreau, Dumouchel, & Sallafranques-St-Louis (2012) in their qualitative multi case study, identified the essential factors for implementing a PLC. The researchers used an interpretive research design to acquire a deeper understanding of the PLC process in six elementary schools. The researchers interviewed 98 teachers with an average teaching experience of 12.78 years. The teachers were interviewed for one hour, focusing on explaining the issues that influence the functioning of schools as PLCs. The researchers identified the developmental stages and indicators of progress crucial in evaluating a school with PLCs. They found that the culture, leadership, vision, topics addressed, and decision making based on accurate data necessary for evaluating PLCs.

If a PLC is implemented with fidelity, numerous positive results occur. Administrators have noticed an increase in teacher retention and job satisfaction. Teacher retention and higher levels of job satisfactions are noted when teachers engage with their peers in an educational setting (Hoaglund, Birkenfeld, & Box, 2014). Teachers, who work in innovative communities, expressed more satisfying careers and a greater professional growth (Gray, Mitchell & Tarter, 2014). PLCs implemented correctly reduce teacher isolation resulting in higher job satisfaction. Teachers who experienced high levels of support from colleagues were found to be less likely to leave the profession. Such teachers tended to engage in collaborative inquiry and felt comfortable to challenge their pedagogical practices (Thornton & Cherrington, 2014). When trusting relationships are developed, teachers increase their learning and learning transfers to the student population and results in improved academic achievement.

Students benefit from learning in a school that adopts and implements a PLC. When a PLC is adopted and used, teachers expose students to strategies focused on improving critical thinking, higher order thinking skills, making inferences, problem solving, and connecting concepts (Nguyen & Nguyen, 2017). Teachers encourage students to make connections from prior learning, reflect on what they are taught, and apply what they have learned to solve real problems. In comparison to schools without a PLC, students taught in a PLC school have lower rates of absenteeism, increased learning, greater academic gains, and smaller achievement gaps between students from different backgrounds (Escobar, 2106, p. 56). High quality student learning is attained in classrooms through instruction, and students of all social backgrounds benefit equally despite race, gender, or socioeconomic status.

Implications

Schools continue to seek solutions to improve teacher professional development that leads to better student learning. Based on the anticipated findings, this evaluative study provided information to stakeholders within a local Title 1 School on the implementation of collaboration and collective inquiry and the influence they have on student achievement. The interviews and documents collected qualitatively provided information about the PLC and whether it met its goals on collaboration and collective inquiry. The project deliverable was a program evaluation report that informed school personnel of the strengths and weaknesses of collaboration and collective inquiry. The study will be made available to the teachers, administration, and learning coaches.

Summary

In section one, I identified the local problem that students in Grades 3-5 are performing below the state expectations in reading, writing, and mathematics at the elementary level. To address this problem, the district and local school administration decided to adopt and use a PLC. The PLC is a staff development approach implemented by administrators and teachers at the research site to increase student academic achievement. The literature review includes program evaluation models, a full description of the PLC model, program evaluation model, and a theoretical framework. Furthermore, the effect of PLCs on student learning, federal policies, teacher professional development types, and PLC were discussed in the literature review. Positive social change featuring collective inquiry and collaboration will be addressed through program recommendations.

The research methodology for this study is explained in section two. Additionally, the design of the study, sample, and why the sample was chosen were explained. The privacy roles of the researcher and methods used to ensure the ethical protection of participants, data collection and analysis, and reporting methods were outlined.

Section 2: The Methodology

Introduction

A modified formative objectives oriented program evaluation was used to explore whether the goals and objectives of collaboration and collective inquiry were met in the PLC. To date no evaluation was conducted on any of the goals. A qualitative methodology was used to collect data from participants and to review documents to understand the views of participants who were involved in the implementation of the PLC. This section will focus on the methodology, research design, setting, sample, data collection as well as procedures for data collection and analysis, and limitations.

Qualitative Research Design and Approach

A qualitative research design was used to conduct a modified formative objectives oriented program evaluation. This program evaluation model was used to document whether the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met in the implementation of the PLC. Objectives oriented approach is used by researchers as a guide to measure whether goals have been achieved (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011). The evaluator uses characteristics of the program, and its objectives on which the program is based to identify which evaluation questions will be used. Modified objective oriented approaches can be used for a formative evaluation or summative evaluation.

I made two modifications to this program evaluation model. First, this program evaluation was not used to evaluate the entire PLC program, but only on whether the goals and objectives of collective inquiry and collaboration were met. Second, in a typical program evaluation may include both quantitative and qualitative measures. Due to the nature of the problem and the research questions used to investigate the problem, only a qualitative study was used. Data were collected through interviews with and team meeting notes from PLC teams that participated in the implementation of the PLC in 2015 and 2016.

Research Questions

The questions guiding this research were:

- 1. How do PLC team members develop and maintain collaboration using the PLC to close the achievement gap and improve student achievment?
- 2. How do PLC team members use collective inquiry to improve student performance?

The topic explored in this modified evaluation is how PLC team members develop and maintain collaboration and collective inquiry to improve student performance. A semistructured interview protocol was used with open ended questions. Participants shared their perspectives of the PLC's regarding collective inquiry and collaboration. The semistructured format was used to obtain lengthy and descriptive answers to build insight into a topic, beyond the scope of the planned questions (Lodico et al., 2010).

Qualitative Research Design and Approach

Rationale for Research Design

A qualitative case study design was used to conduct a modified formative objective oriented program evaluation of the PLC. A case study involves the study of an issue explored through a specific setting (Creswell, 2012). The case study is appropriate for this evaluation to provide an in depth understanding of how PLC team members develop and maintain collaboration, and collective inquiry to improve student achievement.

The phenomenological research design was not chosen because I was not concerned how the context influenced the experiences of the individuals or to understand human behavior through the eyes of the participants (Creswell, 2012, p. 462). The research questions were developed to explore how participants develop and maintain collaboration and collective inquiry to improve student achievement. Additionally, grounded theory was not a feasible choice because it is used to generate or discover a theory, and to provide a framework for further research (Creswell, 2012). The research questions focused on discovering how collaboration and collective inquiry were used to improve student achievement, not to discover a theory or to provide a framework for further studies. Ethnographic research study focuses on an entire group and trying to understand behavior and culture while they are doing what they are doing (Creswell, 2012). The research focused only on specific individuals who have participated in the implementation of the PLC and not observing them throughout the entire process. The historical research study involves focusing on the past events to make predictions about the future (Creswell, 2012). This type of study was not appropriate because I did not gather extensive information about the participant's life. These approaches of qualitative research were considered but did not answer the questions in this study.

Program Evaluation Model

The primary purpose of the modified objectives oriented component of the evaluation was to provide information for program improvement based primarily on the

evaluation framework (Fitzpatrick, Sanders, & Worthen, 2011) in meeting its stated PLC goals and objectives of collective inquiry and collaboration. This program evaluation was not intended to evaluate the entire PLC program, but only on whether the goals and objectives of collective inquiry and collaboration were met. Two modifications were made to this program evaluation model. First, I did not evaluate the entire PLC program in this formative evaluation. Second, I only evaluated whether the goals of collective inquiry and collaboration were met. Given the fact that the PLC initiative at the research site is one aimed at a long term change of the school's culture and had only been in place one year, this evaluation was formative rather than summative in nature to provide for ongoing modifications focusing on improving student and teacher learning.

Several types of program evaluation methods were considered for the study. Since the purpose of this study was not to judge the quality of the PLC, the expertise oriented and consumer oriented evaluations were not appropriate. The teachers, administration, and learning coaches shared information about the implementation of the PLC so a decision oriented evaluation could be used; however, the focus was not to judge the program's activities, but to determine whether the objectives were met (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011).

A modified objectives oriented formative program evaluation model was chosen after evaluating the local problem and identifying that the goals and objectives of the PLC were never evaluated. The intent of the objectives oriented formative program evaluation is to gather data that will provide an in depth look into whether the objectives have been met, or have the potential to be met (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011). Team meeting
notes were used to collect information on the implementation of the PLC and must align with the RQs. The objectives oriented program evaluation is an appropriate choice since the purpose of this study was to determine whether the goals and objectives were met (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011).

Participants

This research study focused on how PLC members developed and maintained collaboration and collective inquiry in the implementation of the PLC for the years of 2015 and 2016. For this evaluation, participants were chosen for the study if they were active members during the PLC implementation period. Participants were selected using purposeful sampling because they have knowledge of the implementation of the PLC. Participants were chosen from Grades K-2 and 4-5. I excluded Grade 3 because I was a participant member of that PLC team. Fitzpatrick, Sanders, and Worthen (2011) acknowledged that purposeful sampling is appropriate to select individuals who have specific knowledge of the phenomenon or key concepts. Purposive sampling is frequently used in evaluation to explore and learn about a specific issue or concern (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011). Participants in this study included 10 elementary teachers, the learning coach, the principal, and the assistant principal who participated in the implementation of the PLC between the years of 2015 and 2016. This sample was chosen because they can provide insight on how collective inquiry and collaboration have affected student achievement. Employees who did not participate in the PLC during the 2015-2016 school year were excluded. An email request for interviews was sent to all participants who participated in the implementation of the PLC.

This study was conducted at the K-5 school where I teach. I submitted my proposal to Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) and obtain permission to conduct the program evaluation. After obtaining approval from Walden' IRB, (IRB# 29-18-001923011, expiration 11-28-2019), I submitted a letter to the principal requesting permission to conduct the study at the local site. The principal completed a Letter of Cooperation and returned it to me. After receiving permission to conduct research from the school principal, an email was sent to the 13 teachers, principal, assistant principal, and literacy coach. Using participants' public school e-mail address, I sent a letter explaining the research study and requesting participation. One week after receiving the letter of invitation, participants responded their willingness to participate by email. Participants were emailed an informed consent form and asked for their permission to audio record their interviews. Prior to signing the consent form, I gave participants the opportunity to ask any questions or concerns they may have via email. Participants had one week to return consent forms via email to me. Interviews were scheduled at the convenience of the teachers, principals, and learning coach.

Methods of Establishing a Researcher-Participant Relationship

As a researcher and member of the teaching staff, existing professional relationships facilitate establishing positive study relationships (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Once the participants were selected, I treated them with respect and established trust, as mandated by the National Institutes of Health Office of Extramural Research (2011). I did not pressure participants to participate and told them that at any time they could cease the interview. I established trust through open and ongoing communication. I informed

participants of their rights and the purpose of the research project. I respected the needs of all participants, including their availability to schedule interviews. It was important to have transparency throughout the process to ensure that all parties understood my role as a researcher.

Individuals who agreed to participate in the study received a follow up email or face to face visit thanking them for agreeing to participate, and to set up times for the interviews to take place. The emails were sent through their district email, to which I have access.

Protection of Human Subjects

Protecting the participants and ensuring that the research process will not cause any harm to the participants is an important part of research (Creswell, 2012). As a researcher, I took extra precautions to ensure that potential participants remain protected. I participated in the training through the National Institute of Health via a web based course called *Protecting Human Research Participants*. This evaluation posed minimal risk to participants, and all potentially identifying information was removed or changed. I advised the participants that participation in the study is voluntary, and their personal information will be confidential and that names were eliminated using an alphanumeric coding system. The identification code consisted of their grade level and first letter of their title. For example: Teacher 1 in Grade 3 will be T13. I notified participants that for any reason they would like to discontinue participating in the study, they were free to withdraw. Participants were given an informed consent form and asked for permission to audio record their interviews. The informed consent form contained my contact information as well as the contact information of my advisor and Walden University's IRB approval numbers.

Data Collection

This modified objectives oriented program evaluation was used to identify how team members develop and maintain collaboration and collective inquiry to close the achievement gap and improve student achievement. The data collection for this study consisted of interviews using semistructured open ended questions and a document review of the team meeting notes. The data were collected from teachers, assistant principal, principal, and learning coach who participated in the implementation of the PLC from its inception. A semistructured interview was used for participants to share their perspectives about collaboration and collective inquiry and how they affect student achievement. When using a semistructured interview, the researcher prepares questions ahead of time and allows participants the autonomy to express their views (Creswell, 2012). Open-ended interview questions were appropriate for the participants in this study. Semistructured interviews were appropriate for the study because of the nature of the problem. The questions were constructed to stimulate in-depth descriptions of the implementation of the PLC based on the framework and aligned with the research questions.

Document Analysis

Documents are a valuable source that can provide important information for understanding the phenomena in qualitative studies (Creswell, 2012). Teachers had weekly PLC meetings with their grade level team and interventionists, who are licensed teachers and provide additional support for students in mathematics, writing, and reading. Teachers were required to complete an agenda that include objectives, action steps, and the focus for the next meeting. K-5 grade level teams were required to submit weekly team meeting notes to the principal. Each week the team leader submitted summaries of the meeting to the principal. In each summary the team leader included objectives identifying what the group wants students to know, evidence of student learning, how the team will respond when students achieve the skills, and when they need extra support. The team determined how and what data were used, and the instructional changes were included in the team meeting notes. Team meeting notes from the year 2016/17 were used for this study, because team meeting notes were not collected during the PLC implementation year 2015/2016.

I contacted the principal in person for team meeting notes. The team meeting notes were delivered to me in a jump drive that I provided. After collection, I examined the notes to identify how teams collaborated and used collective inquiry to improve student achievement. I examined the PLC form that each team submitted. Fitzpatrick, Sanders, and Worthen (2011) placed emphasis on the collection of existing information, documents, or records that might answer the evaluation questions. I collected the documents after I received permission to conduct the study from Walden's IRB and the school principal. I obtained a signed permission letter and data use agreement from the local principal.

Interview Procedures

The teachers, administration, and learning coaches were interviewed with openended questions regarding collective inquiry and collaboration in the PLC. Semistructured interviews were conducted with the teachers, learning coach, assistant principal, and principal at the local site. Qualitative research uses the natural setting where the researcher attempts to observe, describe, and interpret the meanings of events for the individuals who experience them (Patton, 1990, p. 55). Qualitative interviews featured open ended questions that allowed individuals to describe their experiences with the implementation of the PLC. Teachers, learning coach, and the principals had separate interview questions. Interview questions were designed to allow participants to provide detailed descriptions about collaboration and collective responsibilities in the PLC. The interviews were scheduled over two months, with one to two interviews occurring each week.

At the beginning of the interview, I thanked each participant for participating in the study. I reviewed their rights and informed consent. I asked each participant if they were ready to begin the interview. The interviews were audio recorded using an IPAD and were interviewed once for 45-60 minutes. All interviews occurred in the school's conference room at convenient times for the participants. A Do Not Disturb Interviews in Progress sign was placed on the conference room door to ensure that there were no interruptions during the interviews. Each participant in the group was asked the same questions following the interview protocol. I asked probing and or follow up questions as necessary. An example of these questions is included in the interview protocol for teachers, learning coach, assistant principal, and principal. After the completion of the interview, I thanked the participant participating in the interview.

Storage and Handling Data

Team-meeting notes were collected from the principal immediately after IRB approval. I collected team meeting notes for the 2016/17 school year. Electornic teammeeting notes were stored on a flash drive by month, date, and year. Interviews were conducted at the local site. Once the interviews were completed, the interview data were downloaded and stored by grade level in a locked file on a password protected computer at my home. No one else had access to the data. An alphanumeric identification code was assigned to each participant. The identification codes consisted of their grade levels and first letters of their titles. For example: Teacher 1 in Grade 3 will be T13. Data will be kept for five years and then destroyed using a paper shredder. Recorded interviews were saved on a flash drive will be kept for five years beyond completion of this study and then erased.

Role of the Researcher

My professional position at the research site is a third-grade teacher and PLC member employed with the district for the last 3 years at the research site. I participate in weekly PLC meetings with the Grade 3 team. I collaborate with my teammates and identify instructional strategies, create and teach lessons, and participate in discussions to improve student achievement. I know the program that is being evaluated due to my position. As a PLC team member and teacher, data collection was not affected. Data were collected from PLC team members in Grades 1, 2, 4, and 5. I excluded myself from

data collection on the third grade PLC team that I serve. The principal was supportive of the program being evaluated.

I have a professional relationship will all the potential participants. The relationship with the principal and assistant principal is supervisory. The principal supervises me and provides instructional feedback and suggestions to improve academic achievement. The assistant principal was and is responsible for providing support and feedback on instructional practices, student behavior concerns, and positive behavior programs. The professional relationship with the learning coach was and is collegial. The learning coach provided support for classroom instruction, resources, and suggestions for improving student achievement. Furthermore, I have a collegial relationship with the teachers. We attend trainings and staff meetings and collaborate to improve instruction. We do not have a personal relationship outside of school. My professional relationships with the participants did not affect data collection, analysis, and reporting of the data.

I have extensive experience in professional learning communities. I know the program being evaluated due to my position in the school. I participated in PLC workshops, trainings, and meetings for over 10 years. Additionally, I participated in the implementation of various professional development programs and new programs adopted by the district and district committees for over 24 years. I developed course curriculum, classroom activities, and professional development for teachers. I was a member of the PLC district committee. To reduce potential bias in analyzing and

reporting the data, I conducted member-checking and triangulation. Each of these procedures are described in detail under Evidence of Quality.

Potential Bias

As the researcher and teacher at the K-5 school, I have a bias regarding the implementation of the PLC. It might be difficult to maintain objectivity because of my role in the program; therefore, I used two strategies to prevent my bias affecting data analysis and reporting the findings. Researcher bias was minimized by conducting member checking and triangulating the data. Member checking were used to ensure that bias does not have affect the interpretation of the data (Lodico et al., 2010).

Data Analysis

Thematic analysis was used to analyze team meeting notes and interviews. Braun and Clarke (2006) described thematic analysis as the process of identifying, analyzing, and reporting themes within data. Miles, Huberman, and Saldana (2014) suggested that qualitative data analysis consist of data reduction, data display, and analysis. Documents and interviews were analyzed using thematic analysis and analysis took place immediately after they were collected. The qualitative data analysis for this program evaluation consisted of reading interview transcripts and team-meeting notes to identify and code temporary patterns or themes. A priori codes based on the frameworks and related literature and open and axials codes, which I derived from the data, were used to analyze the data. Miles et al. defined codes as the labels that assign symbolic meaning to the descriptive information compiled during a study. Once the labels were created, I grouped them into themes.

Document Analysis

The qualitative document data were analyzed using thematic analysis and a document review protocol. Braun and Clark (2006) defined thematic analysis as a method that is used in qualitative research to identify, analyze, and report patterns in data. Furthermore, thematic analysis is simple to use, can be used with any theory, and allows rich, detailed, and complex description of data. Thematic analysis using a priori, open, and axial codes were used to analyze PLC team meeting notes and interview data. In this three step analysis, I used a priori coding, based on the conceptual framework and relevant literature, followed by open and axial coding strategies to explore how the categories from coded data relate to each other. I analyzed all documents before the interviews were conducted. Documents are a valuable source that can provide important data in qualitative studies (Creswell, 2012). Creswell's six steps of data analysis was used for this study. The six steps include to (a) become familiar with the data, (b) organize the data, (c) code the data, (d) establish themes, (e) report the findings, and (f) use validation procedures to ensure the findings are accurate.

Step 1: Becoming familiar with the data. The first step in data analysis is to become familiar with the data and to make sure that the data are in a form that can be easily analyzed (Lodico et al., 2010). Qualitative researchers immerse themselves in the data to conduct a preliminary exploratory analysis to gain an overview of the data collected and to see if there is sufficient data (Creswell, 2012). Qualitative researchers may engage in multiple readings to develop a sense of the overall flow and structure of the data (Lodico et al.). I read the documents to become familiar with the data. I wrote

notes in the margins about key concepts, phrases, and ideas that relate to collective inquiry and collaboration.

Step 2: Organizing the data. Researchers must decide on a way to organize the large amounts of data (Lodico et al., 2010). I organized the data by participant groups - learning coach, teachers, and administrators. Second, I organized team meeting notes by grade level teams. There are six PLC teams; Grade 3 was excluded because I am on that team. A Microsoft Word table was used to organize team meeting notes by grade level and participant interviews. This table assisted me when determining patterns and interrelationships among categories at the axial coding stage.

Step 3: Coding the data. Coding is an inductive process that involves identifying segments of data that describe the phenomena and labeling those parts with categories (Lodico et al., 2010). It is a process that involves examining data, reducing data to manageable chunks, and identifying connections for analysis. Lodico et al. described the coding sequence as (a) selecting document data or interview data to review, (b) reviewing the data to think about ideas or issues that seem important, (c) highlighting the part of the data that relates to research questions and creating a code word or phrase, (d) continuing to create codes, and (e) making a list of the codes. First, I selected the team meeting notes to examine. Second, I re-examined the data to think about ideas that related to collaboration and collective inquiry. Third, I manually coded the team meeting notes in two stages. In stage one, I read the documents to identify key words and develop a priori codes derived from the conceptual framework on collective inquiry and collaboration. This resulted in many codes that were reduced in the second stage of

coding. For stage two, I used open and axial coding once a priori coding was completed. In open coding, events, actions, and interactions are compared for similarities and differences and searched for repetition of words and phrases (Strauss & Corbin, 1990). During the second level of coding, I open coded the a priori codes, examining the a priori codes for repetition and similarity of concepts. Then following open coding, axial coding involved generating categories and investigating possible connections found in the documents. The codes were compared, refined, and merged to form meaningful categories and to reduce the number of codes. I examined the categories for patterns to generate themes that address the research questions. I examined the codes and extracted text segments that relate to collaboration and collective inquiry.

Step 4: Themes. Themes are the deeper analysis that combines the codes in a way that allows the researchers to organize ideas to explain what they have learned from the study (Lodico et al., 2010). Themes emerged from the axial coded data based on patterns and relationships among the codes. The theme is a description of ideas, patterns, and assumptions based on the data (Lodico et al.). I reduced the number of codes and identified themes that accurately describe the data. I re-read all the data to ensure that the coded data fit into the themes and created a thematic map. The visual representation helped me to sort the codes into themes.

Step 5: Reporting findings. Qualitative researchers write a report that includes the researcher's interpretation of what the data means, and that information is reported in a non-quantitative, narrative manner (Lodico et al., 2010). I created a visual diagram to represent the themes that emerged from the data. I examined excerpts from team meeting

notes. I organized the report by theme and addressed the research questions. I used direct quotes from interviews and documents as evidence to support the findings. I summarized the results using a narrative approach.

Step 6: Validation of findings. Member checks and triangulation were used to validate the findings. Validation of the findings will be explained in detail under Evidence of Quality.

Interview Data Analysis

As mentioned earlier I used Creswell's six steps of data analysis for the interviews. Step 1, becoming familiar with the data. I audio recorded the participant interviews and then transcribed the recordings. First, I familiarized myself with the data by reading the raw data numerous times. Merriam (2009) suggested that each piece of data should be analyzed soon after it is collected. Recordings of the interviews were listened to and transcripts were read numerous times to become familiar with the data. Second, the teachers, learning coach, and administrators' interview transcripts were analyzed separately.

Step 2: Organizing the data. I organized the data by participant groups learning coach, teachers, and administrators. Second, I organized team meeting notes by grade level teams.

Step 3: Coding the data. After the interviews were completed, I selected transcripts to be analyzed. I reviewed the documents to examine connections that relate to collaboration and collective inquiry. Transcripts were manually coded in two stages. In stage one, I read the transcripts to identify key words and develop a priori codes based

on DuFour, DuFour, Eaker, and Many's (2006) conceptual framework on collective inquiry and collaboration. This resulted in many codes that were reduced in the second stage of coding. For stage two, I used open and axial coding once a priori coding was completed. In open coding, events, actions, and interactions are searched for repetition of words and phrases. Following open coding, axial coding involved generating categories and investigating possible relationships between the data and the codes. The codes were compared, refined, and merged to form meaningful categories and to reduce the numbers of codes. I examined the categories for patterns to generate temporary themes that address the research questions. I examined the codes and extracted text segments that relate to collaboration and collective inquiry.

Step 4: Themes. I examined the axial codes in relation to the data. Themes emerged from the axial coded data based on the patterns and relationships among the codes. I reduced the number of codes and identified themes that accurately described the data. The data were reviewed and reread to ensure that the coded data fit into themes and a thematic map was created to provide a visual of the themes and relative data. Themes emerged from the documents and interview data based on the theoretical concept and literature review.

Step 5: Report findings. I analyzed the data for themes that emerged and reported the findings. I created a conceptual map to represent the themes that emerged from the data analysis. I organized the report by themes and addressed the research questions. I reported the findings by using direct quotes from the interviews.

Step 6: Validation of findings. I used member checks and triangulation to ensure the findings are accurate. Validation of the findings are explained in detail under Evidence of Quality.

Evidence of Quality

Steps were taken to ensure the credibility and accuracy of the data and findings. Member checks were used to support evidence of quality by returning the findings to the participants to verify the interpretations for accuracy of their data (Creswell, 2012). Once analysis was completed, I emailed participants a two page summary of my findings and instructed them to check the findings for accuracy of their data. Participants were given one week to respond whether they located inaccuracies of their data. No inaccuracies were noted by the participants.

Lodico, Spaulding, and Voegtle (2010) stated that confirming evidence is obtained through triangulation, the process of comparing different sources of data. Merriam (2009) conveyed that credibility is supported through triangulation by providing various sources. This process validates that there is sufficient evidence from all sources to substantiate the themes that have emerged. The findings from the interviews and team meeting notes from the teachers, learning coach, and administration were crosschecked to ensure there is corroboration between the document and interview data.

Discrepant or Nonconforming Cases

During the data analysis phase of the research, I may encounter information that challenges the findings. When conflicting perspectives are found, qualitative researchers must reexamine other data sources to see if the differences can be resolved (Lodico et al., 2010). I examined the data for contradictions that did not support collective inquiry and collaboration. Because there were no negative instances identified, no further analysis was required.

Limitations

The qualitative research method and data collection methods are a limitation to the study. First, qualitative research is a limitation because it is used to gain understanding of the underlying reasons of the phenomenon through collection of narrative data. Quantitative research uses numerical data that can be transformed into usable statistics. The conclusions and generalizations that are formulated at the end of the study have a predetermined degree of certainty (Lodico et al., 2010). Quantitative data collection methods are more structured than qualitative methods. Qualitative data does not generalize to the general population (Lodico et al.). To address transferability, I used rich, thick descriptions and excerpts from transcripts and documents. Mixed methods uses qualitative and quantitative data to communicate the results and findings (Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2014). Using both types of approaches provides additional support and evidence for the findings.

Data collection is a limitation. By restricting the program evaluation to only qualitative research method, team meeting notes, and interviews were the only data used. Words were the primary source for data analysis used to reach a conclusion of whether or not the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met. No quantitative data were collected to substantiate whether the achievement gap was closed and student achievment improved.

Findings

Research findings for this study are based on team meeting notes and open-ended interview data from teachers, learning coach, and administration. The participants were asked questions pertaining to their perceptions regarding the implementation of the PLC on whether the goals of collective inquiry and collaboration were achieved. All qualitative data were analyzed using thematic analysis and were coded using a priori, open, and axial coding strategies.

In an effort to improve teacher and student learning, a professional development program based on the PLC model was implemented at the target school for the 2015/16 school year. The selected site was performing below state level expectations in reading, writing, and mathematics. Using a PLC to increase student achievement and close the achievement gap did not produce the outcomes desired by school leaders. There was a need for formative evaluation of collaboration and collective inquiry goals, because students continue to fail to meet grade level state expectations. The following research questions were created to evaluate teacher collaboration and collective inquiry at the research site:

Research Question 1: How do PLC team members develop and maintain collaboration using the PLC to close the achievement gap and improve student achievment?

Research Question 2: How do PLC team members use collective inquiry to improve student performance?

Documents

Team meeting notes were collected, recorded on the document review protocol, stored on my personal, password protected computer, and were analyzed thematically. I sorted team meeting notes by participant groups and grade levels and analyzed them using a two-step process. Step 1: analyzed data by grade level and participant group (teachers, learning coach, and administrators). Step 2: analyzed the data for all participants. I read the documents to become familiar with the data and to think about ideas and issues that relate to collective inquiry and collaboration.

In the initial stage of analysis, I highlighted data that were linked to the a priori codes: collaboration (yellow) and collective inquiry (green) from the framework and related literature review.

Table 3 shows an example of a priori codes applied to the documents. The left column contains the a priori code, the middle column indicates the participant group (teachers, learning coach, and administration), and the right column contains excerpt examples from the documents.

Table 3

A Priori Coding Example for collaboration and Collective Inquiry

Collaboration						
Code	Group	Excerpt				
Instructional planning on standards and curriculum	Teachers	Created learning target: I can name the main idea/topic with details.				
Identify what students need to know and how educators will address these challenges	Learning Coach	Discussed data collection and graphing activities				
Data Dialogue	Administration	DIBELS progress monitoring				
Collective Inquiry						
Code	Group	Excerpt				
Participate in continuous learning.	Teachers	DIBELS progress monitoring				
Teachers interact to hear multiple perspectives, challenge practices, acquire new understanding about the curriculum	Learning Coach	Met with Learning Coach to go over data, read naturally, and future reading ideas.				
Principal instructional leadership	Administration	Emailed meeting notes to principal.				

This resulted in many codes that I reduced using open coding. In the second stage of coding, I open coded the a priori codes by searching for repetitions of words and phrases. I labeled the repeated words with a term that defines the open code. Table 4 is an example of open coding applied to the documents. The left column contains the open code, the middle column indicates the participant group, and the right column contains an excerpt from the documents.

Table 4

Open	Coding	Example	for	Collaboration	and	Collective	Inqi	iiry
------	--------	---------	-----	---------------	-----	------------	------	------

Collaboration						
Code	Group	Excerpt				
Instructional planning on standards and curriculum	Teachers	Extend and enrich learning				
Improve teaching	Learning Coach	Conversations with learning coach, ELL, and SPED.				
Data-driven Decision making	Administration	Looked at progress monitoring and benchmark scores				
	Collective Inquiry					
Code	Group	Excerpt				
Team tools	Teacher	Created checklists				
Common Formative Assessments: Analyzing data	Learning Coach	Collaborated on district program assessments				
Instructional Leadership	Administration	Requested principal to come teach a research day in their classrooms				

During the third stage of coding, I used axial coding to make connections between the data and the open codes. I searched for relationships among the open codes and grouped similar codes into categories. The categories for collaboration focused on student learning, teachers working together, data driven decision making, and improved instruction (Appendix F). The axial codes for collective inquiry focused on improving student learning, collaboration to improve instruction, and data to improve student achievement (Appendix F). Table 5 shows examples of how axial coding was applied to the document data. The left column contains the axial code, the middle column indicates the participant group (teachers, learning coach, and administration), and the right column

contains an excerpt from the documents that supports the code.

Table 5

Axial Coding Example for Collaboration and Collective Inquiry

Code	Group	Excerpt				
Focusing on teacher instruction	Teachers	Creating groups and intervention schedules.				
Focusing on improving student learning and achievement	Learning Coach	Interventions				
Data driven decision making	Administrations	Review data				
Collective Inquiry						
Code	Group	Excerpt				
Focus on improving student learning.	Teachers	Created checklists and rubrics				
Focus on collaboration to improve instruction	Learning Coach	Modeling				
Focus on data to improve student achievement	Administration	Examined student data				

Collaboration

Interviews

The teachers, administration, and learning coach were interviewed using openended questions that allowed the participants to describe their experiences with the implementation of the PLC. Teachers, administration, and the learning coach had separate interview questions that were designed to allow participants to provide detailed descriptions about collaboration and collective inquiry. The interviews were transcribed manually in Word documents. In the initial stage of coding, I sorted team meeting notes and analyzed them using a two-step process: Step 1: analyzed data by grade level and participant group (teachers, learning coach, and administrators). Step 2: analyzed the data for all participants. I read the interviews to become familiar with the data and to think about ideas and issues that related to collective inquiry and collaboration.

A priori codes were used for the first stage of coding for collective inquiry and collaboration. A priori codes based on the conceptual framework and relevant literature were developed prior to examining the data (Saldana, 2013). I highlighted the data that related to the predetermined a priori codes: collaboration (yellow) and collective inquiry (green) from the framework and related literature review. Table 6 shows an example of a priori codes applied to the data from interviews. The left column contains the a priori code, the middle column indicates the participant group (teachers, learning coach, and administration), and the right column contains an excerpt from the transcripts.

Table 6

l Priori Coding Example	for	Collaboration	and	Collective	Inquiry
-------------------------	-----	---------------	-----	------------	---------

Collaboration							
Code	Group	Excerpt					
Instructional planning on standards and curriculum	Teachers	Teams struggle with identifying the power standards and what they want to focus on.					
Identify what students need to know and how educators will address these challenges.	Learning Coach	Looked at previous year's data and determined what the kids needed the most.					
Common Formative Assessments	Administration	Retested students so we can see if instruction was effective.					
	Collective Inquiry						
Code	Group	Excerpt					
Participate in continuous learning	Teachers	Collaborative conversations with team members on instruction practices					
Share ideas- reflect on effective ways of teaching	Learning Coach	Collaborative conversations focused on student performance- What do you see your kids doing?					
Engage in reflective dialogue	Administration	Identified how teachers taught, retaught, and identified strategies other teachers are using.					

In the second stage of coding, I open coded the a priori codes. I searched for repetitions of words and phrases among the a priori codes. I labeled the repeated words with a term that defines the open code. This process resulted in 14 open codes (Appendix G). Table 7 shows an example of open coding applied to the interview transcripts. The left column contains the open code, the middle column indicates the participant group (teachers, learning coach, and administration), and the right column contains an excerpt from the transcripts.

Table 7

Open Codi	ng Example	e for Coll	ective Inqui	iry and C	Collaboration
-----------	------------	------------	--------------	-----------	---------------

Collaboration				
Code	Group	Excerpt		
Standards	Teachers	Discussed grade level standards with teammates		
Data-driven decision making discussions	Learning Coach	Attend and participate in monthly Think Tank meetings to make sure people are looking at their data to drive instruction.		
Improve Teaching Practice	Administration	Provide support for teachers to analyze data.		
	Collective Inquiry			
Code	Group	Excerpt		
Strategies to improve teaching	Teachers	Researched the internet and shared those ideas with team members		
PLC discussions	Learning Coach	Talking through difficulties teachers are having in the classroom with teammates who are more experienced in specific subject areas.		
Instructional Leadership	Administration	Principal provides subs so that we can go around and watch other teachers or visit schools.		

During the third stage of coding, I used axial coding to make connections between the data and the open codes (Appendix H). I searched for relationships among the open codes and grouped similar codes into categories. Table 8 shows examples of how axial coding was applied to the interview data. The left column contains the axial code, the middle column indicates the participant group (teachers, learning coach and administration), and the right column contains an excerpt from the transcripts.

Table 8

Axial Coding Example for Collective Inquiry and Collaboration

Collaboration					
Code	Group	Excerpt			
Using collective inquiry to improve teaching	Teachers	Improve teaching practices			
Commitment to continuous student improvement	Learning coach	Data driven decision making			
Sharing teaching experiences to improve student learning	Administration	PLC discussions			
	Collective Inquiry				
Code	Group	Excerpt			
Identifying and clarifying student knowledge, skills, and learning needs	Teachers	Reviewed common formative assessment data and student performance.			
Leadership emphasis on building share knowledge, collaboration and improving teacher learning and student achievement	Administration	Teachers discuss what they see on the data whether positive or negative and then use that discussion to change teaching practice.			
Data driven decision making focused on improving instruction and student learning	Learning Coach	We look at our standards and determine where the weakest standards are so that we can come up teaching methods.			
Collaborating to improve teacher practice	Administration	Principals engage teachers with instructional strategies, support for teacher development, instructional choice, giving suggestions, and maintaining a focus on improving instruction and student learning			

I returned to the categories and searched the axial codes to identify temporary themes. To move from categories to themes, I examined the axial codes for patterns among the coded data to develop themes. Saldana (2013) stated that themes identify the major concepts or issues that the researcher uses to interpret and explain the data. Three themes emerged from qualitative research question 1: "How do team members develop and maintain collaboration to close the achievement gap?" The themes that emerged were:

- The PLC team researched and shared new strategies, activities, and resources used by teachers.
- 2. The PLC team used data driven decision making to identify gaps in student learning and academic skills to adjust instructional practices.
- 3. The PLC team build trusting relationships among team members.

One theme emerged from research question 2, "How do PLC team members use collective inquiry to improve student performance?" The theme that emerged was:

1. PLC team used collaborative conversations and reflective dialogue during team and think tank meetings to analyze student data and alter instruction.

Table 9 identifies the four themes identified. The left column contains the categories and the right column contains the themes identified from the data.

Table 9

Themes

Axial Categories	Themes
Develop collaboration	The PLC team researched, and shared new
	strategies, activities, and resources used
	by teachers
	The PLC team used data driven decision
	making to identify gaps in student
	learning and academic skills and to adjust
	instructional practices.
Maintain collaboration	The PLC team built trusting relationships
	among team members
Collective inquiry to improve student	The PLC team used collaborative
achievement	conversations and reflective dialogue
	during team and think tank meetings to
	analyze student data and alter instruction.

Theme 1: The PLC team researched and shared new strategies, activities, and resources used by the teachers.

Sharing strategies

The first theme relates to the research question one: How do PLC team members develop and maintain collaboration to close the achievement gap and improve student achievement? Teachers from all grade levels identified that sharing knowledge, experiences, and suggestions for trying new strategies influenced student achievement. Individual teachers identified ideas and instructional strategies that worked in the classroom. The following responses denoted the participants' comments concerning the sharing of strategies. T42 (fourth grade teacher) shared strategies to teach standards, "I pulled ...information that goes with specific standards and tie[d] it to an actual book." All

grade level teams shared strategies to teach concepts and identify grade level goals. T43 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "We talk about what skills students need, what we are doing, and how we can improve student achievement." Evidence from the document review identified teachers working together to seek ways to improve teaching.

Sharing expertise to improve teaching skills and academic performance supports the framework. Kelly and Cherkowski (2015) indicated that teachers share expertise to increase knowledge on what is working in the classroom and the need for change to improve student learning. Riveros, et al. (2015) identified that collaborative practices that provide instructional support improves teaching and student achievement.

The PLC team identified that collaborating during the PLC team meeting changed their teaching practice. During team meetings teachers volunteered ideas and strategies that worked or brainstormed ideas and strategies for specific skills or grade level expectations. T42 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "We learn from each other... and identify practices ... that are working. This helps [us] to implement them so [teachers] and students can improve." Volunteering ideas and strategies is supported by the framework. DuFour et al., (2010) identified that one of the main goals of continuous improvement is for teachers to learn new strategies while creating an environment that encourages lifelong learning, innovation, and experimentation. Teachers planned instructional goals with grade level teams to determine what skills will be taught. Although administrators did not direct PLC teams to use the strategies, they did direct teachers to share ideas and strategies during the PLC team meeting. A1 (administrator) asked teachers to "[identify] some of the strategies that you are using because clearly

your kids have it." This type of collaboration is supported by the framework. Kelly and Cherkowski (2015) reported that collaboration provides teachers the opportunities to work together to expand their expertise, discuss challenges, and actively learn about their practices with their colleagues. As evidenced in the PLC team meeting notes, the PLC team identified what students need to know, created learning targets and checklists, and created common goals to improve student achievment.

The PLC team worked together to align instruction, curriculum, and assessment to create clear and consistent expectations for student learning. The following responses denoted the participants' comments concerning teachers collaboratively working together focused on improving instructional practice. T11 (first grade teacher) stated, "we brainstormed different ideas, strategies, taking it back to our classroom and trying it... [to] see if it is making a difference in our students." T51 (fifth grade teacher), "we all have our...specific skills... [and we] share what we are good at." Collaborating among PLC team members to create clear expectations for student learning is supported by the framework. Kelly and Cherkowski (2015) recognized that teachers use evidence of student learning to collaborate and reflect on their teaching practice, evaluate the success of their efforts, identify specific goals, and develop strategies to achieve the goals. DuFour (2015) believed that teachers meet to gather evidence of student learning, develop and implement strategies, discover effective strategies, and then apply those strategies in a continuous cycle of improvement. The PLC team met in weekly PLC meetings to collaborate on instructional practices, close the achievement gap, and improve student achievement. T43 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "we discuss what we

think is going well, what is not, and what someone did that was new." When teachers collaborate to increase their pedagogical knowledge, they possess a clearer understanding on what is working in the classroom and the need for change to improve student learning (Kelly & Cherkowski, 2015). The PLC team collaborating to share strategies to change instruction supports the district goals of collaboration and collective inquiry. The PLC team meet in meaningful teams to discuss student achievement, share knowledge, and identify strategies to improve student achievement. Teachers changed the way they taught specific activities based on the PLC team meeting discussions.

To summarize, the PLC team reported benefiting from identifying and sharing strategies during weekly PLC team meetings to improve instruction and student achievement. The PLC team engaged in conversations with teammates to align instruction and clear expectations for student learning. PLC team members collaboratively engaged in conversations across grade levels to improve instructional practices.

Sharing activities

The PLC team shared activities and observed teachers to identify activities to improve student achievement and close the achievement gap. The learning coach encouraged PLC team members to share activities that worked in their classrooms. The following responses denoted the participants' comments concerning the sharing of activities. Teachers shared reading activities based on specific standards to close the achievement gap and improve student achievement. Teachers used grade level readers to teach specific skills. T23 (second grade teacher) shared an activity to support student skills, "I used the level reader to support main idea." T23 (second grade teacher) stated, "we build...skills that they need...[by] bringing in a nonfiction text into our small group or that kids can do independently." T15 (first grade teacher) shared, "I used to stick strictly to the district approved curriculum, another teacher taught me how to do small group instruction using novels." Evidence from the team meeting notes identified that the PLC team shared ideas and concerns for advanced writers.

Teachers observed other teachers to see how they were teaching specific lessons and identified ideas for activities they were using in their classrooms. T11 (first grade teacher) stated, "I have observed my other teammates teaching specific lessons." T51 (fifth grade teacher) stated, "You have the opportunity to go around the school and sit in and watch someone teach a lesson." The administration provided time for teachers to observe other schools and teachers. Teachers visited other schools to identify new activities that would improve student achievement. T51 (fifth grade teacher) stated, "I went to another school to see if we could implement some new [ideas]." Teachers identified successful instructional techniques to replicate in their instruction. T21 (second grade teacher) stated, "to see what one teacher is doing that is successful and...replicate that in our instruction." Darling-Hammond, Hyler, and Gardner (2017) stated that teachers engage in opportunities to use models of effective practice by observing peer teachers and colleagues, participating in a cohort of teachers, and mentoring. This supports the district goal of collaboration because teachers learn from one another and share those activities they learned in their teams to improve teaching

practice. The PLC teachers observed peer teachers and colleagues to identify activities they could use to improve their teaching practice.

To summarize, the PLC teachers observed other teachers and visited schools to identify new instructional ideas they could use in their classroom. To improve reading instruction, teachers shared grade level activities using leveled and nonfiction texts based on specific grade level standards. Successful teaching instruction was replicated and implemented by team members to improve student achievement.

Sharing resources

Teachers identified coteachers' knowledge and experience, collaborative conversations, instructional materials, and the internet as resources to improve student learning and close the achievement gap. Teachers engaged in collaborative conversations to discover new teaching resources. The following responses denoted the participants' comments concerning the sharing of resources to improve student achievement.

Teachers engaged in conversations with co-teachers to share knowledge and experience. T22 (second grade teacher) stated, "We are always ...working together and teaching each other how to teach it." Teachers shared their knowledge and teaching experience as resources to improve student achievement. T42 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "giving each other ideas ...where to go and get more training...and [to]teach you different ways to approach things." T43 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "we have one person on our team who is really good with different reading skills..., has a lot of knowledge in reading, what works and does not, and is always up on new techniques." Teachers need new opportunities to learn to teach more effectively by engaging in conversations with coteachers to share knowledge and experience (Jones & Dexter, 2014). Collaborative conversations are supported by the framework. Teachers who engage in collaborative conversations have the potential to transform teaching practices that will improve student achievement by discussing ideas, brainstorming, and sharing ideas with their peers.

PLC team members participated in collaborative conversations on instructional planning, standards and curriculum, identifying what students need to know, and how they will improve student achievement. Constructing professional knowledge occurs when teachers are engaged in social interactions and reflections with colleagues or support personnel (Van Lare & Brazer, 2013). These conversations are opportunities for teachers to share resources relative to the elements of teacher planning and teaching. T24 (second grade teacher) identified collaborative conversations as a resource to improve teaching by "giving me new ideas and new ways to approach things." One resource used in the PLC teams was the learning coach. LC1 (learning coach) provided assistance and support to teachers by "giving suggestions where needed and try and support teachers, ... and modeling best practices." The learning coach served as viable resource for teachers in the PLCs to share knowledge focused on improving instruction is supported by the framework for collaboration. Sharing knowledge and strategies may provide teachers with opportunities to reflect on their instruction, identify new ways of teaching, address challenges, and receive freeback to improve instruction. Hairon, Goh and Chua (2015) identified teachers, who share strategies with colleagues in collegial and collaborative conversations, promote teacher learning and development, reflect on their

instruction, and change their teaching practice. As evidenced in the team meeting notes, the PLC team shared knowledge to improve teaching practice by discussing ways to improve insturction, clarifying classroom routines that support student learning, and agreeing on how to teach specific concepts.

The PLC team discussed, and shared teaching resources used in their classrooms to improve student achievement. T43 (fourth grade teacher) discussed different resources to improve student achievement, "we talk about...different activities or assessments, exit tickets, small group learning, or using a different program." In the team meeting, T21 (second grade teacher) shared how to use the writing rubric, and a common rubric was developed to improve student writing, "we looked at the writing rubrics and how we were grading them, our expectations, and [made] a common rubric to improve student writing." T24 (second grade teacher) used the district aligned benchmark to identify standards students need to know." We use our district aligned benchmark [to identify] standards that are hit most on the state assessment and work our kids up to that expectation." One teacher searched the internet for resources to improve instruction. T13 (first grade teacher) acknowledged, "here I found this on the internet, we should try it." The admistrators directed discussions about classroom instruction and brainstormed ideas and resources during PLC team meetings. One teacher stated, "they [the administration] are really good at asking us how is this different in our classes...and helping us to brainstorm ideas." As evidenced in the team meeting notes, the PLC team created rubrics and checklists, discussed state released assessment items, and identified what students need to know.

To summarize, collaborative conversations were used by teachers to discover and share resources to improve student achievement. Coteachers' knowledge and experience, collaborative conversations, instructional and internet resources were resources teachers used to share knowledge and experience to improve student achievement. Additionally, the learning coach was used as an instructional resource to support teachers and model best instructional practices. Sharing instructional resources supports the district goal for collaboration. Teaching practice is transformed when PLC team members collaborate with peers to share resources to improve student achievement.

Theme 2: The PLC team used data-driven decision making to identify gaps in student learning and academic skills and to adjust instructional practices. The second theme relates to the research question one: How do PLC team members develop and maintain collaboration to close the achievement gap and improve student achievement? The PLC team reported using data to inform teaching practice and to identify how students are progressing academically.

Identifying Gaps in Student Learning and Achievement

The PLC team used district benchmark assessments, common formative assessments, and progress monitoring to identify gaps in student learning and achievement. The following responses denoted the participants' comments concerning identifying gaps in student learning. The PLC team collaborated to analyze data, identify gaps in student learning, and improve student achievement.

Teachers identified how students performed on district benchmark assessments to determine gaps in student learning. T42 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "we bring our data
to the meeting, go through each class individually, and then take a look at which students met or exceeded the expectation... [or] fell below [grade level expectations]." T12 (first grade teacher) stated, "we come together with specific data for the students, and we look at what students are doing well, which students are not doing so well." Using student data to identify gaps in student learning and achievement is supported by the framework. The PLC team analyzed data and then respond to the data by collaboratively identifying strategies to improve student achievment. During data discussions, the learning coach helped teachers to identify how students perfomed on meeting grade level standards. The administration suggested using student grouping to improve study achievement. As evidenced in the team meeting notes, the PLC team used data driven decision making to identify student progress on benchmark assessments.

The PLC team used common formative assessments to measure, monitor, and identify student progress in meeting grade level expectations and for their grade level and teacher designed assessments tied to grade level standards. T11 (first grade teacher) identified how student errors are determined to improve student achievement. "We give assessments...quarterly, we break them down based on the types of errors they are making, growth, or if they are making new errors, or continued error patterns. A1 (administration) identified the importance of using data to "... differentiate groups that have it [mastered the content] and do not have it, need additional support, and how teachers can group students." During team meetings the administration assisted teachers in making decisions to improve student learning by suggesting student grouping strategies. Lastly, the learning coach helped teachers analyze data to determine how

students performed on meeting grade level standards. Teachers created common formative assessment to identify gaps in student academic skills. T43 (fourth grade teacher) commented, "as a team we look at what skills our kids need to work on, and we create different assessments [to monitor student achievement]."

Teachers use progress monitoring data for English Language Arts. Students are monitored based on how they are performing. Students may be monitored weekly, biweekly, or monthly. Teachers also used progress monitoring data to measure the academic needs of individual students in reading, writing, and mathematics. T42 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "we...identify the most significant area of need and base our assessments... on improving that area." T13 (first grade teacher) stated, "we look at the data and try to and really look at each kid and what they need to do to improve." After reviewing the data, the PLC team identified skills students had not mastered to meet grade level expectations.

In summary, the PLC team used a variety of assessment formats to identify gaps in student learning and achievement. The assessment data were used to identify student progress, common errors, and performance according to grade level standards. The team discussed student data to determine their next instructional steps to improve student performance. Additionally, teachers reassessed students to determine if they were making academic improvement and close the achievement gap. Using data to drive instruction is supported by the PLC goals of collective inquiry and collaboration. Jones et al. (2013) and Williams (2013) supported collecting and analyzing student data to guide instruction.

Adjust Instructional Practices

During PLC team meetings, teachers used data to adjust instruction by identifying students who need extra support and used small group instruction and ability grouping to address student needs. Using data to adjust instruction is supported by the district goal of collaboration and collective inquiry. The PLC team analyzed student data, and then collaboratively discussed student performance to identify instructional supports to improve student achievement. LC1 (Learning Coach) stated how teachers use collaborative conversations in the PLC meeting to change teaching instruction. "Teachers go over their FCA [formative common assessments] data and discussed whether it [the data] is positive or negative, and then use that discussion to change teaching practice." The administration engaged teachers in collaborative data discussions to make instructional changes. One administrator stated, "you're doing all of these things but as you look at the data...what are we going to do different?" The notion of using data to make instructional decisions is echoed by Thessin (2015) who supported using data to identify which students need extra support, and which students have mastered the skills. Also, teachers used small and ability grouping to reteach and differentiate instruction. The following responses denoted the participants' comments concerning adjusting instructional practices. T42 (fourth grade teacher) identified how teachers used their data to adjust their instruction, "We look at the data, [and identify] what has worked in the past." T41 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "we look at data to identify whether or not the instructional practice was working [and use small group and ability grouping to change instruction]." As evidenced in the team meeting notes, the PLC team discussed student

performance, created intervention groups, and monitored student progress to improve student achievement.

Teachers shared knowledge and made adjustments to teaching practice based on how students were performing. T22 (second grade teacher) shared how teachers use knowledge from their grade level teams to adjust their teaching practice, "we share knowledge, take a look and see if someone is consistently having better scores, ...and then we have that person share out what... they are doing so that the others can change their practice." Adjusting teaching practices to improve student learning is supported by the framework. In a collegial culture, teachers learn from each other to adjust their teaching practices (Ho, Lee, & Teng, 2016). T11 (first grade teacher) identified how instruction was changed based on the academic success of students in other classes. "Last time that we met one of us had a big group of kids making one type of error and the others didn't have as many, so we talked about how we taught." Attard (2012) identified that professional dialogue aims to enable teachers to change teaching practice so that student learning is maximized. Adjusting instruction supports the district goal of collective inquiry.

Not only did the PLC teachers share knowledge to make instructional changes, the learning coach recommended adjusting instructional practices to improve student achievement. LC1 (Learning Coach) stated how teachers are supported in the PLC meeting to change teaching instruction. "Teachers go over their common formative assessments [CFA] data and discuss what [they] see on that data whether it is positive or negative, and then use that discussion to change teaching practice." The learning coach helped teachers to change their teaching practice by identifying standards that students were not proficient and identified teaching methods that teachers could use to change their instruction.

In summary, teachers adjusted instructional practices to improve student achievement by placing students in small groups based on their ability. Based on student data, teachers identified what instructional techniques worked to improve student learning. Teachers shared knowledge on successful instructional practices to adjust their teaching to meet the individual needs of their students. The learning coach supported teachers by analyzing student data and determining teaching methods that teachers could use to change their teaching practice. The administration engaged teachers in collaborative data discussions focused on making changes to their instruction. Sharing knowledge to change teaching practice is supported by the district goals of collaboration and collective inquiry. Teachers have to collaborate in order to share and respond to student data.

Theme 3: The PLC team demonstrated trusting relationships among team members. The third theme relates to Research Question 1: How do PLC team members develop and maintain collaboration to close the achievement gap and improve student achievement? PLC team members identified that trusting relationships influenced collaboration, professional relationships, and risk taking to improve student achievement. The following responses denoted the participants' comments concerning trusting relationships among team members. PLC members identified trusting relationships influenced collaboration and improved student achievement. T43 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "We can be honest with each other, ...we really don't hurt each other's feelings because we trust each other." The PLC team members felt that trust affects collaboration to improve student achievement. T42 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "I think trust goes along with the team. If you do not trust the people you work with, you are not going to collaborate very well, and not able to move the kids as well as you would want."

PLC members that formed trusting relationships with teammates were able to collaborate to improve student achievement. T22 (second grade teacher) believed that "you have to have trust to...collaborate meaningfully. If I did not trust, I would not try his practices in the classroom because I would not be sure he knew what he was doing." T43 (fourth grade teacher) acknowledged, "we trust each other that they are going to do what is best for all of our kids not just their own." As a result of trusting relationships, PLC team members engaged in supportive and productive interactions to improve student achievement. Trusting relations are supported by the framework. Team members who trust and respect each other participate in supportive and productive interactions with each other focused on improving achievement and learning (Ning, Lee, & Lee, 2015). Trusting relationships support the district goal of collaboration. The nature of the PLC requires trust among colleagues. When a trusting environment is present, PLC team members are more likely to engage with each other in the learning process and take risks to improve student achievement.

Teachers were willing to take risks and trust colleagues to improve student achievement. T42 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "I think because we have trust with each other, we are willing to go that extra mile and take risks to build the community and help each other." T43 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "I feel very fortunate that the teams have trust ...so that if we need to share students, we trust each other that the students are going to get what they need from our team." T41 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "We all bring something different to the team, ... [an] activity or ideas to do with the kids, so we trust each other that they are going to do what is best for all of our kids, not just their class." Teachers believed that they learned more when they interacted with teachers who they trusted enough to share problems, seek advice, and continue to develop closed and sustained bonds with other colleagues who shared the same insights (Buchanan, 2012).

In summary, as PLC team members work collaboratively, trust influenced their interactions and relationships. As a result of trusting relationships, teachers engaged in supportive and productive interactions to improve student achievement. Teachers who formed trusting relationships with team members were willing to take risks by trying different classroom practices and sharing students with each other to improve student achievement.

Theme 4: The PLC team used collaborative conversations and reflective dialogue during the team and Think Tank meetings to analyze student data and alter instruction. The fourth theme relates to Research Question 2: How do PLC team members use collective inquiry to improve student performance? The PLC team used collaborative conversations and reflective dialogue during team and think tank meetings to analyze student data and alter instruction to improve student performance. Teachers, the learning coach, the administration, and interventionists met in monthly meetings referred to as "think tank meetings" to engage in collaborative conversations to improve student achievement. The following responses denoted the participants' comments concerning collaborative conversations and reflective dialogue during Think Tank Meetings to analyze student data and alter instruction.

The administration and learning coach engaged teachers in collaborative conversations using reflective dialogue by asking questions, giving suggestions and strategies, and connecting teaching methods to best practices. Teachers engaged in collaborative conversations to share instructional practices during PLC and think tank meetings. Teachers worked together interdependently to influence their classroom practice to improve student achievement. T11 (first grade teacher) identified how collaborative conversations were used in the PLC meeting, "Keeping [focused] conversations around the targets has really helped." T43 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "We have people on our PLC who are very seasoned teachers and have a lot of background knowledge... so, we work together to learn from each other." Additionally, principals engaged teachers in collaborative conversations and reflective dialogue during think tank meetings to improve student achievement. A1 (administration) stated, "I use instructional leadership in team meetings through questioning, ... connecting it to best practices, giving suggestions, and strategies." Reflective dialogue is supported by the framework. PLC and think tank meetings provided the opportunity for teachers to share how they teach, listen to team members, and then reflect on how they might change their instruction.

PLC team members met during PLC and think tank meetings to share expertise, explore new concepts, and engage in collective problem solving to improve teaching practice. T51 (fifth grade teacher) shared that using knowledge and experiences has "improved my teaching." Reflective dialogues are conversations where teachers exchange knowledge, experience, conceptualize learning from problems in teacher practice to enhance understanding and problem solving (Schaap & de Brujin, 2018). T51 (fifth grade teacher) shared how reflective dialogue was used to exchange knowledge and experience on instructional strategies, "Using knowledge and experience from previous years [on] what worked and did not." T 24 (second grade teacher) identified how teachers learn together to improve teaching practice, "It is really good to have different ideas so that you try things from another teacher's perspective and teaching style." T41 (fourth grade teacher) identified, "I think [best] practices work for most people and being able to sit and talk with my team. Helps to broaden how I can become better at teaching...[and] make it better for kids." Teachers used reflective dialogue to seek new ways of teaching, learning, and provide alternative way of thinking to improve student achievement. T11 (first grade teacher) shared questions they ask to engage in reflective dialogue with teammates to improve student achievement, "How are you teaching, how are you reteaching, and what strategies are you noticing your kids are using? Teachers who engage in conversations hear multiple perspectives, solve problems, and acquire new understanding about the curriculum. Tam (2015) identified that when teachers discuss, brainstorm, and use reflective dialogue they are able to identify solutions to solve problems of practice. Additionally, this enables teachers to reconsider and revise their classroom practice. The administration and learning coach engaged teachers in collaborative conversations using reflective dialogue by asking questions, giving

suggestions and strategies, and connecting teaching methods to best practices. As evidenced in the team meeting notes, the PLC team agreed on how to teach specific concepts and changed the way they taught specific activities.

Teachers expressed ideas to improve collective inquiry during the PLC and think tank meetings. Teachers identified vertical and horizontal planning would help them obtain instructional resources to improve student achievement. T42 (fourth grade teacher) stated, "It would be nice to do some vertical teaming...[to] get some ideas outside of our team."

In summary, the PLC team used reflective dialogue in collaborative conversations to analyze student data and change teaching practice during team meetings and think tank meetings. Teachers engaged in collaborative conversations to share instructional strategies to improve teaching practice and student achievement. Teachers used collective inquiry to exchange knowledge, experience, and discuss problems they encounter in teacher practice. Feldman and Fataar (2014) stated that, "educators use collective inquiry to examine student data, understand their teaching and student learning, and identify evidence of learning to guide their instruction." Although these researchers referred to the PLC, the think tank has a specific purpose within the PLC at the research site. Think tank meetings are used by teachers, the learning coach, and administration at the local site to examine student data and determine instructional steps, and student support to improve student achievement. The administration and learning coach supported teachers by asking questions, giving suggestions and strategies, and connecting teaching methods to best practices. Teachers expressed that vertical and horizontal planning would benefit them in improving collective inquiry in PLC team meetings.

Summary of Findings

Findings from the document review supported the findings of the interviews. I examined the findings from the team meeting notes and interviews to validate the information from these sources. Four themes emerged from the analysis of the findings. The four themes are:

Theme 1: The PLC team researched and shared new strategies, activities, and resources used by teachers.

Theme 2: The PLC team used data driven decision making to identify gaps in student learning and academic skills and to adjust instructional practices.

Theme 3: The PLC team demonstrated trusting relationships among team members.

Theme 4: The PLC team used collaborative conversations and reflective dialogue during the team and Think Tank meetings to analyze student data and alter instruction.

The ultimate outcome for the district's PLC was that collaborative efforts of the PLC team members would produce increased student achievement and improve teaching quality using researched based instructional practices. Based on the findings, one benefit identified in the program evaluation was the PLC team's use of collaborative conversations to research and share strategies to improve instruction. Also, teachers observed other teachers at the research site and at other schools to identify teaching strategies and methods they could replicate and implement in their classrooms.

Collaborative conversations were used by teachers, learning coach, and administration to share resources, using coteachers' knowledge, and experience, instruction, internet resources, and the learning coach as an instructional resource to support teachers and model best instructional practices.

Another benefit that emerged from this program evaluation was that the PLC team used a variety of assessments to identify student progress, gaps in student learning, and performance on grade-level standards. Using collaborative conversations, the PLC team analyzed assessment data to determine student progress in meeting grade level expectations, most significant areas of need, and types of errors students were making. To address these needs, teachers created common formative assessments to monitor student achievement. Progress monitoring was used by teachers to measure student performance in reading, writing, and mathematics. Teachers in the PLC teams reassessed students' performance to determine if they were making academic progress to close the achievement gap.

An additional benefit showed that trust influenced the interactions and relationships among team members as they engaged in collaborative conversations to improve student achievement. The PLC team benefited by engaging in supportive and productive interactions, and teachers were willing to take risks by trying different practices and sharing students with other teachers to improve student achievement.

Furthermore, PLC teams benefited from using reflective dialogue in collaborative conversations to analyze student data during PLC and think tank meetings. By participating in these meetings, the PLC team shared instructional strategies to improve

teaching practice and student achievement. The PLC team used collective inquiry during collaborative conversations to exchange knowledge, experiences, and discuss problems teachers encountered in the classroom.

Even though collaborative conversations and collective inquiry were beneficial, teachers in the PLC teams believed that collective inquiry could be strengthened. Teachers identified horizontal and vertical planning as a recommendation to improve collective inquiry when they were involved in PLC and think tank meetings. If vertical and horizontal planning would be infused in these meetings, teachers might learn additional instructional resources and teaching strategies to improve instruction. Teachers in the lower grades may offer insight on the skills students struggled and excelled; whereas, teachers in upper grades may clarify what skills and knowledge students must have as they enter their grade level. Teachers may benefit from collaborating with teachers between grades to align curriculum, create clear expectations for student learning, and address challenges related to student learning and instruction.

In the narrative above, I mentioned the overall intent of the district's PLC and the benefits gleaned from the data. Both items beg the question whether the goals were met for this program evaluation. Based on the findings of this study, the goals for collective inquiry and collaboration were met but not for the district indicators.

District personnel developed five indicators based on DuFour's PLC model to confirm whether the goals were met. Even though the indicators were not part of the study, they are discussed here in the summary of the findings. The five indicators are:

Indicator 1: Clarify essential learning outcomes

Indicator 2: Monitor student learning through common formative assessments Indicator 3: Analyze and use the results to improve instruction and target intervention

Indicator 4: Establish and monitor progress on team goals Indicator 5: Innovate responsibly based on action research

The indicator for meeting *clarifying essential learning outcomes* for collaboration and collective inquiry goals were met when teachers worked together in grade level teams to identify standards, select learning targets, align instruction, establish common scoring criteria, and used data to identify teacher effectiveness. The PLC teams worked together to align instruction to create clear expectations for student learning, plan instruction, identify student needs, and address how they would address these challenges to improve student achievement. To align instruction, PLC team members met in weekly grade level meetings to identify instructional practices, share knowledge, and identify strategies to improve student achievement. The PLC teams used district benchmark assessment to determine what standards students needed to know, identify the weakest standards, and the standards most often used on the state assessment. Instructional goals were determined based on the skills students needed to improve student achievement. Based on the document review and interviews, grade level teams collaborated to identify teaching methods, share resources, and strategies aligned to grade level reading standards to improve instruction. Additionally, teachers shared how they used the writing rubric, and then developed a common writing rubric.

The collaboration and collective inquiry indicator for *monitoring student learning through common formative assessments* (CFAs) were met by PLC team members developing and using formative assessments to identify student achievement, monitor student performance, and discuss strategies to improve instruction. Teachers met in PLC meetings to review their common formative assessments to identify student progress, common errors, discuss gaps in student learning and skills, and areas students performed proficiently, and discussed next instructional steps. The learning coach helped teachers to identify standards that students were not proficient on to assist teachers in identifying teaching methods to change their instruction.

The indicator to *analyze and use the results to improve instruction and target interventions* were met for collaboration and collective inquiry by teachers using datadriven decision making to identify gaps in student learning and academic skills to adjust their instruction. The PLC team used and discussed benchmark assessments, common formative assessments, and progress monitoring to identify gaps in student learning, change teaching practice, and to improve student achievement. Collaborating with PLC team members and sharing successful teaching practices helped teachers to adjust their teaching practices based on student outcomes. Progress monitoring was used by the PLC team to measure students' improvement and performance in reading, from benchmark and common formative assessments to evaluate the effectiveness of their teaching and make instructional decisions. The PLC team identified gaps in student learning from benchmark assessments, adjusted instructional practice using small group, ability grouping, reteaching, and differentiated instruction. The indicator for *establishing and monitoring team goals* was not met for collaboration and collective inquiry. There was no evidence that the PLC team created or aligned the missions and vision of the team with the actions needed to improve student achievement. DuFour et al., (2006) identified that clarifying collective commitments is one of the most important strategies in building an effective PLC team. PLC teams identified goals for student improvement; however, teams did not identify team goals and a process for monitoring those goals. By creating team goals and a process for monitoring those goals, PLC team members would hold each other accountable in meeting the team's desired outcome of improving student achievement.

The indicator for *innovate responsibly based on action research* was met for collaboration and collective inquiry through participants using reflective dialogue during team and think tank meetings. The PLC team intentionally used collaboration and collective inquiry during the team and think tank meetings to share knowledge, learn together, analyze student data, and alter instruction focused on closing the achievement gap and improving student achievement. Through trusting relationships, team members engaged in supportive and productive collaborative conversations to refine their instructional practice. Teams benefited from creating an environment that encouraged innovation and experimentation. Team members felt safe to share their teaching practices, learn from one another, and were willing to take risks by trying different teaching practices. Teachers modified and refined their instructional practices to make it suitable for their classroom teaching and learning. The administration provided instructional leadership by engaging teachers in collaborative conversations and

reflective dialogue to translate learning from PLC conversations to successful teaching practices.

Project Deliverable

The project deliverable will be a program evaluation report that evaluated the PLC goals of collaboration and collective inquiry in a K-5 low performing Title 1 school. Results will be shared in a general faculty meeting scheduled after school and will last approximately 45 minutes. At this meeting, I will provide faculty with a 20-page executive summary report of the findings, a recommendation on the indicator not met based on the findings, a recommendation from the teachers, and field any questions. Data from the interviews and team meeting notes were used to inform the program evaluation report. The four themes identified are:

- The PLC team researched, and shared new strategies, activities, and resources used by teachers.
- 2. The PLC team used data driven decision making to identify gaps in student learning and academic skills and to adjust instructional practices.
- 3. The PLC team built trusting relationships among team members.
- 4. The PLC team used collaborative conversations and reflective dialogue during team and Think Tank meetings to analyze student data and alter instruction.
 Stakeholders can use the evaluation report to make decisions and identify changes

they could make to improve collective inquiry and collaboration at the local site. Stakeholders will be responsible for making all decisions, and through collaborative conversations decide whether to implement the recommendations.

Conclusion

The research methodology, data collection, and analysis were described in Section 2. A qualitative program evaluation was used to determine whether the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met during the implementation of the PLC during the 2015/16 school year. The role of the researcher and methods for handling data were discussed. Data collection included semistructured interviews using open-ended questions and a document review of team meeting notes.

The project for this study is a program evaluation report. The goals and rationale for the project are discussed in section 3. A review of literature on program evaluations is provided. The method of evaluating the project, and implications for social change are included.

Section 3: The Project

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the implementation of the PLC and whether the PLC goals of collective inquiry and collaboration were met. Poskitt (2014) identified that many schools have implemented PLCs to improve teaching pedagogies and increase student achievement. Schools are implementing PLCs as a staff development approach; however, they are not evaluating their effectiveness. This study was conducted to evaluate whether the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met at the local site during the academic year 2015/2016. In Section 1, the project study, rationale for the study design, review program evaluation current literature, and implications of the study are discussed.

Description and Goals

The project deliverable for this study is a formative objectives-oriented evaluation report on whether the PLC goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met. The evaluation report contains formative data designed to document and evaluate the goals of collective inquiry and collaboration. This program evaluation was not intended to evaluate the entire PLC program, but only whether the goals of collective inquiry and collaboration were met. Given the fact that the PLC initiative at the research site is one aimed at a long term change of the school's culture and had only been in place one year, this evaluation is formative rather than summative in nature to provide for ongoing modifications focusing on improving student and teacher learning. The goals for the proposed project are based on DuFour's PLC model adopted by the local site. The expectation is that the collaborative effort will produce ongoing student achievement, and teacher learning and are evidenced in the following district goals.

The goals were:

- District Goal 1: Meet in meaningful teams (collaboration)to improve professional practice.
- District Goal 2: Analyze and respond to data (collective inquiry).

During the faculty meeting, I will present the findings of the study to faculty and allow for open dialogue with participants. The following areas were examined and are explained in the program evaluation report (Appendix A).

- Participants' perceptions of how the PLC researched, shared new strategies, activities, and resources.
- 2. Participants' perceptions on data-driven decision making to identify gaps in student learning and adjust instructional practices.
- Participants' perceptions on how the PLC team built trusting relationships among team members.
- Participants' perceptions on how the PLC team used collaborative conversations and reflective dialogue to analyze student data and alter instruction.

Rationale

The PLC was implemented at the K-5 school in 2015 for the academic year 2015/2016 to address low achievement and improve instruction. The PLC is a professional development strategy used to improve teacher learning and student

achievement (DuFour, 2015). Students in Grades 3-5 continue to perform below state level expectations despite the implementation of the PLC since September 2015. The goal of this program evaluation was to evaluate whether the goals of collective inquiry and collaboration were met. The goals of this PLC at the research site examined in this study have never been evaluated to determine whether they are effective.

For this study, a modified objectives-oriented program evaluation was used to determine whether the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met. The program evaluation was guided by two research questions to develop an understanding of whether the goals of collective inquiry and collaboration were achieved. The two research questions are:

RQ1: How do PLC team members develop and maintain collaboration to close the achievement gap and improve student achievement?

RQ2: How do PLC team members use collective inquiry to improve student performance? The findings from this program evaluation are intended to provide information about the program's implementation and potential success.

Review of the Literature

The purpose of this section is to present a review of literature on program evaluations. The literature review for this project student will also include information on the conceptual framework to guide the study and the use of collaboration and collective inquiry. An iterative process was used to retrieve articles and studies from ERIC, ProQuest Central, Sage, and Google Scholar. Keywords used for this review included program evaluation, objectives-oriented program evaluation, professional learning community, and modified program evaluations.

In this section, I describe the project study, rationale for the design of the study, review current literature related to program evaluations, differences in evaluation and research, formative and summative evaluations, objectives oriented program evaluations, project description, and explain the implications of the study.

The local elementary school implemented the PLC to improve student achievement and close the achievement gap. PLC team members meet in weekly team meetings to share ideas and strategies to improve student achievement and teacher learning. Teachers use reflective dialogue, collaboration, and a collective focus on student learning to improve student achievement.

At the time of this study, DuFour's model (1998) was adopted by the local school district to improve teaching and student achievement. The teachers, learning coach, and administration participated in weekly PLC meetings to improve student achievement and teacher learning. The PLC team worked collectively to improve learning, offer professional knowledge, and learn from each other.

Program Evaluations

Formative program evaluations are used to judge the value of a program and is needed to monitor whether the objectives are met. Program evaluations are conducted for decision making purposes to determine their worth and make recommendations for refinement and success of the intended outcomes (Spaulding, 2013). Education programs need to be evaluated to examine their effectiveness, make recommendations, and refined for success (Lodico et al., 2010). Creswell (2012) stated that a program evaluation should be used to gain knowledge, make improvements, or decision making. School personnel make choices and decisions based on information from valid and reliable sources regarding the educational programs used to improve student achievement. To make intelligent decisions, stakeholders rely on quality knowledge sources as well as good information about the effectiveness of programs (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011).

Evaluators use program evaluations for identification, clarification, and application of defensible criteria to determine the value in relation to those criteria. (Fitzpatrick et al.). One important role of an evaluator is to help stakeholders determine whether the program should be adopted, continued, or expanded. Fitzpatrick, Sanders and Worthen identified the following inquiry and judgement methods: (a) determine the quality and standards, (b) collecting relevant information, (c) applying the standards to determine value, quality, significance, and effectiveness.

Not only are program evaluators essential in a program evaluation, the program stakeholders play a critical role to the program's success or failure. Stakeholders are the various individuals and groups who have a direct interest in the program and are affected by the program evaluation and the results (Fitzpatrick et al.). Stakeholders make changes to the program based on the results.

Differences in Evaluation and Research

Research and evaluations have different purposes and seek different results. Fitzpatrick et al. (2011) stated that the purpose of research is to advance knowledge and contribute to theory. In contrast, the primary purpose of an evaluation is to provide stakeholders with useful information on what is evaluated that will help them to make decisions and judgments about a program. Another difference between research and evaluation is the generalizability of the results. Program evaluations are concerned with making judgments about a specific program in a particular setting and are not concerned with generalizing to different settings (Fitzpatrick et al.). In contrast, the research methods are designed to generalize findings to or transfer the findings to many different settings.

Formative and Summative Evaluations

Formative and summative are types of evaluation. The purpose of a formative evaluation is to gather information that can be used to improve or strengthen the implementation of a program (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011). A summative evaluation is used to determine whether the program should be continued or replicated. Additionally, formative evaluations collect data from the implementation of a program, while summative data are analyzed at the end of the review cycle (Spaulding, 2013). Spaulding (2013) stated that formative data (a) are collected from participants to measure outcomes, (b) are intended to help evaluators to address the program's effectiveness, and (c) can result in recommendations for improvement. In this study, the program evaluation is formative due to the recent adoption and implementation of the PLC.

Objectives-Oriented Program Evaluations

Objectives-oriented program evaluations are used to determine whether the goals and objectives of a program are met (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011). The goals of this program evaluation are to provide an in depth understanding of how PLC team members develop and maintain collaboration and collective inquiry to improve student achievement. I collected qualitative data to determine if the goals were met.

In a program evaluation, qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods can be used as research methods. In qualitative studies, focus group discussions, observations, interviews using open ended questions, and document analysis are useful data collection methods. The evaluator may develop an interview protocol that contains open-ended questions that are linked to the evaluation objectives (Kyale & Brinkman, 2008). (Creswell, 2012). Quantitative data collection strategies include clinical trials, surveys, interviews, and questionnaires that collect numerical data by using closed-ended questions. In mixed methods research, the evaluator uses a combination of qualitative and quantitative data (Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2014). For the purpose of this program evaluation, a qualitative research design was chosen and described to research the problem.

Shufflebeam (2007) stated that an objectives based study is the most prevalent approach in program evaluation. This program evaluation model was used to document whether the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met in the implementation of the PLC. This program evaluation is the best choice for an evaluation report, because it provides an in depth understanding of how PLC team members developed and maintained collaboration and collective inquiry to improve student achievement. This formative evaluation may determine how this school's PLC has achieved its goals to date and what improvements need to be implemented.

Project Description

My project, an evaluation report, includes a 20-page report that explains the purpose of the evaluation, criteria for data collection, major outcomes of the goals, and addresses the local needs of improving student achievement and closing the achievement gap. Spaulding (2013) ascertained that program evaluation findings are presented in an evaluation report and given directly to the stakeholders. The administration serves as the primary audience and support for this project and want to know whether the project's goals were met. Limited resources will be needed to release the report to program stakeholders. Resources needed include meeting space in the media center, presentation handouts, and promethean board to display the report. Barriers to implementation may include availability of scheduling a meeting after school that is convenient for teachers, learning coach, and administrators to attend. One solution would be to propose dates that would be optimal for stakeholders to attend. Another barrier is teacher commitment for the continuation of the PLC to improve how collaboration and collective inquiry are used during PLC team meetings. Teachers may not see the benefits of improving collective inquiry and collaboration during the PLC team meeting. One solution may be to offer PLC teachers autonomy in decision making for these goals.

I will formally share the evaluation report and propose recommendations with the stakeholders. A meeting will be scheduled during the 2019-2020 school year to share the evaluation report and recommendations of the program evaluation. The meeting will take place after school and will last approximately 45 minutes. The teachers, learning coach, and administration will have the opportunity to review the evaluation report. Based on

the findings, teachers recommended that planning with different grade levels would help them to obtain instructional resources to improve student achievement.

As a researcher, my role and responsibility are to develop and share findings of the evaluation. I will ask permission from the principal to hold a faculty meeting in the media center. After obtaining approval, I will schedule the meeting with the technology coordinator to use the media center and have access to the promethean board to display the report. I will send an email inviting all PLC teams to attend. The setting is familiar to the participants allowing all participants to feel comfortable in asking questions or making comments. The responsibility of the participants is to be actively engaged in the meeting and discussions as they relate to the project.

Implications Including Social Change

Local Community

This project study holds many possibilities for social change. The PLC is relatively new to the school, and educators continue to look for ways to improve collective inquiry and collaboration. The results of the data analysis revealed that collaboration and collective inquiry were used during the implementation of the PLC to improve student achievement. Relative to the PLC goals, I determined that establishing and monitoring team goals was an indicator that was not met during the implementation of the PLC. The PLC team could develop, implement, and monitor progress team goals. PLC teams could set goals by collaborating to identify what they want to accomplish, steps to accomplish the task, and a timeline to complete the task. The PLC team could develop a continuous improvement plan focused on improving student achievement.

Additionally, the learning coach could support teachers by helping them to set long term goals for student achievement, short-term goals for student growth, and assist teachers to identify best practices to improve instruction and teacher learning. The teachers could establish and monitor short term and long term goals to improve student achievement.

The PLC team could engage in collaborative conversations in identifying evidence of effectiveness and to determine the next instructional steps to improve student achievement. The learning coach is responsible for (a) teacher learning relative to the team goals, (b) reviewing and monitoring team progress on goals, and (c) how teachers transferred knowledge from the PLC into their practice. The administration could consistently monitor evidence of student performance and conduct classroom observations to determine how PLC instructional decisions were implemented in classrooms to improve student achievement.

Far-Reaching

This formative program evaluation has the potential to be a contribution of knowledge for schools adopting the PLC model by providing information regarding collaboration and collective inquiry. Teachers and students may benefit from this study. Teachers may learn how to successfully use collaboration to share strategies, activities, and resources to improve instruction and student learning. Adjusting instruction by using data driven decisions may benefit teachers to improve student achievement. Additionally, they may gain insight on how collaborative conversations and reflective dialogues are used to analyze student data and change teaching practice. Students may benefit from instruction that is designed to meet their individual needs and improve their achievement.

Long-term benefits of the evaluation may include a transformation in the way teachers collaborate and increase collective inquiry. Teachers may change the way they teach to improve student learning, if teachers view their role as collaborative. The proposed outcomes are improved teacher and student learning, collaboration and collective inquiry among the teachers, learning coach, and administration to improve student achievement.

Conclusion

In Section 3, I provided a description and goals on program evaluation, provided rationale for the program evaluation, reviewed relevant literature, program evaluation model, project description, and identified the implications for social change. Additionally, the proposed workshop and implementation plan, support and barriers are included. The implications for social change were described that are intended to be achieved through the adoption and execution of the evaluation report. In Section 4, I will present the strengths along with limitations of my project. I will complete this section with a summary of what I gained from the experience. Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

Introduction

In this section, I discuss the strengths and limitations of the program evaluation whether the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met. Additionally, it will include a self reflection of what I learned from conducting this study, by examining myself through the lens of a researcher, scholar, practitioner, and project developer. I reflect how this study may influence social change both locally and in a broader context. Finally, I consider possible areas for future research. The program evaluation report was designed to provide the administration with results on whether the goals of collective inquiry and collaboration were met during the implementation of the PLC. The study was developed to allow the local site to make evidence-based decisions as the PLC moves forward. Finally, I summarize the key points of my work and provide my conclusions.

Project Strengths

This program evaluation project had several strengths. First, it addressed the need for an evaluation of the first year of the implementation of the PLC and whether the goals of collective inquiry and collaboration were met. Stakeholders use program evaluations to make decisions and determine the success of a program (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011). The administration makes the ultimate decision to implement changes to improve student achievement. Farley-Ripple and Buttram (2014) identified that leadership may effectively support and create opportunities for change by building a school culture that supports collective inquiry and collaboration. Another strength of this project was to provide participants with the recommendation to monitor and evaluate progress on team goals, and the recommendation to include vertical and horizontal planning. Teachers take collective responsibility for students to learn the essential knowledge and skills to improve student achievement. In order to achieve this goal, PLC team members must hold each other accountable to improve teacher and student learning. During the evaluation report meeting, participants will be provided recommendations to improve collaboration by monitoring and evaluating progress on team goals.

Project Limitations

The limitation to this program evaluation is that it did not evaluate all of the goals. Only the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were evaluated. Fitzpatrick, Sanders, and Worthen (2011) identified that a limitation to objectives-oriented program evaluations only focus on objectives. Additionally, objectives oriented program evaluations do not use a program description which is needed to gain an understanding of the program. Another limitation to this program evaluation was only using one research method to study the problem. A qualitative research method was used to explore the phenomenon, using only a document review and team meeting notes as data.

Recommendations for Remediation of Limitations

The problem addressed in this study was whether the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met to improve student achievement and close the achievement gap. In this program evaluation, only two goals (collaboration and collective inquiry) were evaluated. A goal free evaluation or decision oriented program evaluations are different approaches that could be used to evaluate the PLC.

A modified program evaluation was used to address the guiding questions of this study. A goal free evaluation could have been another approach for this evaluation. Scriven (2012) believed that a goal free evaluation reduces the bias from knowing program goals and the ability to judge the program as a whole. Using a goal free evaluation would have helped to identify the actual outcomes rather than the intended outcomes. The intended outcomes of the program were to identify how collaboration and collective inquiry were used to improve student achievement and close the achievement gap among students.

Another possibility was to use the decision oriented evaluation approach. Shufflebeam (2002) described decision oriented approach as the process of explaining, obtaining, and providing useful information for judging decisions. He developed the Context Input Process Produce (CIPP model which includes four elements: C-Context, I-Input, P- Process, and P-Produce. First the context element helps to determine the needs to be addressed. The need identified at the local site was to improve student achievement and close the achievement gap. Next, the input element helps the administrators to select and implement a particular strategy. This could have helped to identify the resources, and teaching skills that teachers need for effective teaching and learning. Next, the process element identifies the changes, barriers, and revisions that are needed to improve the program. Using the process element would allow the administrators to identify the approaches used by the school to improve student achievement. Finally, the product element provides guidance for continuing, modifying, or terminating the program. The product element would help administration to identify how teachers will implement what they have learned.

Scholarship, Project Development, and Leadership and Change Scholarship

Throughout my process in this EdD journey, I developed scholarly skills. Throughout this process, I learned that scholars apply advanced research skills. The process taught me how to read critically, draw conclusions, and synthesize information from literature. I have learned the skills necessary to define a problem, identify relevant resources, synthesize literature, and cite the works of others. Scholars must understand the connection among ideas and inconsistencies, and the ability to approach problems in a systemic way. Researchers locate numerous articles and gather information about a topic. I learned how to gather information and understand the main points, analyze data, and make connections to draw conclusions using higher level thinking skills. I learned that reflection requires scholars to learn from experience, think about what happened, and decide how to do it differently next time.

I developed a clearer understanding of academic writing, which requires developing a clear understanding of writing mechanics and paying attention to detail. In scholarly writing, scholars must be specific about their word choice and must use precise and clear language to support their work. Scholarly writing requires careful citations of the sources used to support assertations. Scholarly writing requires researchers to determine which information is most relevant to their purpose. In addition, I learned the importance of incorporating evidence and avoiding bias.

Project Development

This project began as an idea to evaluate the implementation of the PLC and determine how collective inquiry and collaboration were used to improve student achievement. In order to develop the project, I collected and analyzed data to determine the findings.

To write a program evaluation report, there were numerous components that needed to be included. First, I had to decide on the type of evaluation report that I would use. Next, I needed to know how to write the executive summary that contains a brief description of the evaluation, program description, evaluation questions, design, key findings, and recommendations. In addition, a program description is required to provide the context of my evaluation for the stakeholders (teachers, learning coach, and administration). Also, I wrote a description of the data sources and research methods. This required me to identify the method of research, sampling, and data used to understand the phenomenon relative to the implementation of the PLC, and credibility of data. The final step is discussing the results, conclusions, recommendations, and interpretations.

Leadership and Change

As I pursued my doctorate, my awareness of leadership in the PLC has developed. Through this process, I have learned that to be a successful PLC leader requires certain skills. First, PLC team members must engage in a collaborative process to identify what students need to know, how we identify how they know it, and what we will do if they do not know it. As a leader, I am helping teammates to share and learn strategies that are effective in improving student learning. I have changed this aspect during my team meetings by asking teammates to share how they are teaching specific lessons. Additionally, I learned that a successful leader in the PLC ensures that the team is focused on continually improving their teaching and student achievement. To achieve this goal, I will collaborate with team members to negotiate an agenda that outlines what will be discussed in the PLC meeting.

Analysis of Self as Scholar

When I began my doctoral journey, I did not view myself as a scholar. Prior to starting this journey, I was not exposed to scholarly writing until the beginning of my dissertation. In the beginning, I was overwhelmed with locating journals that were relevant to my topic. I was concerned whether I had the writing skills necessary to produce scholarly writing. This process provided me with the skills to pay attention to detail and use clear and concise vocabulary in my writing. I learned how to analyze data and make connections. Additionally, my professional reading has changed through this process. I continue to read peer reviewed journals and articles focused on improving my teaching practice to improve student achievement. This has been beneficial to me and provides me the opportunity to share information with colleagues on specific topics. This process taught me perseverance, strength, and patience. I have always been a teacher, problem solver, and lifelong learner. I now realize those words describe a scholar. I will continue to study and research to encourage social change.

Analysis of Self as Practitioner

I have grown from being a classroom teacher to a practitioner throughout this journey. I have become actively involved in the PLC. As a practitioner, this evaluation project has informed my professional work. I learned the importance of using scholarly inquiry to make changes to my teaching practice. I have learned how to research topics that are relevant to teaching and discovering research-based strategies to improve my teaching and student learning. As an educator, I am constantly faced with improving student achievement. Through this process, I can identify a problem and then immediately apply research strategies to find a solution. My writing has improved through this process. I have improved my ability to write clear statements that provide supporting evidence. I am more focused on the word choice that I use when writing correspondence to parents and coworkers.

Analysis of Self as Project Developer

In the process of developing the project, I learned how to create a project that is based on scholarly research, and the problems and challenges of a school. This project strengthened my ability to develop a program, improve collaboration and collective inquiry, and evaluate those goals. As I moved through the process, I began to understand the importance of being organized, paying attention to detail, and the ability to deal with obstacles. As a project developer, organization is an important trait. The structure and direction of the project depended on my efforts. I made lists to identify the tasks that needed to be completed. Paying attention to detail required me to take the time to identify the errors that I was making and revising my work to ensure that I had made the
necessary changes and apply skills that I was learning. I learned the importance of being flexible and having patience to complete the project. I set aside time to work on the project in small steps. I learned how to limit distractions so that I could focus on the project. When I encountered obstacles, I used perseverance to overcome the challenges. In order to write a program evaluation report, I needed numerous skills. First, I had to identify what elements are in a program evaluation report. I learned how to write the executive summary, program description, methodology, and present the findings.

The Project's Potential Impact on Social Change

Teaching practices improve and student achievement increases when teachers use collaboration and collective inquiry in the PLC. Teachers need effective professional development to improve instruction and student learning. The PLC is a professional development model that many schools have adopted to improve instruction. Positive social change could occur if all PLC teams improved their collaboration and collective inquiry by implementing the recommendations. Teachers identified that horizontal and vertical planning as a recommendation. Next, the recommendation based on the indicators identified that establishing and monitoring progress on team goals could improve teacher learning and student achievement. Teachers may benefit from instructional improvement resulting in student-learning gains. Students may benefit from instruction that is designed to meet their individual needs. The administration and learning coach may benefit from teachers improving their instructional practice resulting in improved student performance. Schools adopting the PLC model may benefit by understanding how collaboration and collective inquiry were used during the PLC

meeting. The potential effect on social change could improve collaboration and collective inquiry and how it is used in the PLC at the local site. Positive social change could occur if all PLC teams improved collaboration and collective inquiry to identify successful instructional practices resulting in improved teacher learning, closing the achievement gap among students, and improving student learning.

Beyond the local level, the project's potential influence could help administrators transform the way collective inquiry and collaboration are used during PLC meetings. The desired outcomes for all PLCs are to work collaboratively to engage in reflective practice using collective inquiry focused on improving teacher learning and student achievement.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

Implications for future research include a comprehensive evaluation that identifies the importance of shared leadership and its effect on the PLC and student learning. For reform to occur, teachers must be part of the change. A qualitative study using observations and interviews could be used to explore teacher leadership in PLCs. Additionally, further research is needed on how to sustain the PLC. Schools must communicate and implement effective dimensions of their PLCs to maintain sustainability. DuFour et al. (2010) recommended that PLC teams should have a shared vision and mission, shared leadership, supportive conditions, focus on student learning, and a culture that promotes shared practice to sustain the PLC. A qualitative case study could be used to explore the perceptions of teachers, the learning coach, and administration on these dimensions.

Conclusion

A modified objectives oriented program evaluation was used to explore whether the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met during the implementation of the PLC. The recommendations based on the findings were prepared for the stakeholders. Teachers identified one recommendation to improve collaboration and collective inquiry by using vertical and team planning to improve instruction and student achievement. The recommendation based on the indicators identified that collaboration could improve teacher learning and student achievement through teachers establishing and monitoring progress on PLC team goals.

References

- A Nation At Risk. (1983). Retrieved from The imperative for educational reform: https://www2.ed.gov/pubs/NatAtRisk/title.html
- Americans for College and Career Readiness. (2018, March 18). Retrieved from ACT: http://www.act.org/
- Andersen, I., & Andersen, S. (2017). Student-centered instruction and academic achievement: Linking mechanisms of educational inequality to schools' instructional strategies. *British Journal of Sociology of Education, 38*(4), 533-550. https://doi.org/10.1080/01425692.2015.1093409.
- Aquila, F. (n.d.). No Child Left Behind Act. In School Law for K-12 Educators: Concepts and Cases, 63-82. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483329109.
- Attard, K. (2012). Public reflection within learning communities: An incessant type of professional development. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 35(2), 199-211. https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2011.643397.
- Battersby, S. L., & Verdi, B. (2015). The culture of professional learning communities and connections to improve teacher efficacy and support student learning. *Arts Education Policy Review*, 116(1), 22-29.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10632913.2015.970096.

- Beach, P., & Willows, D. (2017). Understanding teachers' cognitive processes during online professional learning: A methodological comparison. *Online Learning Journal*, 21(1), 60-85. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v21i1.949.
- Board, N. f. (2018, June 14). Beyond the rhetoric: Improving college readiness through coherent state policy. *National Center for Public Policy and Higher Education*, 14. Retrieved from Higher Education:

http://www.highereducation.org/reports/college_readiness/gap.shtml

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101.

https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa.

- Brodie, K. (2014). Learning about learner errors in professional learning communities. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 85(2), 221-239. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s10649-013-9507-1.
- Brown, B., Horn, R., & King, G. (2018, Aug). The effective implementation of professional learning communities. *The Alabama Journal of Educational Leadership*, 5, 53-59.
- Buchanan, J. (2012). Improving the quality of teaching and learning: A teacher-aslearner-centered approach. *The International Journal of Learning*, 18(10), 345-356.
- Caskey, M. M., & Carpenter, J. (2012, May). Organizational models for teacher learning. *Middle School Journal, 43*(5), 52-62. doi:10.1080/00940771.2012.11461830.

- Cheng, E., & Po Yuk Ko1. (2012). Leadership strategies for creating a learning study community. *KEDI Journal of Educational Policy*, *9*(1), 163-182. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eue&AN=78418582&sit e=eds-live&scope=site.
- Cherkowski, S. (2016). Exploring the role of the school principal in cultivating a professional learning climate. *Journal of School Leadership, 26*(3), 523-543. https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/105268461602600306.
- Christiansen, T., & Robey, P. A. (2015). Promoting systemic change through the integration of professional learning community practices with glasser quality schools. *International Journal of Choice Theory & Reality Therapy, 35*(1), 7-13. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=110445165&s ite=eds-live&scope=site.
- Coburn, C., Hill, H., & Spillane, J. (2016). Alignment and accountability in policy design and implementation: The common core state standards and implementation research. *Educational Researcher*, 45(4), 243-251. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x16651080.
- Colorado Department of Education. (2018). Retrieved March 23, 2018, from : http://www.cde.state.co.us/FedPrograms/tii/a_hqt
- Colorado Springs School District 11. (n.d.). Retrieved from

http://www.d11.org/Pages/vision.aspx

Colorado State Department of Educaton. (2017). Retrieved from

https://www.cde.state.co.us

- *Common Core State Standards Initiative*. (2010). Retrieved from Common Core Standards for Development: http://www.corestandards.org/
- Congress, 1. (2015). Every study succeeds act of 2015, Pub. L. No. 114-95 § 114 Stat. 1177.
- Creswell, J. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. Boston, MA: Pearson.
- D'Ardenne, C., Barnes, D., Hightower, E., Lamason, P., Mason, M., Patterson, P., & Erickson, K. (2013). Plcs in action: Innovative teaching for struggling grade 3-5 readers. *Reading Teacher*, 67(2), 143-151. https://doi.org/10.1002/TRTR.1180.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Hyler, M., & Gardner, M. (2017). Effective teacher professional development.
- Dever, R., & Lash, M. (2013). Using common planning time to foster professional learning. *Middle School Journal*, 45(1), 12-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/00940771.2013.11461877.
- Dogan, S., & Adams, A. (2016). Do Professional learning communities (PLCs) impact teacher practice and student learning? f recent studies. *American Educational Research Association*, (p. 35). Washington D.C.
- DuFour, R., DuFour, R., Eaker, R., & Many, T. (2006). *Learning by Doing: A Handbook* for Professional Learning Communities at Work. Bloomington: Solution Tree.

DuFour, R. (2015). How Plcs do data right. *Educational Leadership*, 73(3), 22-26.

Retrieved from

http://content.ebscohost.com.ezproxy.vpu.lt/ContentServer.asp?T=P&P=AN&K= 111518975&S=R&D=a9h&EbscoContent=dGJyMNHX8kSep7E4xNvgOLCmr0 6eprNSrq64S7WWxWXS&ContentCustomer=dGJyMPGqtkyzrK5NuePfgeyx44 Dt6fIA.

- DuFour, R., & DuFour rdufour923@gmail.com, R. (2014). Harnessing the power of plcs. *Educational Leadership*, 71(8), 30-35. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eft&AN=95820578&logi n.asp&site=ehost-live&scope=site.
- DuFour, R., & Marzano, R. (2011). *Leaders learning: How district, school, and classroom leaders improve student achievement.* Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree.

DuFour, R., & Mattos, M. (2013, April). How do principals really improve schools. *Educational Leadership*, 70(7), 34-40.

https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edswss&AN=000316847000007&site=eds-live&scope=site.

- DuFour, R., DuFour, R., Loertscher, D., & Many, T. (2010). Learning by Doing: A Handbook for Professional Learning Communities at Work. Bloomington: Solution Tree Press.
- Escobar Arcay, D. A. (2016). Movements of Educational Reform: A Short Introduction Under the Lens of Change- From the Early 1960s to the Early 2000. Oregon, Eugene: Resource Publications.

- Farley-Ripple, E.N., & Buttram, J. (2014). Developing collaborative data use through professional learning communities: Early lessons from Delaware. *Studies in Educational Evaluation, 42*, 41-53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2013.09.006.
- Feldman, J., & Fataar, A. (2014). Conceptualising the setting up of a professional learning community for teachers' pedagogical learning. *South African Journal of Higher Education, 28*(5), 1525-1540. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ehh&AN=102385099&si te=ehost-live.
- Fitzpatrick, J., Sanders, J., & Worthen, B. (2011). Program evaluation: Alternative approaches and practical guidelines (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Goddard, R., Goddard, Y., Eun Sook Kim, & Miller, R. (2015). A theoretical and empirical analysis of the roles of instructional leadership, teacher collaboration, and collective efficacy beliefs in support of student learning. *American Journal of Education*(4), 501-530. https://doi.org/10.1086/681925.
- Gore, J., Lloyd, A., Smith, M., Bowe, J., Ellis, H., & Lubans, D. (2017). Effects of professional development on the quality of teaching rounds: Results from a randomised controlled trial of quality teaching rounds. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 68*(1), 99-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.08.007.
- Gray, J., & Summers, R. (2016). Enabling school structures, trust, and collective efficacy in private international schools. *International Journal of Education Policy & Leadership*, 11(3), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.22230/ijepl.2016v11n3a651.

- Gray, J., Mitchell, R., & Tarter, C. J. (2014). Organizational and relational factors in professional learning communities. *Planning and Changing*, *45*(1), 83-98.
 Retrieved from https://search-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eue&AN=101750428&si te=eds-live&scope=site.
- Gunter, G., & Reeves, J. (2016). Online professional development embedded with mobile learning: An examination of teachers' attitudes, engagement and dispositions. *British Journal of Educational Technology, 48*(6), 1305-1317.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12490.
- Hairon, S., Goh, J., & Chua, C. (2015). Teacher leadership enactment in professional learning community contexts: Towards a better understanding of the phenomenon. *School Leadership & Management*, *35*(2), 163-182. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2014.992776.
- Herrelko, J., & Ed, D. (2016). How employing dufour's professional learning community guidelines impacted a mathematical professional learning community. *International Journal of Learning, Teaching and Educational Research, 15*(11), 111-127.
- Hilliard, A., & Newsome, E. J. (2013). Effective communication and creating professional learning communities is a valuable practice for superintendents. *Contemporary Issues In Education Research*, 6(4), 353-364. https://doi.org/10.19030/cier.v6i4.8102.

- Ho, D., Lee, M., & Teng, Y. (2016). Exploring the relationship between school-level teacher qualifications and teachers' perceptions of school-based professional learning communities. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *54*, 32-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2015.11.005.
- Hoaglund, A. E., Birkenfeld, K., & Box, J. A. (2014). Professional learning communities:
 Creating a foundation for collaboration skills in pre-service teachers. *Education*, 134(4), 521-528. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.
- Jacobsen, M., Eaton, S., Brown, B., Simmons, M., & McDermott, M. (2018). Action research for graduate program improvements: A response to curriculum mapping and review. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, https://doi.org/10.7202/1050843ar.
- Jones, C. M., & Thessin, R. A. (2015). A review of the literature related to the change process schools undergo to sustain PLCs. *Planning and Changing*, 46(1/2), 193-211.

https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eue&AN=110937919&site=eds-live&scope=site.

- Jones, L., Stall, G., & Yarbrough, D. (2013). The importance of professional learning communities for school improvement. *Creative Education*, 4(5), 357-361. https://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2013.45052.
- Jones, W., & Dexter, S. (2014). How teachers learn: The roles of formal, informal, and independent learning. *Education Tech Research Development*, 62(3), 367-384. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-014-9337-6.

- Kalkan, F. (2016). Relationship between professional learning community bureaucratic structure and organisational trust in primary education schools. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice, 16*(5), 1619-1637. https://doi.org/10.12738/estp.2016.5.0022.
- Kearney Judith, & Zuber‐Skerritt Ortrun. (2012). From learning organization to learning community: Sustainability through lifelong learning. *Learning Organization*, 19(5), 400-413. https://doi.org/10.1108/09696471211239703.
- Kellar, F., & Slayton, J. (2016). Fostering and achieving organizational change: A framework for studying the complexities of school leadership. *Journal of School Leadership*, 26(4), 690-714. https://doi.org/10.1177/105268461602600406.
- Kelly, J., & Cherkowski, S. (2015). Collaboration, collegiality, and collective reflection:A case study of professional development for teachers. *Canadian Journal of Educational Administration and Policy*(169), 1-27.

https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1063374&site=eds-live&scope=site.

- Klein, A. (2015, April 10). No Child Left Behind. Retrieved from https://www.edweek.org/ew/section/multimedia/no-child-left-behind-overviewdefinition-summary.html
- Kohler-Evans, P., Webster-Smith, A., & Albritton, S. (2013). Conversations for school personnel: A new pathway to school improvement. *Education, 134*(1), 19-24. https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsgea&AN=edsgcl.346808443&site=eds-live&scope=site.

- Kyale, S., & Brinkman, S. (2009). Learning the craft of qualitative research interviewing. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Ladd, H. (2017). No child left behind: A deeply flawed federal policy. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, 36*(2), 461-469. https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.21978.
- Leavitt, D., Babst, R., Lamplin, J. L., Whitford, P., Palius, M., Donegan, R., & Smith, M. (2013). Teachers create a professional learning community to be a place of their own. *Mid-Atlantic Education Review*, 1(1), 3-16.
- Leclerc, M., Moreau, A., Dumouchel, C., & Sallafranques-St-Louis, F. (2012). Factors that promote progression in schools functioning as professional learning community. *International Journal of Education Policy & Leadership*, 7(7), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.22230/ijepl.2012v7n7a417.
- Linder, R. (2012). Professional learning communities: Practices for successful implementation. *Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin*, 78(c), 13-22.
- Liou, Y., & Daly, A. (2014). Closer to Learning. *Journal of School Leadership*, 24(4), 753-795.
- Lipka, O., & Siegel, L. S. (2012). The development of reading comprehension skills in children learning English as a second language. *Reading and Writing*, 25(8), 1873-1898. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-011-9309-8.
- Lodico, M., Spaulding, D. T., & Voegtle, K. H. (2010). *Methods in educational research: From theory to practice*. San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.

Makopoulou, K., & Armour, K. (2014). Possibilities and challenges in teachers' collegial learning. *Educational Review*, 66(1), 75-95.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2013.768955.

- Merriam, S. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Miles, M., Huberman, M., & Saldana, J. (2014). *Qualitative Data Analysis*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Morel, N. (2014). Setting the stage for collaboration: An essential skill for professional growth. *Teaching Performance*, *81*(1), 36-39.
- Muñoz, M., & Branham, K. (2016). Professional learning communities focusing on results and data-use to improve student learning: The right implementation matters. *Planning and Changing*, 47(1/2), 37-46.

Nation's Report Card. (2017).

Nelson, J., Caldarella, P., Adams, M., & Shatzer, R. (2013). Effects of peer praise Notes on Teachers' perceptions of school community and collegiality. *American Secondary Education*, 41(3), 62-77.

https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/004005990804100201.

Nguyen, T., & Nguyen, T. (2017). Influence of explicit higher-order thinking skills instruction on students' learning of linguistics. *Thinking Skills and Creativity, 26*, 113-127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2017.10.004. Ning, L., Lee, D., & Lee, W. (2015). Relationships between teacher value orientations, collegiality, and collaboration in school professional learning communities. *Teachers and Teaching*, 18, 337-354. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-015-9294-x.

No Child Left Behind. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/nclb/landing.jhtml

- Owen, S. (2014, July). Teacher professional learning communities: Going beyond contrived collegiality toward challenging debate and collegial learning and professional growth. *Austrailian Journal of Adult Learning*, 54(2), 54-77. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2013.869504.
- Owen, S. (2015). Teacher professional learning communities in innovative contexts: 'ah hah moments', 'passion' and 'maing a difference' for student learning. *Professional Development in Education*, *41*(1), 57-74.
- Patton, M. (1990). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Poekert, P. (2012). Examining the impact of collaborative professional development on teacher practice. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 97-118.
- Poskitt, J. (2014). Transforming professional learning and practice in assessment for learning. *The Curriculum Journal*, 25(4), 542-566. https://doi.org/10.5539/ies.v5n4p112.
- Prytula, M. (2012). Teacher metacognition within the professional learning community. *International Education Studies*, 5(4), 112-121. https://doi.org/10.5539/ies.v5n4p112.

- Pyhalto, K., Pietarinen, J., & Soini, T. (2015). Teachers' professional agency and learning- from adaption to active modification in the teacher community. *Teachers and Teaching*, 21(7), 811-830. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2014.995483.
- *Race to the Top*. (2012). Retrieved from The White House: https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/
- Richmond, G., & Manokre, V. (2014). Implementation and supervision of the professional learning community: Animation, leadership, and organization of work. *Creative Education*, 5, 1479-1491. https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/sce.20430.

Rimm-Kaufman, S., & Sandilos, L. (2018). Improving students' relationships with teachers to provide essential supports for learning. *Improving Students' Relationships with Teachers to Provide Essential Supports for Learning*, 31. https://doi.org/10.1037/e501992017-001. Retrieved from American Psychological Association: https://www.apa.org/education/k12/relationships

Riveros, A., Newton, P., & Burgess, D. (2012). A situated account of teacher agency and learning: Critical reflections on professional learning communities. *Canadian Journal Of Education*, 35(1), 202-216.

https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ968812&site=eds-live&scope=site.

Rubin, H., & Rubin, I. (2005). *Qualitative interviewing*. *The art of hearing data*.Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.

- Saldana, J. (2013). *The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Schaap, H., & de Brujin, E. (2018). Elements affecting the development of professional learning communities in schools. *Learning Environments Research*, 21(1), 109-134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-017-9244-y.
- Scriven, M. (2012). The logic of valuing. New Directions for Evaluation, 133, 17-28. https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ev.20003.
- Shufflebeam, D. (2007). The CIPP evaluation model. Evaluation Models. Viewpoints on Educational and Human Services Evaluatio.
- Sompong, S., Erawan, P., & Dharm-tad-sa-na-non, S. (2015). The development of professiona learning community in primary schools. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 10(21), 2789-2796. DOI: 10.5897/ERR2015.2343.
- Spaulding, D. T. (2013.

https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edspub&AN=edp2606248&site=eds-live&scope=site). *Program Evaluation in Practice: Core conecpts and examples for disucssion and analysis.* San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

- Stewart, C. (2014). Transforming professional development to professional learning. *Journal of Adult Education*, *43*(1), 28-33.
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990). The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. Newbury Park. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452230153, CA: Sage Publications.

Tam, A. (2015). Exploring teachers' beliefs about teacher learning in professional learning communities and their influence on collegial activities in two departments. *Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education*, 45(3), 422-444. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057925.2013.872025.

Thessin, R. (2015). Learning from one urban school district: Planning to provide essential supports for teacher's work in professional learning communities. *Educational Planning*, *22*(1), 15-27.

https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1208550&site=eds-live&scope=site.

- Thornton, K., & Cherrington, S. (2014). Leadership in professional learning communities. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood, 39*(3), 94-102. https://doi.org/10.1177/183693911403900312.
- Tobia, E., & Hord, S. (2012). I am a professional: Learning communities elevate teachers' knowledge, skills, and identity. *Journal of Staff Development*, 33(3), 16-18. https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1001511&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2018).
- Van Lare, M., & Brazer, S. (2013). Analyzing learning in professional learning communities: A conceptual framework. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 12(4), 374-396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2007.01.004.

Vanblaere, B., & Devos, G. (2016). Relating school leadership to perceived professional learning community characteristics: A multilevel analysis. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 57, 26-38. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.03.003.

Vescio, V., Ross, D., & Adams, A. (2008). A review of research on the impact of professional learning communities on teaching practice and student learning. *Teaching and teacher education*, 24(1), 80-91.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2007.01.004.

Waddell, G., & Lee, G. (2008). Crunching numbers, changing practices: A close look at student data turns the tide in efforts to close the achievement gap. *Journal of Staff Development, 29*(3), 18-21.

https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ802050&site=eds-live&scope=site.

- Walton, E., Nel, N. M., Muller, H., & Lebeloane, O. (2014). 'You can train us until we are blue in our faces, we are still going to struggle': Teacher professional learning in a full-service school. *Education As Change*, *18*(2), 319-333. https://doi.org/10.1080/16823206.2014.926827.
- Watson, C. (2014). Effective professional learning communities? The possibillities for teachers as agents of change in schools. *British Educational Research Journal*, 40(1), 18-29. https://doi.org/10.1002/berj.3025. doi:10.1002/berj.3025
- Wells, C., & Feun, L. (2013). Educational change and professional learning communities: A study of two districts. *Journal of Educational Change*, *14*(2), 233-257. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-012-9202-5.

Wennergren, A. (2016). Teachers as learners with a little help from a critical friend. *Educational Action Research*, 24(2), 260-279.
https://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2015.1058170.

Whitworth, B. B. W. ed, & Chiu, J. (2015). Professional development and teacher change: The missing leadership link. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 26(2), 121-137. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10972-014-9411-2.

- Why making time for professional development matters. (2019). *School Business Affairs*, 85(5), 30-32. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eue&AN=136247067&si te=eds-live&scope=site.
- Williams, D. J. (2013, Winter). Urban education and professional learning communities. *Educational Research*, 79(2), 31-39.

https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=eue&AN=84586891&site=eds-live&scope=site.

Woodland, R., & Mazur, R. (2015). Beyond hammers versus hugs: Leveraging education evaluation and professional learning communities into job-embedded professional development. *NASSP Bulletin*, *99*(1), 5-25. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192636515571934. Appendix A: Executive Summary

A Program Evaluation

An Evaluation of Collaboration and Collective Inquiry Goals in an Elementary PLC

Evaluator

Susan Lazor

Executive Summary	
Introduction to Program Evaluation	
Stakeholders/Audience	
Data Collection	
Documents	
Interviews	
Evidence of Quality	
Data Analysis	
Document Analysis	
Interview Analysis	
Discussion of Results	
Theme 1	
Theme 2	
Theme 3	
Theme 4	
PLC Goal Indicators	
Conclusion	
For Further Research	
Summary of Recommendations	
Conclusion	

Executive Summary

I conducted this program evaluation (PE) on whether the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met during the implementation of the professional learning community. This PE was specifically designed to evaluate the professional learning community (PLC) goals, collaboration and collective inquiry, at a K-5 elementary school located in the Western region of the United States. The PLC model was implemented at the target school in September 2015 for the academic year 2015/2016 to improve the quality of teaching and student achievement. The purpose of this evaluation was to determine how collaboration and collective inquiry were used to close the achievement gap and improve student achievement. The expectation was that the collaborative effort would produce ongoing student achievement and teacher learning, which are evidenced in the following district goals: (1) meet in meaningful teams (collaboration) to improve professional practice, (2) analyze and respond to data (collective inquiry).

DuFour's model (2006) informed this program evaluation for the PLC. I conducted a modified objectives-oriented program evaluation to collect data for this study. The data included team meeting notes and interviews from PLC teams that participated in the implementation of the PLC in 2015 and 2016. Based on the findings of this study, the goals for collective inquiry and collaboration were not met. Although the PLC teams developed and maintained collaboration as a practice and analyzed and responded to data, the PLC teams need to make further adjustments based on the district's goal indicators. District personnel developed five indicators based on DuFour's PLC model to confirm whether all PLC goals are met. These goals are to clarify essential

learning outcomes, monitor student learning through common formative assessments, analyze and use the results to improve instruction and target interventions, establish and monitor progress on team goals, and innovate responsibly based on action research.

The program evaluation report provides a summary of the findings, a recommendation for the not met PLC indicator and a recommendation from teachers. This information will allow the stakeholders to make decisions and identify changes to improve collective inquiry and collaboration at the local site. Through collaborative conversations, the stakeholders will decide whether to implement the recommendations.

The positive social change anticipated from this study is to transform the way teachers, administrators, and the learning coach collaborated and used collective inquiry during the PLC team meeting to improve instruction resulting in student-learning gains. Positive social change could occur if all PLC teams improved collaboration and collective inquiry to identify successful instructional practices resulting in improved teacher learning, closing the achievement gap among students, and improving student learning. Specifically, teachers could change the way they collaborate and use reflective dialogue to improve instruction, change teaching practice, analyze student data, share strategies, activities, and resources. Teachers would benefit by meeting with other grade level teams to align curriculum, create clear expectations for student learning, and address challenges related to student learning and teacher instruction. Students may benefit from instruction that is designed to meet their individual needs and improve achievement. The administration and learning coach may benefit from teachers improving their instructional practice resulting in improved student performance.

Introduction to Program Evaluation

Program evaluations are conducted for decision making purposes to determine their worth and make recommendations for refinement and success of the intended outcomes (Spaulding, 2013). To make effective decisions, stakeholders need good information about the effectiveness of adopted and implemented programs (Fitzpatrick, Sanders, & Worthen, 2011). For this study, a modified objectives-oriented program evaluation was used to determine whether the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met. Two research questions were developed to evaluate the PLC goals.

The problem that prompted this evaluation was the continued student failure to meet grade level expectations. To address low achievement, the school administration adopted and implemented PLC goals to improve instruction and student academic outcomes. There was a need for a formative evaluation of the PLC goals, collaboration and collective inquiry, because they were never evaluated. This formative program evaluation was used to identify how team members developed and maintained collaboration and collective inquiry to close the achievement gap and improve student achievement.

Stakeholders/Audience

The administration, teachers, and learning coach (stakeholders) are the intended audience for this program evaluation. The administration served as the primary support for the implementation of the PLC because of their responsibility to make decisions and implement changes to improve student achievement. Teachers take collective responsibility for students to learn the essential knowledge and skills to improve student

157

achievement. The learning coach provided and will continue to mentor teachers on how to use collaboration and collective inquiry during the PLC team meetings. This information may assist stakeholders in making decisions and identifying changes to improve the PLC goals during the team meetings.

Data Collection

The data collection for this study consisted of interviews using semistructured open- ended questions and a document review of team meeting notes. The data were collected from 10 teachers, the learning coach, and two administrators who participated in the implementation of the PLC during the 2015/16 school year. Document review data, consisting of PLC team meeting notes were collected from grades K-3 and 5. Interview data were gathered from PLC teams for those respective grades. Interviews were recorded, transcribed, and manually coded to determine themes. I excluded the grade 4 PLC team because I was a team member.

Documents

Team meeting notes from the 2016/2017 school year were collected for this study. Grade level teams weekly submitted a summary of team meeting notes to the principal that included student objectives, evidence of student learning, how the team responded to data, and identified struggling and excelling students. In addition, team members included the instructional changes teachers would make to improve student achievement. **Interviews**

Semistructured interviews were conducted using purposeful sampling and openended questions. Participants in this study included 10 elementary teachers, the learning coach, the principal, and the assistant principal who participated in the implementation of the PLC between the years of 2015 and 2016. This sample was chosen because they could provide insight on how collaboration was developed and maintained to close the achievement gap and improve student achievment, and how collective inquiry was used to improve student performance. Employees who did not participate in the PLC during the 2015-2016 school year were excluded.

Semistructured interviews were conducted with the teachers, learning coach, assistant principal, and principal at the local site. Qualitative interviews featured questions that allowed individuals to describe their experiences with the implementation of the PLC. Each participant within the same group (teachers, learning coach, and administration) was asked the same questions. The interviews were scheduled over two months, were audio recorded, and lasted for 45-60 minutes.

Evidence of Quality

Steps were taken to ensure the credibility and accuracy of data and findings. Member checks were used to support evidence of quality by returning the findings to the participants to check the findings for accuracy of their data (Creswell, 2012). Once the data collection was completed, I emailed the participants a two-page summary of my findings. Participants did not find, nor did they notify me of any inaccuracies of their data.

Lodico, Spaulding, and Voegtle (2010) stated that confirming evidence is obtained through triangulation, a strategy to test for validity using different sources of data. I verified the document findings with the interview findings. I examined these findings for convergence of information from these two sources.

Data Analysis

Documents and interviews were analyzed using thematic analysis immediately after they were collected. Braun and Clarke (2006) explained thematic analysis as the process of identifying, analyzing, and reporting themes within data. The analysis process consisted of reading interview transcripts and team-meeting notes to identify patterns that became themes. A priori, open, and axial codes were used to analyze PLC team meeting notes and interview data. A priori codes based on the framework and related literature and open and axial codes, which were derived from the data, were used to analyze the data. Themes emerge from patterns among the axial codes.

Document Analysis

Team meeting notes were collected and recorded on a document review protocol. I sorted team meeting notes and analyzed them using a two-step process. In step 1, I analyzed the data by participant groups (teachers, learning coach, and administrators). In step 2, I analyzed the data by grade level teams. Thematic analysis using a prior, open, and axial codes were used to analyze PLC team meeting notes. I read the documents and highlighted data that were linked to the a priori codes collaboration (yellow), and collective inquiry (green) from the framework and related literature review. This resulted in many codes that I reduced using open coding. I open coded the a priori codes by searching for repetitions of words and phrases. I labeled the repeated words with a term that defined the open code. Next, I searched for relationships among the open codes and grouped similar codes into categories to create the axial codes. The categories identified for collaboration focused on student learning, teachers working together, data-driven decision making, and improved instruction. The axial codes identified for collective inquiry focused on improving student learning, collaboration to improve instruction, and data to improve student achievement. I examined the categories for patterns and generated themes that addressed the research questions. I examined the codes and extracted text segments that related to collaboration and collective inquiry. I reread all the data and ensured that the coded data fit into the themes.

Interview Data Analysis

The teachers, administration, and learning coach were interviewed using openended questions that allowed the participants to describe their experiences with the implementation of the PLC. Teachers, administration, and the learning coach had separate interview questions. Participant interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed. The teachers, learning coach, and administrators interview transcripts were analyzed separately. The data were analyzed by participant groups (teachers, learning coach, and administration), and then by grade level teams. Transcripts were manually coded in two stages. First, I read the transcripts and used the a priori codes to identify text segments based on DuFour, DuFour, Eaker, and Many (2006) conceptual framework. This resulted in many codes that were reduced in the second stage of coding. For stage two, I used open and axial coding. In open coding, events, actions, and interactions were searched for repeated words and phrases which resulted in 14 open codes. Following open coding, I used axial coding to make connections between the data and open codes and grouped similar codes into categories. To move from categories to themes, I examined the axial codes for patterns among the coded data. Saldana (2013) stated that themes identify the major concepts or issues that the researcher uses to interpret and explain the data. Three themes emerged from qualitative research question 1: "How do team members develop and maintain collaboration to close the achievement gap?" The themes that emerged were:

The PLC team researched and shared new strategies, activities, and resources used by teachers.

The PLC team used data-driven decision making to identify gaps in student learning and academic skills to adjust instructional practices.

The PLC team built trusting relationships among team members. One theme emerged from research question 2: "How do PLC team members use collective inquiry to improve student performance?" The theme that emerged was: The PLC team used collaborative conversations and reflective dialogue during the team and think tank meetings to analyze student data and alter instruction.

Discussion of Results

Research findings for this study were examined through team meeting notes and open-ended interviews with teachers, learning coach, and administration. The participants were asked questions pertaining to their perceptions of collective inquiry and collaboration during the implementation of the PLC. The themes were analyzed based on the research questions. Theme 1: The PLC team researched, and shared new strategies, activities, and resources used by the teachers.

Sharing strategies. The PLC team researched, and shared new strategies, activities, and resources used by teachers. PLC teams identified that sharing knowledge, experiences, and suggestions for trying new strategies influenced student achievement. Grade level teachers took the initiative to research and share what they had learned with their PLC teams. Teachers met in weekly PLC meetings and discussed student achievement, shared knowledge, and identified strategies to improve student achievement. One teacher stated, "we all have our...specific skills... [and we] share what we are good at." By engaging in conversations with teammates, teachers aligned instruction, created clear expectations for student learning, and determined grade level skills. Teachers identified that collaborating during the PLC team meeting changed their teaching practice by volunteering ideas and strategies. One teacher stated, "We learn from each other... and identify practices ... that are working. This helps [us] to implement so [teachers] and students can improve." The learning coach assisted PLC teams in researching instructional practices to improve student achievement. Although administrators did not direct PLC teams to use specific strategies, they did direct teachers to share ideas and strategies during the PLC team meetings.

Sharing activities. The PLC team shared activities and observed teachers to identify activities that would improve student achievement and close the achievement gap. Specifically, the learning coach encouraged PLC team members to engage in

conversations and share activities that were working in their classroom. Teachers explained how reading activities and teaching in small groups could improve classroom teaching. For example, to improve reading instruction, teachers shared how using leveled and nonfiction texts based on specific grade level standards would improve reading comprehension. One teacher stated, "I used to stick strictly to the district approved curriculum, another teacher taught me how to do small group instruction using novels."

Classroom observations were important to improving instruction and student learning. Teachers observed other teachers and visited schools to identify new instructional ideas they could use in their classroom. One teacher stated, "I went to another school to see if we could implement some new [ideas in our classrooms]." From these observations, teachers identified successful instructional techniques to replicate in their instruction. The administrators provided time for teachers to observe other teachers and teachers in other schools.

Sharing resources. The PLC team researched and shared teaching resources, knowledge, and experiences. Teachers identified coteachers' knowledge and experiences, collaborative conversations, instructional materials, and the internet as resources to improve student learning and close the achievement gap. Teachers engaged in conversations with co-teachers to share knowledge and experiences. One teacher shared, "We are always ...working together and teaching each other how to teach it." PLC team members participated in collaborative conversations on instructional planning, standards and curriculum, identifying what students need to know, and how they will improve student achievement. These conversations were opportunities for team members to share resources relative to the elements for teacher planning and instruction. One teacher identified collaborative conversations as a resource to improve teaching by "giving me new ideas and new ways to approach things." Teachers discussed and shared teaching resources used in their classrooms to improve student achievement. One teacher discussed different resources to improve student achievement, "we talk about...different activities or assessments, exit tickets, small group learning, or using a different program." As an instructional resource, the learning coach gave suggestions to improve teaching practice, and modeled instructional practice. The admistrators brainstormed ideas and resources during PLC team meetings. One teacher stated, "they [the administration] are really good at asking us how is this different in our classes…and helping us to brainstorm ideas."

Theme 2: The PLC team used data-driven decision making to identify gaps in student learning and academic skills and to adjust instructional practices.

Data-driven decision making used to identify gaps in student learning and achievement. PLC team members used data-driven decision making to identify gaps in student learning and achievement. First, teachers used benchmark, common formative assessments, and progress monitoring to identify gaps in student learning and achievement. Once teachers collected assessment data, the PLC team reviewed and discussed the data to decide what teachers should feature in their instruction. One teacher stated, "We bring our data to the meeting, go through each class individually, and then take a look at which students met or exceeded the expectation,... [or] fell below [grade level expectations]." Once teachers reviewed the data, they identified grade level standards that students needed to master. Teachers used formative assessments to measure whether grade level standards were mastered. One teacher commented, "as a team we look at what skills our kids need to work on and we create different assessments [to monitor student achievement]." Teachers reassessed students to see whether they had mastered the academic skills that were identified as a gap in their learning. During team meetings the administration assisted teachers in making decisions to improve student by suggesting student grouping strategies. Lastly, the learning coach helped teachers analyze data to determine how students performed on meeting grade level standards. The learning coach stated, "…we look at our standards and determine … the weakest standards [based on student performance.]"

Data-driven decision making used to adjust instructional practices. The PLC team used data-driven decision making to adjust instructional practices by identifying students who need extra support and instructional strategies to improve student achievement. Teachers used small group and ability grouping to adjust instructional practices. One teacher stated, "We look at data to identify whether or not the instructional practice was working [and use small group and ability grouping to change instruction]." One teacher identified how data-driven decision making was used to change instruction. "Last time that we met, one of us had a big group of kids making one type of error and the others didn't have as many, so we talked about how we taught." LC1 (Learning Coach) stated how teachers use collaborative conversations in the PLC meeting to change teaching instruction. "Teachers go over their FCA data and discuss what you see on that data whether it is positive or negative, and then use that discussion to change teaching practice." Administration engaged teachers in collaborative data discussions to make instructional changes. One administrator stated, "you're doing all of these things but as you look at the data...what are we going to do different?"

Theme 3: The PLC team demonstrated trusting relationships among team members.

PLC team members worked collaboratively and identified that trust influenced their interactions and relationships. As a result of trusting relationships, PLC team members engaged in supportive and productive interactions to improve student achievement. One teacher stated, "We can be honest with each other, ...we really don't hurt each other's feelings because we trust each other." Teachers who formed trusting relationships with team members were willing to take risks by trying different classroom practices and sharing students with each other to improve student achievement. One teacher stated, "I think trust goes along with the team. If you do not trust the people you work with, you are not going to collaborate very well, and not able to move the kids as well as you would want."

Theme 4: The PLC team used collaborative conversations and reflective dialogue during the team and think tank meetings to analyze student data and alter instruction.

PLC team members used reflective dialogue in collaborative conversations during team meetings and think tank meetings to analyze student data and change teaching practice. Student data were analyzed then the PLC team engaged in collaborative conversations using reflective dialogue to identify instructional practices to improve student achievement. One teacher stated how collaborative conversations were used during the PLC team meeting to identify instructional practices, "We have people on our PLC who are very seasoned teachers and have a lot of background knowledge... so, we work together to learn from each other."

The PLC team collaborated during team meetings to share expertise, explore new concepts, and engage in collective problem solving to improve teaching practice. After analyzing student data, teachers used collective inquiry to seek new ways of teaching, learning, and provide alternative ways of thinking to improve student achievement. One teacher shared questions they ask to engage in reflective dialogue with teammates to address student performance based on data discussion, "How are you teaching, how are you reteaching, and what strategies are you noticing your kids using?" Teachers used reflective dialogue during the PLC team meeting to identify ideas to improve collective inquiry. Teachers identifed that vertical and horizontal planning would benefit them in improving collective inquiry in PLC team meetings. The administration and learning coach engaged teachers in collaborative conversations using reflective dialogue by asking questions, giving suggestions and strategies, and connecting teaching methods to best practices.

PLC Goal Indicators

District personnel developed five indicators based on DuFour's PLC. To confirm whether the goals were met, I used the district developed indicators based on DuFour's PLC model. The five indicators were:

Indicator 1: Clarify essential learning outcomes
Indicator 2: Monitor student learning through common formative assessments Indicator 3: Analyze and use the results to improve instruction and target intervention

Indicator 4: Establish and monitor progress on team goals Indicator 5: Innovate responsibly based on action research

Indicator 1 was met for collaboration and collective inquiry goals, because teachers worked together in grade level teams to identify standards, selected learning targets, aligned instruction, established common scoring criteria, and used data to identify teacher effectiveness. Indicator 2 was met for collaboration and collective inquiry goals, because PLC team members developed and used common formative assessments to identify student achievement, monitor student performance, and discussed strategies to improve instruction. Indicator 3 was met for the collaboration and collective inquiry goals, because the PLC team used data-driven decision making to identify gaps in student learning and academic skills to adjust their instruction. Indicator 4 was not met for collaboration and collective inquiry goals, because there was no evidence that the PLC team established or monitored progress on team goals. Indicator 5 was met for the collaboration and collective inquiry goals, because PLC team members used reflective dialogue during team and think tank meetings.

Conclusion

The ultimate outcome for the district's PLC was that collaborative efforts of the PLC team members would produce increased student achievement and improve teaching

quality using research-based instructional practices. Based on the findings of this study, the goals for collective inquiry and collaboration were not met; however, there were several benefits that emerged from the findings. One benefit identified in the program evaluation was teachers used collaborative conversations to research and share strategies to improve instruction. Another benefit that emerged was that teachers used a variety of assessments to identify student progress, gaps in student learning, performance on grade level standards. An additional benefit showed that trust influenced the interactions and relationships with team members as they engaged in collaborative conversations to improve student achievement. Furthermore, PLC teams benefited from using reflective dialogue in collaborative conversations to analyze student data during PLC and think tank meetings.

For Further Research

For this study, data were collected from teachers, administration, and the learning coach. A document review of team meeting notes and interviews from 13 participants were analyzed. Team meeting notes were submitted to the principal weekly that included student objectives, evidence of student learning, how the team responded to data, struggling and excelling students, and instructional changes teachers would make to improve student achievement. The interviews included 10 teachers, the learning coach, and 2 administrators who participated in the implementation of the PLC. The teachers, administration, and learning coach were interviewed with open-ended questions regarding collective inquiry and collaboration in the PLC. The findings may be used to

make decisions on how to improve collective inquiry and collaboration during the PLC meetings.

Further research should include a comprehensive evaluation that identifies the importance of shared leadership and its influence on the PLC and student learning. For reform to occur, teachers must be part of the change. Observations and interviews could be used to explore teachers' shared leadership in PLCs. Additionally, further research is needed on how vertical and horizontal planning is used to improve teacher learning and student achievement. A similar study could be used to explore the benefits on these dimensions.

The data gathered from these studies would help administrators and stakeholders to identify changes they could make to improve the PLC. These studies would benefit the local school by transforming the ways collaboration and collective inquiry are used in the PLC meetings. Additionally, the results may help administrators prioritize goals to support teacher and student learning.

Summary of Recommendations

Two recommendations are presented to improve collective inquiry and collaboration. First, teachers identified horizontal and vertical planning as a recommendation to improve collective inquiry. By infusing vertical and horizontal planning in team meetings, teachers may obtain additional instructional resources and strategies that could improve instruction. Furthermore, teachers in previous grades may offer insight on the skills students struggled and excelled; whereas, teachers in following grades may clarify what skills and knowledge student must have as they enter their grade level. Additionally, teachers may benefit from collaborating with teachers between grades to align curriculum, create clear expectations for student learning, and address challenges related to student learning and instruction. Next, the recommendation based on the indicators identified that collaboration could improve teacher learning and student achievement through teachers establishing and monitoring progress on PLC team goals. The two recommendations are presented in Table 1. In the left column, the recommendations are listed. Suggestions to improve these recommendations are presented in the right column

Table 1

Recommendations Suggestions • Horizontal and Vertical Planning Meet with grade level below to • gain insight on the skills students struggled with and excelled with. Meet with grade level above to • clarify what skills and knowledge students must have as they enter their grade. Collaborating with teachers • between grades to: • Align instruction • Create clear expectations • Address challenges related to student learning. Address challenges related to • teacher learning. Discuss teaching strategies • Share resources • Establish and Monitor Goals Collaboratively develop a team • mission, vision and values. Set team norms focused on • improving the collaborative team process. Set and monitor goals focused on • improving student learning. Establish benchmarks to monitor progress Review and respond to progress on • goals. Use common formative • assessments to improve teaching and learning. Respond to data with targeted interventions.

Summary of Recommendations for the Professional Learning Community

Conclusion

This program evaluation was the first formative evaluation on whether the goals of collaboration and collective inquiry were met. Based on the findings, the goals for collaboration and collective inquiry were not met. However, the PLC teams engaged in collaborative conversations using reflective dialogue to research and share strategies and used data-driven decision making to improve instruction and student achievement. Two recommendations were made to improve collective inquiry and collaboration. First, the PLC teams need to establish and monitor goals. Second, PLC teams would benefit from using horizontal and vertical planning to improve instruction and student learning. The information gained from this program evaluation report provides stakeholders with information to make evidenced-based decisions as the PLC moves forward.

Appendix B: Interview Protocol Teachers

Interview Protocol

Title of Study: Implementation of the Professional Learning Community

Date:

Time of Interview:

Interviewer: Susan Lazor

Interviewee:

Location of Interview:

"Hello and Welcome: My name is Susan Lazor. I am the ^{3rd} grade teacher at the local school and currently finishing my third year with the district. Thank you so much for agreeing to participate in this study. I appreciate and respect the time you're willing to give to this project, and hope that you will find the experience to be valuable." I emailed the "Informed Consent" form to you.

Qualifications & Informed Consent Check:

□ Confirm qualifications:

Participated in the implementation of the PLC during the 2015/2016 school year.

□ Informed Consent Check:(Have extra copies on hand)

"Did you bring the Informed Consent Form I sent you?"

_____ Make sure it's signed.

Review rights,

"Do you have any questions for me about the study, or information contained on the Informed Consent Form?

Ground Rules:

Thank you for consent to participate in the program evaluation study.

- It is important that you speak for yourself and from your own perspective, and to avoid speaking for others.
- Please respect the privacy of students, parents, families, as well as other colleagues and others where this is no need to disclose specific names of individuals.

"Do you have any questions?"

Purpose

"The interview is designed to help you describe and share your experiences, ideas, and perspectives of collaboration and collective inquiry during the Implementation of the Professional Learning Community implemented in the 2015/2016 school year. I invite you to feel free to relate your experience in an open manner. The more details you can provide the better. I will be recording the interview, so you do not need to worry that I'll miss something or that you are providing too much detail. The questions are intended for you to talk about your experiences. I might provide questions that seek clarification about what you've described or ask you to prove examples or elaborate on certain aspects of the topic."

"Do you have any questions?"

Questions:

Collaboration

1. How is the PLC used to improve student achievement and close the achievement gap?

2. How is collaboration used in the PLC team meeting to improve student achievement?

3. How has your PLC collaborated to change your teaching practice?

4. How does your PLC collaborate to create common formative assessments to improve student achievement?

5. How does the PLC team collaborate to identify essential learning outcomes to improve student achievement?

6. How does the PLC team collaborate to analyze student data to improve student achievement?

7. How does trust affect collaboration to improve student achievement?

- 8. How are you using collaboration with the PLC team to improve student learning?
- 9. How does your PLC team collaborate to support the school's mission?

Collective Inquiry

- 1. How does your PLC team use collective inquiry to improve student achievement?
- 2. How does your PLC team use collective inquiry to support the school's mission?
- 3. What recommendations do you have to improve collective inquiry during the PLC team meeting?
- 4. How does the administration use instructional leadership to support teacher's collective inquiry during the PLC team meeting?

- 5. When using collective inquiry, how did examining student data guide your instruction?
- 6. How does collective inquiry with your PLC team members help you to improve teaching and learning?
- 7. How does collective inquiry guide your instruction to improve student achievement?
- 8. How do you use collective inquiry, to examine student data and guide your instruction?

Probing Question examples:

- Could you please tell me more about...
- Can you give me an example of...
- Could you tell me about that?
- What makes you feel that way?

Time Check: _____

1.

Time Check: _____

Thank you for this powerful and fascinating experience.

In conclusion, I would like to express my sincere appreciation and thank you for your

participation in this study and taking the time to share your perspective. I want to assure

you again that your responses are confidential. And just as a reminder, if needed, we would like to request your permission to contact you for follow up information.

Appendix C: Interview Protocol Learning Coach

Title of Study: Implementation of the Professional Learning Community Date:

Time of Interview:

Interviewer: Susan Lazor

Interviewee:

Location of Interview:

"Hello and Welcome: My name is Susan Lazor. I am the ^{3rd} grade teacher at the local school and currently finishing my third year with the district. Thank you so much for agreeing to participate in this study. I appreciate and respect the time you're willing to give to this project, and hope that you will find the experience to be valuable." I emailed the "Informed Consent" form to you.

Qualifications & Informed Consent Check:

□ Confirm qualifications:

Participated in the implementation of the PLC during the 2015/2016 school year.

□ Informed Consent Check:(Have extra copies on hand)

"Did you bring the Informed Consent Form I sent you?"

_____ Make sure it's signed.

Review rights,

"Do you have any questions for me about the study, or information contained on the Informed Consent Form?

Ground Rules:

Thank you for consent to participate in the program evaluation study.

- It is important that you speak for yourself and from your own perspective, and to avoid speaking for others.
- Please respect the privacy of students, parents, families, as well as other colleagues and others where this is no need to disclose specific names of individuals.

"Do you have any questions?"

Purpose

"The interview is designed to help you describe and share your experiences, ideas, and perspectives of collaboration and collective inquiry during the Implementation of the Professional Learning Community implemented in the 2015/2016 school year. I invite you to feel free to relate your experience in an open manner. The more details you can provide the better. I will be recording the interview, so you do not need to worry that I'll miss something or that you are providing too much detail. The questions are intended for you to talk about your experiences. I might provide questions that seek clarification about what you've described or ask you to prove examples or elaborate on certain aspects of the topic."

"Do you have any questions?"

Questions:

- 1. How is collaboration used to improve teaching practice during the PLC?
- 2. How is collaboration used during the PLC to improve professional learning?
- 3. How is collaboration used during the PLC team meeting create common formative assessments?
- 4. How is collaboration used to support teachers throughout the process of analyzing student data?
- 5. What is the role of the learning coach in collaboration to analyze data?
- 6. What actions do you feel are needed to improve collaboration during the PLC?
- 7. What actions do you feel are needed to improve collective inquiry during the PLC?
- 8. How do you ensure team members collaborate to improve student learning?
- 9. How do you ensure team members use collective inquiry to improve student learning?
- 10. How do you collaborate with teachers to focus on the school's mission to improve student achievement?
- 11. How do you guide teachers to use collective inquiry to change their teaching practices?

Probing Question examples:

• Could you please tell me more about...

- Can you give me an example of...
- I'm not quite sure I understand...Could you tell me about that?
- What makes you feel that way?

Time Check:

2.

Time Check: _____

Thank you for this powerful and fascinating experience.

In conclusion, I would like to express my sincere appreciation and thank you for your participation in this study and taking the time to share your perspective. I want to assure you again that your responses are confidential. And just as a reminder, if needed, we would like to request your permission to contact you for follow up information.

Appendix D: Interview Protocol Administration

Interview Protocol

Title of Study: Implementation of the Professional Learning Community

Date:

Time of Interview:

Interviewer: Susan Lazor

Interviewee:

Location of Interview:

"Hello and Welcome: My name is Susan Lazor. I am the ^{3rd} grade teacher at the local school and currently finishing my third year with the district. Thank you so much for agreeing to participate in this study. I appreciate and respect the time you're willing to give to this project, and hope that you will find the experience to be valuable." I emailed the "Informed Consent" form to you.

Qualifications & Informed Consent Check:

□ Confirm qualifications:

Participated in the implementation of the PLC during the 2015/2016 school year.

□ Informed Consent Check: (Have extra copies on hand)

"Did you bring the Informed Consent Form I sent you?"

_____ Make sure it's signed.

Review rights:

"Do you have any questions for me about the study, or information contained on the Informed Consent Form?

Ground Rules:

Thank you for consent to participate in the program evaluation study.

- It is important that you speak for yourself and from your own perspective, and to avoid speaking for others.
- Please respect the privacy of students, parents, families, as well as other colleagues and others where this is no need to disclose specific names of individuals.

"Do you have any questions?"

Purpose

"The interview is designed to help you describe and share your experiences, ideas, and perspectives of collaboration and collective inquiry during the Implementation of the Professional Learning Community implemented in the 2015/2016 school year. I invite you to feel free to relate your experience in an open manner. The more details you can provide the better. I will be recording the interview, so you do not need to worry that I'll miss something or that you are providing too much detail. The questions are intended for you to talk about your experiences. I might provide questions that seek clarification about what you've described or ask you to prove examples or elaborate on certain aspects of the topic."

"Do you have any questions?"

Questions:

- How do you ensure that teachers use collaboration to examine and improve their teaching practice?
- 2. How do you ensure that teachers collaborate to improve their professional learning?
- 3. How do you support teachers to collaboratively analyze student data?
- **4.** What is the role of the administrator to ensure collaboration during the PLC team meeting?
- 5. What is the role of the administrator to ensure collective inquiry?
- 6. What is the role of the administrator to ensure team members collaborate?
- **7.** How do you collaborate with teachers the school's mission to improve student achievement?
- **8.** How do you use instructional leadership to collaborate with teachers during the team meeting?
- **9.** How do you guide teachers to use collective inquiry to guide teaching practices during the PLC team meeting?
- **10.** How do you collaborate with teachers to improve their teaching and learning during the PLC team meeting?
- 11. How do you collaborate with teachers to ensure they are using evidence of learning to guide instruction and improve student achievement?

Probing Question examples:

- Could you please tell me more about...
- Can you give me an example of...
- I'm not quite sure I understand...Could you tell me about that?
- What makes you feel that way?

Time Check: _____

1.

Time Check: _____

Thank you for this powerful and fascinating experience.

In conclusion, I would like to express my sincere appreciation and thank you for your participation in this study and taking the time to share your perspective. I want to assure you again that your responses are confidential. And just as a reminder, if needed, we would like to request your permission to contact you for follow up information.

Appendix E: Document Review

Document Review Protocol

Collaboration		
A priori Codes	Notes	
Instructional planning on		
standards and curriculum		
Identify what students need to		
know and how educators will		
address these challenges		
Data dialogue		
Common formative		
assessments		

	-
Make changes to improve	
teaching, learning, and	
student achievement	
Conversations regarding best	
taashina and laamina	
teaching and learning	
practices	
Team members identify how	
their students are performing-	
evidence of learning	
Identify support for students	
that need extra support and	
acceleration	
Vertical planning	

Horizontal planning	
Conversations with SPED.	
ELL Speech team members	
EEE, Speeen team memoers	
Identify student goals	
Collective Inquiry	
Professional development	
needs	
Participate in continuous	
learning	
louining	

Engage in conversations	
about students	
Share ideas-reflect on	
effective ways of teaching	
Teaching Rounds	
Examine student data	
Engage in reflective dialogue	

Teachers interact to hear	
multiple perspectives,	
challenge practices, acquire	
new understanding about the	
curriculum	
Relationships- strengthen	
communication and	
interactions	
Identified mission focused on	
improving learning for	
students and teachers	
Principal instructional	
leadership-	
communicating a clear vision	
and expectation	

Feedback to improve	
instruction	
Collective actions of group	
have a positive effect on	
problem solving and decision	
making, sharing information	
Discuss alternative view	
points	

Appendix F: Collaboration open codes

Standards

Data-Driven Decision Making

Improve Student Achievement

Improving Teaching Practice

Instructional Practice

PLC Discussions- Teacher experience

PLC Meeting Types

Student Learning Needs

Identifying Student Skills

Improving Student Performance

Assessments Used in DDDM

Common Formative Assessment Use

Appendix F: Collaboration Axial Codes

Commitment to Learning

Commitment to Student Learning

Commitment to Continuous Student Improvement

Using Collective Inquiry to Improve Teaching

Sharing Teaching Experiences to Improve Student Learning

Appendix G: Collective Inquiry Codes

PLC Discussions- collaborative conversations

PLC team member trust relationships

Common Formative Assessments

Analyzing Data

Responding to Data

Strategies to improve teaching

Mission focused on improving learning for all students

Student learning needs

What students need to know based on district standards and grade level expectations

Teacher view of instructional leadership support, decision making on instructional strategies and teacher learning.

Principals view engage teachers with instructional strategies, support for teacher

development, instructional choice, giving suggestions, and maintaining a focus on improving instruction and student learning.

Developing and sustaining the school's professional development through

collaborative conversation, implication for teaching and learning, and promoting professional growth.

Appendix H: Collective Inquiry Axial Codes

Collaborating to improve teacher practice

Data-driven decision making focused on improving instruction and student learning

Identifying and clarifying student knowledge, skills, and learning needs

Leadership emphasis on building shared knowledge, collaboration and improving

teacher learning and student achievement.